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Our Vision

Transforming lives positively
through lasting relationships.

Our Mission

At Mayberry, we create opportunities for
customers to realise their financial objectives,
locally and internationally, through our team
of highly trained and dedicated professionals,
adding value for all.

Our Core Values

* Integrity

* Accountability

* Creating value through knowledgg
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10 YEAR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
2014- 2023

Net Interest Income and Other Revenues 969,408 699,846 1,546,623 936,277
Interest Income 981,852 745,022 682,209 713,903
Net Interest Income 189,551 232,721 17,737 147,012
Net Other Income 779,857 467,125 1,428,886 789,265
Operating Expenses 871,506 980,740 961,748 858,458
Profit/(Loss) before Taxation 97,902 (280,894) 584,848 77,821
Net Profit/(Loss) 145,619 (192,556) 568,314 36,109
Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) 149,063 (49,029) 619,516 122,160

Total Assets 19,249,712 | 14,413,616 15,701,380 | 16,675,988

Total Liabilities 17,203,576 12,656,739 13,589,239 14,717,951 |
Stockholders’ Equity 2,046,136 1,756,877 2,112,141 1,958,037 |
Number of issued shares (units) 1,201,149 _' 1,201,149 1,201,149 1,201,149 |

Earnings per stock unit $0.12 ($0.16) $0.47 $0.03
Book Value Per share $1.70 $1.46 $1.76 $1.63
Return on Equity 71% (1.0%) 26.9% 1.8%
Return on Average Assets 0.8% an% 3.8% 0.2%
Assets Growth(%) (0.3%) (25.1%) 8.9% 6.2% I
I Net Profit/(Loss) Growth (%) 160.6% (232.2%) 395.1% (93.6)% I
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1,255,617 1,640,311 2,488,400 2,816,053 2,243,589 2,154,293
777,374 803,880 978,350 782,403 1,192,332 2,062,748
264,609 324,448 671,038 378,049 547,008 322,469
991,008 1,315,863 1,817,362 2,438,004 1,696,581 1,831,824
1,233,682 1,373,979 1,321,248 1,710,675 1,825,979 1,833,634
67,152 1,105,378 417,610 320,659
223,187 1,354,378 418,626 914,291

1,340,220

23,582,997

29,016,651

489,907

900,232

40,441,800

17,691,957

22,972,026

33,857,287

5,891,040

6,044,625

6,584,513

1,201,149

11,201,149

$0.35

| 1,201,149

$0.76

$5.03

$5.48

6.9%

13.9%

1.6%

2.6%

23.0%

39.4%

349.9%
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CHRISTOPHER BERRY

B.sc. (Hons.)

Mr. Christopher Berry is the Chairman of Mayberry
Jamaican Equities Limited, Mayberry Investments
Limited, Mayberry Holdings Limited and Mayber-

ry Group Limited. He is also a director of three (3)
other publicly listed companies: Caribbean Produc-
ers Jamaica Limited, Lasco Financial Services Limit-
ed and Supreme Ventures Limited.

Mr. Berry is also a Director of several private com-
panies including Apex Health Care Limited and
Apex Pharmacy Limited. He has over 30 years’ of
experience in the securities industry in Jamaica and
holds a B.Sc. (Hons) degree in Industrial Engineer-
ing from the Georgia Institute of Technology.
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KONRAD MARK BERRY

B.sc. (Hons.)

Mr. Konrad Berry joined Mayberry Investments Lim-
ited as Company Secretary and one of its

founding members. Since then, he has held other
positions in the Company - serving as Finance
Director from 1992 to 1995, and as Chief Operating
Officer in 1995. He currently serves as the
Executive Vice Chairman of the Company.

Throughout his various roles, Mr. Berry has proven
himself to be an efficient and dedicated

leader; committed to the continued growth of the
Company and its teams. During 2002-2004,

he successfully carried out major expansion

of the Company’s corporate offices, growing it
from one floor of 3,700 square feet to three floors
of 12,650 square feet to comfortably house the
Company’s growing staff complement.

Mr. Berry was also integral in the Company’s
listing onthe Jamaica Stock Exchange in
2005 - one of the Company’s greatest
achievements.

Mr. Berry is a Board Director of other
Companies including Caribbean Producers
(Jamaica)Limited, Widebase Limited,
Mayberry Jamaica Equities Limited and
Mayberry Asset Managers Limited.

Mr. Berry was awarded a B.Sc. (Hons.)
degree in Management and Economics
from the University of the West Indies

in 1992. He also successfully
completed the Canadian Securities
Course in the same year.
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GARY PEART

M.B.A,B.sc. (Hons.)

Mr. Gary Peart joined Mayberry Investments
Limited as the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) in
May 2005 and was later appointed to the Board
of Directors in April 2006. He has over 20 years of
experience in corporate finance, equity, fixed income,
and treasury management; holding senior leadership
roles in several financial institutions - all of which
prepared him for his current role as CEO and board
member of several well-known Jamaican compa-
nies and organisations.

In 2015, BusinessSuite Magazine named him Ja-
maica’s Top CEO as a result of his hard work and
successful leadership at Mayberry Investments
Limited and his contribution to the growth of
the finance sector. Mr. Peart is a firm believ-
er in supporting Jamaican businesses and

is passionate about developing the nation
through investment.

Mr. Peart currently serves as the Executive
Chairman on the Board of Supreme Ven-
tures Limited and is also a director on
other boards including Lasco Distrib-
utors Limited and IronRock Insurance

Company Limited.

Mr. Peart has a B.Sc. (Hons) in Eco-
nomics from the University of the
West Indies and an MBA from Flor-

ida International University.
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ERWIN ANGUS

C.D, J.P, B.A. (Hons.)

Mr. Erwin Angus was among the first staff cohort to
join Mayberry Investments Limited in 1986. Since then,
he has held the post of Managing Director, guiding the
growth of the Company with his expertise and knowl-
edge.

Angus’ impact has extended far beyond the reach of
the Company. He was awarded the Commander of the
Order of Distinction (CD) in October 1976 for his con-
tribution to Jamaica’s bauxite industry and became a
Justice of the Peace (J.P.) in 1977.

He currently serves as a member of the Company’s As-
sets and Liabilities Committee and Audit Committee.




GLADSTONE LEWARS

B.sc. (Econ) (Hons.), M.sc (Econ), M.sc.
(Accounting),FCA

Mr. Gladstone “Tony” Lewars was appointed to
the Board of Directors of Mayberry Investments
Limited in September 2012.

He is a Chartered Accountant and has consult-
ed extensively across the region in the areas of
Organizational Development, Human Resource
Management, and Financial Effectiveness
Reviews.

His contribution to national development has
awarded him several accolades. In 2015, he
received the Commander of the Order of
Distinction (CD) for his exemplary service in
both the public and private sectors.

He is a former Chairman of the
Students’ Loan Bureau and a for-
mer partner of Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers (PwC), where he was the
Leader of the Advisory division of
the firm.

He currently serves as the Chair-
man of JN Cayman and the JN
Cayman Money Services. He also
serves as Director of the National
Insurance Fund and the Secretary/
Treasurer of the Jamaica College
Trust.

In addition to this, Mr. Lewars is the
Chairman of the Assets and Liabil-
ities and Nominations and Gover-
nance Committees, and a membeg
of the Company’s Audit
Committee.
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ALOK JAIN

M.Sc., FCA, FCCA, CGMA, CISA, CFA

Mr. Alok Jain is a former partner of Pricewater-
houseCoopers (PwC) where he held a number
of leadership roles, most recently as leader of
PwC’s Advisory practice in the Caribbean. He
previously served as leader of PwC’s Assurance
practice in Jamaica. Mr. Jain currently serves as
a Consultant at the Office of the Prime Minister
and is an Adjunct Lecturer at the Mona School
of Business and Management at the Universi-
ty of the West Indies. He is also Chairman of
the Port Authority of Jamaica and a director of
TransJamaican Highway Limited.

Mr. Jain is a Chartered Accountant, Certified
Information Systems Auditor as well as a CFA
Charter holder. He has extensive experience in
accounting and auditing as well as in corporate
finance, valuations of companies, due diligence
investigations, stock exchange listings, capital
restructuring, and acquisitions and mergers.

He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and sits on the Nominations and Corporate
Governance Committee.
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WALTER H. SCOTT

CD,K.C.

Former Senior Partner at Rattray Patterson Rattray,
Mr. Walter Scott KC has been a practicing Attor-
ney-At-Law in Jamaica for more than thirty-seven
years. Mr. Scott is prestigiously recognized as a King’s
Counsel and is also admitted to practice law in Barba-
dos. A proud graduate of the University of the West
Indies and the Norman Manley School of Law, he has
gone on to offer his services to a myriad of entities,
including the Office of Director of Public Prosecu-
tions; Grant Stewart Phillips & Co, Attorneys-at-Law;
Chancellor & Co, Attorneys-at-Law; and Rattray
Patterson Rattray, Attorneys-at-Law.

In 2019, he formed his own practice as Counsel. His
areas of practice include Commercial, Civil, and
Criminal Litigation, Gaming, Regulatory, Labour,
Mining, and Libel Law.

In 2021, Mr. Scott was conferred with the
national honour of the Order of Distinction in
the rank of Commander (CD).

Mr. Scott is the former Chairman of Sygnus
Capital Limited, Sygnus Capital Management
Limited, Betting Gaming & Lotteries Commis-
sion, Casino Gaming Commission, and Private
Security Regulations Authority. He current-
ly serves as a Director of Supreme Ventures
Racing & Entertainment Limited, Supreme
Ventures Guyana Holdings Inc., Supreme
Ventures Enterprise Inc., Dolla Financial Ser-
vices Limited, and is a Director of several
private companies.

Chairman of the Compliance and
Data Protection Committees as
well as the Remuneration
Commttee. He also sits on
the Audit Committee a
an Independent
Director.

b
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EXECUTIVE
CHAIRMAN'’S
REVIEW

As we reflect on the past year, it is
evident that 2023 was a year of
profound resilience and gradual recovery
amidst ongoing challenges in the global
economy. The shadows of the pandem-
ic have receded, but not without leaving
enduring marks on our economic fabric.
Geopolitical tensions, supply chain dis-
ruptions, and the urgent imperatives of
climate change have further sculpted the
economic landscape, influencing our
strategies and operations.

In this context, our organization stood steadfast, adapting to the evolving economic con-
ditions with prudence and foresight. We have remained committed to our core values of
integrity, innovation, and sustainability, ensuring that our operations are not just resilient
but also aligned with our long-term vision for growth and excellence.

Our strategic investments in technology and sustainability continue to pay off, putting us
in a good position for future possibilities and challenges. We continued to form important
alliances, develop our global footprint, and innovate in our product and service offerings
while remaining committed to our purpose of providing value to our stakeholders.
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Looking ahead, the global economic picture is cautiously optimistic, with forecasts of
further stabilisation and growth. Our primary focus will remain on improving operating
efficiencies, investing in disruptive technologies, and maintaining our commitment to
sustainability and corporate responsibility.

In closing, I'd want to express my heartfelt appreciation to our devoted staff, loyal cus-
tomers, and valued stockholders for your unwavering support and trust. Together, we
are navigating these difficult times and creating a stronger, more sustainable future for
all.

Christopher Berry

Executive Chairman

@ 2023 Annual Report



CEO
STATEMENT

In the 2023 fiscal year, local markets faced significant challenges due to elevated in-
flation rates, high interest rates, and the ongoing and growing geopolitical tensions in
several countries. The difficult terrain led to a decrease in investor trust, limited avail-
ability of funds, and had a negative effect on the local stock market, causing a year-on-
year decline in both the Main and Junior Market indices. The Group’s 2023 results were
adversely affected by these challenges in several of its business lines. However, the
management team maintains a positive outlook on the future and the Group’s ability
to withstand such difficulties. In 2023, our ongoing investment in our integrated digital
infrastructure MIL 2.0 is expected to establish a strong basis for enhancing efficiency in
our service delivery and introducing valuable innovations to our clients and operations.

Financial Performance

Our Company produced a net profit of $914.29 million in contrast to the prior year’s net
profit of $418.63 million. This represents a 118% growth or $495.67 million improvement.
The Company’s dividend income soared to $848.14 million relative to $55.06 million in
2022.

Net interest income slipped to $322.47 million from $547.01 million reported twelve
months earlier. This decline in net interest income was mainly a result of higher interest
costs resulting from the Mayberry public bond issued in January 2023. Notwithstanding
the outturn, the results reflect continuous growth in interest income.

Our operating expenses inched up due to increases in salaries, statutory contributions
and other staff costs and other operating expenses. Our consulting fees and net foreign
exchange gains also reported favourable increases year over year.

The Company’s profit before tax for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023 totalled
$320.66 million compared to $417.61 million for the corresponding period in 2022.

Our asset base increased by $11.43 billion, owing to strong growth in loans and oth-
er receivables (up $3.8 billion or 61%) and due from related companies ($6.40 billion
or 386%). Total liabilities climbed by $10.89 billion, reaching $33.86 billion. Mayberry
Investments Limited’s capital base grew in 2023, with shareholders’ equity closing at
$6.58 billion, up from $6.04 billion in 2022.

20
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The Executive Management team re-
mains optimistic about future market
opportunities to grow our core busi-
nesses as we continue to improve ser-
vice delivery and product options for
our customers. We wish to thank our
clients, shareholders and staff for their
commitment and contribution to the
successful milestones of the company
and we remain committed to trans-
forming lives positively.
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OUR
MANAGEMENT
TEAM




ANDREA WHITTAKER
Chief Operating Officer

KRISHNA SINGH

Chief Information Officer

.
DAN THEOC
S alleIdYice President- Investment

W

-
-
.

STEPHANIE HARRISON
Vice President- Marketing
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DAMIAN WHYLIE
General Manager- Asset Management

JOSEPHINE BENNETT—DARMAND
Chief Financial Officer =

KRISTEN RAYMORE REYNOLDS
Senior Vice President-
Human Resources
and Facilities

KAREN MITCHELL
Senior Vice President- Treasury and
Trading

JASON MARTINEZ

Vice President- Research
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RENE MITCHELL
Senior Vice President- Compliance
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VAUGHN CUNNINGHAM
Senior Manager- FX Trading

KAYREE BERRY TEAPE
Chief Executive Officer
- Mayberry Foundation

MARCIA MESSADO
Manager- Financial Planning & Analysis

CLAYON DENTON
Group Financial Controller
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE




Mayberry Investments Limited (“Mayberry”) has established precise corporate gover-
nance guidelines to facilitate the effective functioning of the Board and its committees.
These guidelines are designed to uphold shareholder interests, maintain the highest stan-
dards of ethics, and ensure a shared understanding of the expectations for the roles and
responsibilities of the Board, its committees, individual Directors, and senior manage-
ment. The Board of Directors of Mayberry has formally adopted and endorsed a Cor-
porate Governance Policy. This policy aligns with applicable laws, regulations, and both
local and international best practices. It is in accordance with the Jamaica Corporate
Governance Code 2021 issued by the Private Sector Organization of Jamaica (PSOJ) and
the Rules of the Jamaica Stock Exchange. The most recent update to the Corporate Gov-
ernance Policy was made in November 2022 and is accessible on our website at: www.
mayberryinv.com.

Board Role and Function

The core responsibility of the Board of Directors is to oversee and lead the Company’s
operations for the benefit of its shareholders and stakeholders, which include customers,
team members, suppliers, regulators, and the local community. Within this context, the
Board is tasked with establishing a framework to evaluate the performance of the Exec-
utive Management team based on defined performance criteria and effective controls.

The Board’s duties encompass:

(i) Articulating the Company’s vision, mission, and purpose

(if) Setting the strategic course of the Company

(ifi) Supervising the Company’s controls and accountability systems

(iv) Reviewing, endorsing, and monitoring risk management systems, internal con-
trols, codes of conduct, and legal compliance

(v) Selecting a suitable Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary

(vi) Tracking the progress and performance of the Executive Management team

Board decisions are guided by a thorough and fair assessment of all pertinent informa-
tion. These decisions are not only ethical and compliant with legal obligations, but also
take into account the reasonable expectations of all stakeholders, including shareholders,
employees, customers, suppliers, creditors, and the broader community. Directors exer-
cise independent judgment and prudent business sense in what they believe to be the
Company’s best interests. In fulfilling this duty, Directors rely on the integrity and honesty
of the Company’s management, external advisors, and auditors.

The Board maintains oversight and holds management responsible for the Company’s
operational, strategic, and financial performance. As a result, management maintains
open and transparent communication with the Board, bringing significant issues to its
attention.

In its broader oversight role, the Board leads in establishing core policies, defining risk
appetite, and nurturing the corporate culture. It shapes the Company’s structure and pro-

motes suitable policies concerning corporate social responsibility.

@ 2023 Annual Report




Board Composition and Structure

Because of its composition and organizational structure, the Board of the Company is
able to successfully carry out its tasks and provide value for the Company and its stake-
holders in compliance with local, legal, and regulatory requirements as well as best prac-
tices. The number of Directors and their varied backgrounds, expertise, and experience
enable the Board to efficiently carry out its mandate. Because there is a balance between
executive and non-executive Directors on the Board, no one person or small group of
people can control the decision-making process.

The Board is led by Mr. Christopher Berry and consists of seven (7) members as of De-
cember 31, 2023. Three (3) non-executive independent directors and four (4) executive
directors make up the current composition of the board.

The Board is thought to be a suitable size for the Company and operates effectively. Each
individual stands out due to their educational background, technical proficiency, industry
understanding, professionalism, and honesty. When making judgments on behalf of the
Company, the Company’s best interests always come first, and personal relationships—
such as friendships, family ties, or contracts—are not taken into consideration when mak-
ing decisions.

The collective professional backgrounds of the Board members provide a well-rounded
blend of expertise, experience, and knowledge that allows the Board to effectively carry
out its duties and obligations. The Board’s diverse backgrounds include work in invest-
ment banking, law, auditing, corporate governance, information technology, strategic
management, and general business management. Additionally, directors receive internal
and external training to enhance their skills and expand their knowledge in various disci-
plines, including changes to the statutory and regulatory landscape, as well as any new
or emerging corporate governance best practices.

The roles of the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), and Managing Director are dis-
tinct and separate. This separation ensures an appropriate distribution of power, promot-
ing heightened transparency, accountability, and enhanced decision-making indepen-
dent of management. In leading the Board, the Chairman bears ultimate responsibility
for guiding the company’s strategy, overseeing management, and safeguarding share-
holders’ interests. The CEO, on the other hand, is tasked with executing the company’s
strategy as approved by the Board and managing the Company’s day-to-day operations.
Despite holding a controlling interest in Mayberry, the Board has thoroughly assessed
and confirmed that neither the Chairman’s significant stake in the company nor any ex-
ternal positions held interfere with his capacity to fulfill all obligations and responsibilities
to the Board and Mayberry.

Directors maintain open and unrestricted communication with management across all
levels and have complete access to pertinent information. This ongoing engagement be-
tween the Board and management enhances the Company’s decision-making processes
and ensures a suitable distribution of power.

@
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Lead Independent Director

Mr. Gladstone Lewars continues to serve as the Lead Independent Director.

Diversity

One of the fundamental roles of the Board is to recognize significant opportunities and
risks while providing strategic direction for the business. This necessitates a diverse and
seasoned group of individuals operating within an environment that encourages diverse
viewpoints. Prior to their appointment, careful consideration is given to candidates’ skills,
experience, independence, and familiarity with the Company.

The array of career paths and educational backgrounds among Board members facili-
tates the fulfillment of their duties in accordance with statutory requirements, the Com-
pany’s Articles of Association, and established rules of procedure. To ensure the Board’s
effectiveness, nominees or those up for reelection should possess the following qualities,
among others:

a. Unwavering personal and professional ethics, integrity, and values;

b. Expertise that contributes to the organization and complements the back-
grounds of other Board members; and

C. A readiness and capacity to commit the necessary time to fulfil the duties

and responsibilities of Board membership.

Outlined below is a matrix depicting some of the key skills that our Board has recog-
nized as valuable for effective oversight and strategic implementation:

Christopher Gladstone

Berry

Experience & Expertise Gary Peart Konrad Berry | Erwin Angus Alok Jain Walter Scott

General Management &
Business Operations

Technology

Investment and Financial
Services

Risk Management

Listed Company
Experience

Strategy Development

Legal/Regulatory

Corporate Governance

QGQQGQGQI
QGQQGQGOI
QGQQGQGQI
GGOQGQGQI
0006640
QGQGQQGQI
GQGQGGGGI

Interpretation of Skills and Expertise Matrix

Mo Compelancs Lo Compalance | Game Compeataence High Compatancs Expart

> D o @
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Board Committees

The Board has instituted committees to enhance its effectiveness and efficiency in fulfill-
ing its fiduciary duties and responsibilities. These board sub-committees address issues
that necessitate thorough review or in-depth analysis, making decisions on behalf of
the Board or presenting recommendations for its review. Specific responsibilities are as-
sighed to these Board Committees, aiding the Board in executing its functions and guar-
anteeing independent supervision of internal controls and risk management. The Chair of
each Board Committee provides the Board with reports on the topics discussed during
Committee meetings. The following table outlines the standing Committees of the Board
of Directors:

Mayberry’s Board Committees

Audit Committee

The main objective of the Audit
Committee is to aid the Board in
carrying out its oversight duties
concerning the internal control
systems, the entity’s financial
reporting procedures, and audit

Asset and Liabilities
Committee (ALCO)

Oversees and supervises the
management of investment
portfolios and liabilities in ac-
cordance with the Company’s
risk tolerance

functions.

Remuneration Nominations and
Committee Corporate Governance

Establishes the fundamental Committee
principles, parameters, and Suggests potential candi-

governance structure_ of the dates for the Board of Direc-
Company’s remuneration pol- tors and supervises the effi-
ICy. cient operation of the Board.

Compliance & Data
Protection Commttee

Is tasked with ensuring adher-
ence to legal and regulatory
requirements, as well as devel-
oping a framework for com-
pliance with Data Protection
Laws.
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Board Committee Composition
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has the responsibility to provide independent oversight of the
Company’s financial reporting, internal controls, risk management, and audit function
and give assurance that:

i. the Company’s financial statements are accurate and reliable,

ii. that the Company has adequate internal controls in place, and
iil. that the audit function is independent and effective.

The objectives of the Committee include oversight of the following:

a) Financial Reporting Oversight - ensuring the integrity and accuracy of financial state-
ments and reviewing significant accounting policies and practices.

b) Internal Controls Oversight - monitoring the effectiveness of the company’s internal
control systems and recommending improvements to internal controls as necessary.

¢) External Audit Engagement - selecting and appointing the external auditor and re-
viewing the auditor’s independence and effectiveness.

d) Risk Management - assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of the company’s risk
management processes and evaluating significant risk exposures and mitigation strat-
egies.

e) Compliance and Legal Matters - ensuring that there is a robust system for monitor-
ing and assuring compliance with all relevant laws and regulations as well as monitoring
legal matters that may have a material impact on financial statements.

f) Ethical Conduct Assurance - ensure the Company is adhering to its Code of Conduct,
ethical standards and its commitment to combating fraud, corruption, and other uneth-
ical practices as well as providing oversight of the Company’s whistleblowing program.

The specific roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are documented in the
Audit Committee Charter approved by the Board which can be found on the Company
website at: www.mayberryinv.com/investor-relations.

The Audit Committee Charter adheres to the principles set out in the PSOJ Corporate
Governance Code 2021 which provides that at least three members of the Audit Com-
mittee must be independent non-executive members, one of whom should have recent
and relevant financial experience.

Internal Auditor

For 2023, the services of Ernst and Young were engaged to conduct the annual An-
ti-Money Laundering/Counter Financing of Terrorism audit. The scope of the examina-
tion was to assess the adequacy of the controls in relation to the following:
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(i) Unusual and Suspicious Transactions
(ii) Know Your Customer (KYC)

(ili) High Risk Customers

(iv) Training

(v) Compliance Programme

(vi) Internal Reporting

(vii) Role of the Nominated Officer

(viil) Know Your Employee (KYE)

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee is established by the Board to
enhance its effectiveness in overseeing matters related to director nomination, corpo-
rate governance, and board performance. The purpose of the Committee is to ensure
the Board’s composition reflects diverse skills and expertise, and to promote and uphold
strong corporate governance principles in alignment with the principles of fairness, ac-
countability, independence, responsibility, stewardship, and transparency.

Assets and Liabilities Commiittee

The Assets and Liabilities Committee (“ALCQO”) is established by the Board of the Com-
pany to provide oversight and strategic guidance related to the management of the
company’s assets and liabilities. The Committee is a subcommittee of the Board and op-
erates within the framework of the overall governance structure of the organization. The
purpose of ALCO is to ensure the effective management of the company’s financial re-
sources, optimize the balance between assets and liabilities, and align the management
of risks with the company’s strategic goals.

The objectives of the Committee include oversight of the following:

i. Strategic asset and liability management

ii. Risk management

iil. Liquidity management

iv. Interest rate management

V. Market risk management

vi. Capital adequacy
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Compliance & Data Protection Commiittee

The major responsibility of the Compliance and Data Protection Committee is to over-
see and ensure the organization’s adherence to legal and regulatory requirements and
to monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. The purpose of the Committee is to safeguard the
integrity, legality, and ethical conduct of the Company by providing oversight of com-
pliance with relevant laws and regulations, as well as ensuring the robust protection of
sensitive information in accordance with data protection and privacy standards.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (Committee) was established to oversee the remuneration
policies and practices, ensuring alignment with the company’s strategic goals, perfor-
mance objectives and best corporate governance principles. The objectives of the Com-
mittee include oversight of the following:

i. Executive compensation
ii. Performance evaluation

ili. Equity-based incentives

Directors’ Remuneration

Mayberry ensures equitable compensation for its Directors, aligning remuneration with
the Company’s strategic objectives. The compensation level is reflective of the time,
dedication, and duties involved, aiming to attract, retain, and incentivize the Directors
appropriately. Director remuneration consists solely of fees, determined by their roles on
different committees and any other relevant factors as deemed by the Board. Directors
do not receive any form of share-based compensation; however, they are encouraged to
acquire shares through open-market purchases. The remuneration details of Directors
are disclosed in the annual report for transparency purposes.

Board Evaluation and Self-Assessment

The Board and its Committees undertake regular reviews of their effectiveness as part of
their dedication to ongoing enhancement of their oversight, guidance, and constructive
engagement with management. The Board remains steadfast in its commitment to un-
dergo regular, independent evaluations of its effectiveness. In December 2023, the Board
conducted its annual self-assessment to evaluate performance, conduct, leadership cul-
ture, and impact. The outcomes of these evaluations guide the Board in setting priorities
and developing action plans. The evaluation utilized an anonymous online questionnaire
consisting of fifty-six (56) questions, administered through an independent external ap-
plication. The evaluation is divided into five (5) major categories:

36
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1. The Board’s overall performance and effectiveness - evaluation of the Board’s effec-
tiveness in fulfilling its responsibilities, including strategic planning, risk management,
financial oversight, and stakeholder engagement. The assessment was broken down into
the following five sections:

 Conduct and Ethics: Here, the focus was on the Board’s adherence to the Company’s
Code of Conduct and Ethics Policies, as well as its commitment to transparency and
integrity.

* Leadership Culture: This section assessed the Board’s leadership style, communica-
tion practices, and ability to foster a culture of collaboration and innovation.

 |Impact: The impact section gauged the Board’s influence on the Company’s perfor-
mance, growth, and long-term sustainability.

e Suggestions for Improvement: Lastly, Directors were invited to provide feedback and
suggestions for enhancing Board effectiveness and addressing any areas of concern.

2. The performance of individual Board members - assessment of the directors based on;

» Strategic Vision and Planning: Ability to contribute to the development and execution
of the Company’s strategic goals and initiatives.

* Financial Oversight: Competency in reviewing financial reports, budgets, and financial
risk management practices.

 Leadership and Communication: Effectiveness in fostering a collaborative and inclu-
sive environment, as well as clear and concise communication skills.

« Committee Participation: Engagement and contributions within Board committees,
including Audit, Governance, Remuneration, and Risk

3. The Board’s conduct - The conduct of the Board of Directors plays a crucial role in set-
ting the tone for the Company’s culture, ethical standards, and overall governance prac-
tices. The assessment was conducted based on observations, interactions, and feedback
received during the evaluation period of the following:

* Respectful Communication - Board discussions were characterized by open, respect-
ful communication, allowing for diverse viewpoints to be expressed.

* Confidentiality - Directors maintained strict confidentiality regarding sensitive Com-
pany information, ensuring the integrity and security of data.

 Conflict Resolution - Instances of differing opinions were managed constructively,
with a focus on reaching consensus and making informed decisions in the Company’s
best interests.

« Compliance with Policies - The Board exhibited a strong commitment to compliance
with the Company’s Code of Conduct, Ethics Policies, and relevant regulatory require-

ments.
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4. The quality of the relationship with staff and how well the Board is supported - The
Board’s relationship with the Company’s staff members has been characterized by mu-
tual respect, effective communication, and a commitment to collaboration. During the
evaluation period, the Board members actively engaged with staff at various levels,
recognizing their contributions, and fostering a culture of inclusivity.

5. The Board’s relationship with the CEO and Chairman - The relationship between the
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chairman was characterized by collaboration, trans-
parency, and constructive dialogue. The CEO and Chairman worked closely with the
Board, providing regular updates, seeking input on key decisions, and aligning strategies
with Board objectives.

e CEO and Board Alignment: The CEO demonstrated a strong commitment to aligning
the Company’s operations and initiatives with the Board’s strategic direction. Regular
updates on operational performance, market trends, and risks were provided to the
Board.

* Chairman’s Leadership: The Chairman of the Board led discussions effectively, ensur-
ing that all Directors had the opportunity to voice their opinions and perspectives. The
Chairman also facilitated constructive debates and decision-making processes.

* Collaborative Decision-Making: The Board and executive leadership worked collabo-
ratively to address challenges, capitalize on opportunities, and drive the Company’s
growth agenda forward.

Board Training and Development

In December 2023, the Directors took part in the yearly training sessions on Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT), along with Corporate Gover-
nance Training. These training sessions were conducted by external parties. The Directors
were briefed on the following:

AML/CFT/CFP

(i) Money Laundering, Terrorism Financing and Proliferation Financing
(ii) Role of the Board in AML/CFT/CFP

(iii) Review of Basel AML Index

(iv) Review of Jamaica’s National Risk Assessment Report, 2021

Corporate Governance
(i) Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
(ii) Beneficial Ownership

(ili) Role Clarity for Boards
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Staff Training

Annually, all staff members are required to participate in mandatory Anti-Money Laun-
dering/Counter Financing of Terrorism/Counter Financing of Proliferation training whoch
is facilitated by the Compliance Department. At the end of the training, a test is adminis-
tered and the results are recorded and noted on each team member’s employee file.

Business Conduct and Ethical Practices

The Company’s Board-approved Code of Conduct underscores its dedication to uphold-
ing the highest standards of ethical behavior. Complementing this Code is an Ethics
Policy, also sanctioned by the Board, which applies to Mayberry’s Directors, officers, and
staff.

The Code of Conduct delineates the Company’s regulations and expectations concern-
ing the proper conduct of business and ethical behavior for Directors, officers, and
employees. These include:

i. Adherence to the law in all areas where the Company operates;

ii. Avoidance of conflicts of interest;

iiil. Conducting themselves with honesty and integrity;
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iv. Upholding confidentiality and safeguarding the integrity and security of assets, com-
munications, information, and transactions; and

V. Treating all individuals fairly, impartially, and professionally—be they customers, sup-
pliers, service providers, employees, or other stakeholders.

The Board has reasonable confidence in the continuous, suitable, and efficient process
established for adhering to the Company’s Code of Conduct and Ethics policies. Mayber-
ry fosters a robust compliance culture by rigorously upholding the Company’s Code of
Conduct and Ethics Policies, and by taking firm disciplinary measures when necessary.
Both the Code of Conduct and the Ethics Policy are accessible on the Company’s website
at www.mayberryinv.com/investor-relations.

Whistlieblower Policy

Mayberry has a Whistleblower Policy that has received approval from the Board. This
policy aims to offer a platform for all employees to confidentially and anonymously re-
port any instances of illegal, unethical, or questionable practices without fear of retalia-
tion. The policy is crafted to safeguard the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting
and business transactions, while also promoting adherence to the Code of Conduct. The
Whistleblower Policy is available on the Company’s website at www.mayberryinv.com/
investor-relations.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of everyone within Mayberry is a top priority and are critical com-
ponents of operational success. Through comprehensive policies, proactive measures,
and ongoing training, the Company strives to create a secure and healthy environment.
Continuous evaluation and improvement of our health and safety initiatives remain cen-
tral to our commitment to the well-being of our employees, clients, and stakeholders. To
that end, the Company has established robust policiesd aimed at ensuring the health and
safety of all stakeholders, including:

e Occupational Safety: Regular inspections are conducted to identify and rectify po-
tential hazards. This includes ensuring proper ergonomics, safe electrical systems, and
appropriate ventilation.

e Emergency Preparedness: Protocols are in place for various emergencies such as fire,
medical emergencies, and natural disasters. Regular drills are conducted to ensure
employees are familiar with evacuation procedures.

e Accident Reporting: Employees are trained to report any accidents or incidents im-
mediately. Detailed records are maintained to analyze trends and implement preven-
tive measures.

e Sick Leave Policy: Clear guidelines are provided regarding sick leave, encouraging
employees to stay home when ill to prevent the spread of contagious illnesses.
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¢ Health Education: Periodic workshops and seminars are conducted to educate em-
ployees on various health topics such as stress management, healthy eating, and pre-
ventive care.

Data Protection

With the passage of the Data Protection Act, Mayberry embarked on a robust framework
to ensure its ability to comply with the requirements of the Act. Resulting from these
efforts, the Data Protection Unit achieved critical milestones in contributing to a more
secure and privacy-focused future, namely:

¢ Nonconformity Gap Analysis: A foundation stone of Mayberry’s data protection jour-
ney, this comprehensive analysis has been instrumental in identifying areas for im-
provement and ensuring alignment with the Data Protection Act.

¢ Privacy Impact Assessments: These assessments have been pivotal in understanding
how personal data is used, thereby bolstering the privacy and security of client infor-
mation.

* Data Mapping Exercises: By mapping the processing activities, Mayberry has gained
invaluable insights into data flows, a crucial step in managing data more effectively.

e Data Privacy Impact Assessment: A thorough DPIA for all mapped processes has en-
sured that privacy risks are identified and mitigated before they become problematic.

¢ Risk Treatment Plans: Arising from the DPIAs, these plans have been key in proactive-
ly addressing potential data privacy risks.

¢ Training Initiatives: The continuous training of staff and specialized training sessions
for the project team members highlights Mayberry’s commitment to creating a priva-
cy-aware culture.

¢ Policy Development and Approval: The successful preparation and approval of sever-
al policies and procedures by the Board of Directors reflect Mayberry’s adherence to
regulatory requirements and commitment to data protection.

¢ Inbound Marketing Strategy: Inbound Marketing Strategy is in development for inte-
gration with the Banking and Finance Management System (BFMS) in addition to the
drafting of Data Processing agreements for all marketing data processors. This is in
accordance with section 10 of the Data Protection Act.

To transform data protection from a checklist exercise to an intrinsic, value-adding com-

ponent of Mayberry’s operational and strategic ethos. The journey ahead is arduous, but
with the foundation laid in 2023, Mayberry is well-equipped to navigate the complexities

of data privacy in the digital age.
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Environmental Policy

Mayberry recognizes the critical importance of environmental sustainability in today’s
world. By integrating environmental considerations into our operations, investments, and
corporate culture, we aim to contribute positively to the environment while minimizing
our ecological footprint. Our core principles include:

e Compliance: We commit to complying with all relevant environmental laws, regula-
tions, and standards in every aspect of our operations.

e Sustainable Practices: We strive to adopt environmentally sustainable practices in our
day-to-day activities, including energy consumption, waste management, and pro-
curement.

e Risk Management: Recognizing environmental risks, we integrate environmental
considerations into our risk management processes to safeguard our institution and
stakeholders.

The Environmental Policy can be accessed on the Company’s website at:
www.mayberryinv.com/investor-relations.

Shareholder Rights and Responsibilities

In line with the principles of openness, fair treatment, and safeguarding shareholder inter-
ests, the Board of Directors is dedicated to fostering communication with shareholders
and enhancing the Company’s current relationships with these stakeholders. The Board
endeavors to offer shareholders various avenues to express their perspectives and en-
gage with the Company.

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) serves as a platform for Shareholders to directly en-
gage with the Company’s Directors. Additionally, the Company utilizes diverse communi-
cation channels that provide timely and equitable access to information. These channels
include the Company’s website, the Annual Report, the publication of financial results,
and the utilization of both traditional and social media platforms for marketing purposes.

During each AGM, individual shareholders are encouraged to present questions to the
Chairman and any other attending Board members. Moreover, the minutes of the pre-
ceding AGM are compiled and shared with shareholders for their perusal at the meeting.
Complementing these efforts, the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website
at www.mayberryinv.com offers access to company announcements, media releases, au-
dited financial statements, and annual reports.

The Company warmly welcomes inquiries from both individual and institutional investors
concerning matters related to their shareholdings and Mayberry’s operations. Please do
not hesitate to reach out to the Chief Executive Officer at gary.peart@mayberryinv.com
to share your feedback, suggestions, and concerns with us.
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CORPORATE DATA

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executives

Christopher W. Berry, B.Sc. (Hons.) -Executive Chairman

Konrad M. Berry, B.Sc. (Hons.) - Executive Vice Chairman

Erwin L. Angus, C.D.,, JP, B.A. (Hons.) - Managing Director

Gary H. Peart, M.B.A,, B.Sc. (Econ) (Hons.) - Chief Executive Officer

Non-Executives

Gladstone L. Lewars, FCA, M.Sc. (Econ) (Hons.), M.Sc. (Accounting), B.Sc. (Econ) (Hons.)
Lead Independent Director

Alok K. Jain, M.Sc., FCA, FCCA, CGMA, CISA, CFA

Walter H. Scott, Q.C.

Richard Surage

Company Secretary
Janene E. Shaw, FCA, FCCA, Bsc (Accounting) (Hons.)

REGISTRAR - TRANSFER AGENT
Jamaica Central Securities Depository, 40 Harbour Street, Kingston, Jamaica

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Duke Street,

Scotiabank Center,
Kingston, Jamaica

Tel: (876) 922-6230

ATTORNEYS-AT-LAW

Patterson Mair Hamilton
Douglas Thompson

Palomino, Gordon-Palomino
Walter H. Scott, K.C. DunnCox
Carolyn C. Reid & Co.

BANKERS

Bank of Jamaica

Citigroup

National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited
Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited
Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited

First Global Bank Limited

INVESTMENT BANKS

Morgan Stanley

Raymond James and Associates (formerly Morgan Keegan)
Oppenheimer

RBC Dominion Securities

Standard Bank
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Economic and Business Environment

The Jamaican economy continued to recover in 2023 as Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
for the third quarter increased by 2.1% year on year. The performance stemmed from a
2.1% increase in the Services industries and a 2.1% growth in the Goods Producing In-
dustries, reflecting the economy’s ongoing recovery from the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic.

Since the onset of the COVID- 19 pandemic ten consecutive quarters ago, the island’s
tourism sector has consistently achieved remarkable growth figures, encompassing both
revenue generation and visitor arrivals. The Ministry of Tourism noted that the influx of
visitors is expected to generate US$4.265 billion in tourism earnings for 2023, represent-
ing a projected increase of 17.8% over total inflows for 2022, and a 17.2% spike over the
out-turn for the pre-pandemic year of 2019.

Economic activity and employment continues to rebound, inflows into the foreign ex-
change market are buoyant and the country’s international reserves have remained
strong. Recent developments in domestic inflation have prompted the Bank of Jamaica
(BOJ) to maintain measures to influence a return of inflation to the Bank’s target of 4%
to 6% in the near to medium term.

Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

According to the Statistical Institute of Jamaica (STATIN), the Jamaican economy grew
by 2.1% during the third quarter of 2023 relative to Q3 2022.

The growth was attributed to increases in both the Services and Goods Producing In-
dustries (2.1%). In the services industries, growth was recorded in various sectors, in-
cluding Transport, Storage & Communication (6.0%), Hotels & Restaurants (6.7%), Other
Services (4.5%), Finance & Insurance Services (1.5%), Electricity & Water Supply (6.7%),
Real Estate, Renting & Business Activities (0.9%), and Wholesale & Retail Trade; Repairs:
Installation of Machinery & Equipment (0.3%). The growth in the Goods Producing Indus-
tries was largely attributable to higher output in Mining & Quarrying (103.1%) followed by
Manufacturing (2.1%) and Construction (0.7%).
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Foreign Exchange

For the year 2023, the foreign exchange market observed a continuation of two-way
movements in the exchange rate. The Jamaican dollar (JMD) appreciated against the
USD for the month of December 2023. The JMD appreciated by $0.51 to close the month
at an average of $155.94 relative to the $156.45 recorded in November 2023. Year over
year, the JMD has depreciated by approximately 1.46%.

The BOJ indicated that the foreign exchange market has remained relatively stable over
the last four months. Additionally, the stability in the foreign exchange market reflects
continued strong tourism and remittance inflows as well as actions taken by the bank to
prevent undue volatility.

Exchange Rate Movement
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Net International Reserve

BOJ has reported that Jamaica’s Net International Reserves as at December 31, 2023
stood at US$4,748.14 million, reflecting an increase of US$150.55 million when compared
to the US$4,597.58 million reported at the end of November 2023.

Foreign Assets totalled US$4,858.54 million, US$131.33 million more than the US$4,727.21
million reported in November 2023. ‘Currency & Deposits’ held by the BOJ as at Decem-
ber 31,2023 totalled US$3,162.43 million, reflecting an increase of US$120.70 million com-
pared to the US$3,041.73 million reported in November 2023. ‘Securities’ were valued at
US$1,579.20 million; US$9.90 million more than the US$1,569.30 million reported at the
end of November 2023. The country’s Special Drawing Rights rose to US$80.22 million
relative to the US$79.71 million recorded a month prior. ‘IMF Reserve Position’ rose to
US$36.69 million from the US$36.46 million reported last month. Liabilities to the IMF fell
US$19.22 million to US$110.41 million against the US$129.63 million reported at the end of

November 2023.
2023 Annual Report @

45




Net International Reserves

5,000
4,800
4,600
4,400
4,200
4,000
3,800
3,600
3,400

3,200
3,000
2,800
2,600
2,400
2,200
2,000
> P B : 2> 2 L > N . * b
0""'1 »© («*1 W |>9'1} o w o w2 5 * o wo! 0°°3
Infiation

STATIN reported that for December 2023, the point-to-point inflation rate was +6.9%;

0.6 percentage points higher than the prior point-to-point inflation rate. However, for the
month of December 2023, the inflation rate was +0.5%.

The main driver of the monthly increase (0.5%) was a 2.5% rise in the index for the ‘Hous-
ing, Water, Electricity, Gas and Other Fuels’ division, owing to higher rent, electricity, wa-
ter, and sewage rates. Another contributor to the increase was a 0.3% rise in the index
for the ‘Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages’ division due mainly to increases in the class-
es: ‘Ready-made food and other food products (4.2%) and ‘Fruit and nuts’ (1.8%). The
monthly increase was tempered by a 0.4% fall in the index for the ‘Transport’ division,
owing to lower fuel prices.

According to the BOJ, inflation is projected to continue to rise above the Bank’s target
range for much of the period between the December 2023 and March 2025 quarters, pri-
marily due to the continued impact of the increases in selected PPV fares.
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Policy Interest Rates

The Bank of Jamaica’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) unanimously decided to main-
tain the policy interest rate at 7.0%, to preserve tight Jamaican dollar liquidity conditions,
and ensure relative stability in the foreign exchange market. The MPC’s decision was
based on the positive trends in the key drivers of headline inflation, stable core inflation
and the expectation that the impact of the public passenger vehicle (PPV) fare increase
will be temporary. The BOJ’s updated assessment of the inflation outlook forecasts in-
flation to continue to rise above the Bank’s target range for much of the period between
the December 2023 and March 2025 quarters, primarily due to the continued impact of
the increases in selected PPV fares.

BOJ Policy Interest Rate
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MARKET DYNAMICS

Equities Market
Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) Main and Junior Markets

On the last trading day of 2023, the market experienced a rally, leading to a gain of over
one point in the JSE Combined Index, encompassing the JSE Main Market, JSE Junior
Market, and JSE US Denominated Index.

The JSE Main Market Index closed the year ended December 29, 2023, at 325,699.79
points, reflecting a decline of 25,524.02 points or 7.84% relative to its initial 2023 level.
Additionally, the JSE Junior Market Index closed the year 2023 at 3,848.33 points, declin-
ing by 63.22 points or 1.64%.

The JSE Main Market, comprising the most heavily capitalized stocks, recorded its third-
worst performance in a decade. Its most severe downturn occurred in 2020, plummeting
by 22.4% due to the impact of the pandemic. In contrast, the JSE Junior Market, featuring
small and medium-sized companies broke a two year streak of gains. During the pan-
demic in 2020, the junior market suffered a 21% decline.
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In the latter part of 2023, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) noted that the glob-
al economy was slowly recovering from the impacts of the pandemic, Russia’s invasion
of Ukraine, and a cost-of-living crisis. Despite disruptions in energy and food markets
due to the war and efforts to combat high inflation through global monetary tighten-
ing, the economy has not stalled but was experiencing slow and uneven growth. There
were significant divergences in global economic performance, with emerging markets
and developing economies facing challenges in achieving a full recovery to pre-pandemic
levels. Inflation, both headline and underlying, was gradually being brought under control.
However, global growth was projected to slow from 3.5 percent in 2022 to 3 percent in
2023 and further to 2.9 percent in 2024, indicating a downgrade of 0.1 percentage point
for 2024 compared to previous projections in July 2023. This forecast remains below the
historical average.

The World Bank’s Global Economic Prospects in June 2023 noted that the earlier resil-
ience shown by global economic activity was anticipated to diminish. The global econo-
my was poised for a significant slowdown in 2023, attributed to the ongoing tightening
of monetary policy aimed at curbing high inflation. Subsequently, a modest recovery is
projected for 2024, with an expected growth rate of 2.4 percent. Inflationary pressures
persist, and the impact on growth from continued monetary tightening is projected to
peak in 2023 across several major economies. Additionally, recent stress in the banking
sector is anticipated to further constrain credit conditions.

Most economies prioritize achieving sustainable disinflation in response to the cost-of-
living crisis. Given the potential risks of tighter monetary conditions and reduced growth
impacting financial and debt stability, it is crucial to employ macroprudential measures
and enhance mechanisms for debt restructuring. Targeted fiscal assistance is essential
for focusing on those most affected by escalating food and energy prices. Broad-based
fiscal relief initiatives should be scaled back, to uphold the advantages of the rules-based
multilateral system. Climate change should be addressed through emission reduction and
increased green investment, as such, enhanced international cooperation is necessary.

Reorganisation of the Mayberry Group of Companies

At an extraordinary General Meeting held on July 26, 2023, the stockholders of May-
berry Investments Limited (MIL) approved the reorganisation of the Mayberry Group of
Companies under a Scheme of Arrangement. The Scheme of Arrangement was then
approved by the Supreme Court of Jamaica in September 2023 in accordance with the
Jamaica Companies Act. In December 2023, the new holding company, Mayberry Group
Limited (MGL) was listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange and at the same time MIL was
delisted. The existing shareholders of MIL exchanged their shares for MGL shares of equal
value. At December 31, 2023, MIL also transferred ownership of all its subsidiaries directly
to MGL. The consideration for the transfer of ownership of the subsidiaries from MIL to
MGL was effected by interest bearing promissory notes.

The management discussion and analysis included in this report represents results only

for Mayberry Investments Limited.
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CORPORATE OVERVIEW CORE ACTIVITIES

Mayberry Investments Limited continues to be the principal operating company in the
Mayberry group of companies. It is a leading investment banking, securities and in-
vestment management company that provides a wide range of financial services and
products to a diversified client base. These include corporations, financial institutions,
governments and individuals in the capital market. Our service offering includes stra-
tegic financial advisory services with emphasis on mergers and acquisitions; debt and
equity restructuring; investment management services through separate and comingled
managed portfolios; brokerage services; cambio and research services. Our mission of
transforming lives positively through lasting relationships affords us the opportunity to
create deep and enduring relationships with our customers. We do this by discovering
their needs and delivering the most relevant product and service solutions to realise their
investment objectives.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a net profit attributable
to shareholders of $914.3 million. Total operating income and other revenues totalled
$2.2 billion decreasing by $89 million or 4% when compared to the corresponding peri-
od in 2022, while total operating expenses for the year marginally increased by 0.4% to
close at $1.8 billion. Total comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2023
totalled $900.2 million compared to comprehensive income of $490 million for the prior
year.

The Board of Directors of Mayberry Investments Limited convened a meeting on June
28, 2023, and approved an ordinary dividend of $0.30 per share. The dividend of $360
million was paid on July 31, 2023 to all shareholders on record as at July 12, 2023.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Net Interest Income

Net interest income for the year ended December 31, 2023, amounted to $322.5 million
representing a decrease of $224.5 million or 41% over the corresponding period in 2022.
During the period, interest income grew by $870 million or 73% primarily due to higher in-
terest earned on loans and advances and growth in the loan book which increased to $9.7
billion from $4.9 billion when compared to December 31, 2022. In addition, bond interest
income grew by $91 million or 37%. On the other hand, interest expense increased by $1.1
billion or 170% primarily attributable to higher interest costs on repurchase agreements
and corporate papers mainly attributable to higher interest rates and finance charges for
the $6.3 billion Mayberry bond issued in January 2023.
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Net Interest Income
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Consulting Fees and Commissions

The Company reported consulting fees & commission income of $521 million for the year
ended December 31,2023, an increase of $12.5 million or 2% over the comparative period.
Significant contributors to this variance are:

 Brokerage fees increased by $7 million or 2% on account of increased earnings from
selling fees debt and corporate advisory transactions during the period. Commission
selling fees from IPO transactions declined by $37 million or 98% based on reduced
volumes over the comparative period.

 Loan processing fees increased by $26 million or 38% over the corresponding period
in 2022 driven by the increase in loan growth.

 Asset management fees were lower by $16.7 million or 13% attributable to reduced
fees earned for pension management and the USD money market portfolio.

Other Operating Income
Major variances are as follow:

e Dividend income of $848 million improved by $793 million on account of dividend
income received from a subsidiary during Q4 2023.

 Net unrealized gains on investments of $99.6 million was higher by $146 million or
314% primarily due to unrealized gains on investment properties of $86 million re-
corded when compared to unrealized loss of $22 million reported for the correspond-
ing period in 2022.

 Net trading gains decreased by $908.7 million or 90% to $97 million when compared
to the corresponding period in 2022. Gains on the disposal of shares in a subsidiary
was the main driver of the gains in the prior period.
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* Net foreign exchange gains of $202 million were higher by $92 million or 84% re-
sulting mainly from higher cambio volumes and spreads and reduced losses on the
revaluation of foreign currency balance sheet positions.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses amounted to $1.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023,
representing a marginal increase of $7.7 million or 0.4% compared to $1.8 billion for the
corresponding period in 2022. The major contributors to the increase are as follows:

* Security costs increased by 78% attributable to increases in the minimum wage grant-
ed to that industry during the year.

* Legal and professional fees were higher by 91% due to additional services procured for
the review of organization policies and internal controls.

* Consulting fees increased by 53% due to additional services procured for cyber secu-
rity services.

« Computer expenses increased by 35% due to increases in the rate of licenses fees and
storage costs.

The position was offset by 91% reduction in donations and a 64% reduction in directors
travelling. The Company’s assessment of its credit risk resulted in lower provisions for ex-
pected credit losses of 146% when compared to the prior year.

Operating Expenses
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Assets and Liabilities

Total assets increased by $11.4 billion or 39% compared to the prior year. The growth in the
asset base was due primarily to year over year increases in the following assets: balances
due from related companies increased by $6.4 billion or 386% to $8 billion due to inter-
est bearing loans, loans and other receivable balances higher by $3.8 billion or 61% due to
increased take up in the margin loans, and promissory notes higher by $1.2 billion or 23%.
In addition, investment securities grew $494 million or 16%, deferred taxation was higher
by $761 million or 196% due to tax credits earned, and intangible assets increased by $264
million representing the Company’s continued investment in its new digital platform. This
performance was mainly offset by a reduction in reverse repurchase agreements by $1.7
billion or 32% and investment in subsidiaries down by $1 billion with the transfer of former
subsidiaries Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited and Widebase Limited to the new group
parent company Mayberry Group Limited in exchange for promissory notes, consequent
on the reorganization of the Group.

Total liabilities increased by $10.9 billion or 47% over the prior year to $33.9 billion. This
movement was mainly due to loans payable higher by $7 billion or 98% primarily attribut-
able to the $6.3 billion MIL Bond issues during the period. This was in addition to higher
securities sold under repurchase agreement higher by $2.1 billion or 44% compared to the
corresponding period in 2022.

Total Assets and Liabilities
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Mayberry’s capital base remains strong with total shareholders’ equity and closed at $6.6
billion or an increase of 9% over the prior year. The year-on-year increase of $540 million
was mainly driven by a $561 million increase in retained earnings due to net profits for the
year . This resulted in a net book value per share of $5.48 (2022: $5.03).
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REGULATORY AND CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

The Company’s regulatory capital base continues to be robust and compliant with regu-
latory benchmarks. As at December 31, 2023, the capital to risk-weighted asset ratio of
18.3% exceeds the established minimum of 10% set by the Financial Services Commis-
sion (FSC). In addition, Tier one Capital is 99% of the Company’s overall capital base and
exceeds the regulatory minimum of 50% established by the FSC.

Funds under management

The Company provides custody, investment management and advisory services for both
institutions and individuals which involve the Company making allocation and purchases
and sales decisions in relation to quoted shares and government financial instruments on
a non-recourse basis. Those assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included
in these financial statements.

se
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Risk Management

Recognizing the paramount importance of risk management in safeguarding shareholder
value, Mayberry has taken significant strides to enhance its risk management practices.
As part of this endeavour, the company has adopted a forward-thinking approach, sepa-
rating its risk team from the compliance team to sharpen its focus on proactive risk miti-
gation strategies.

Embracing a proactive stance towards risk management, Mayberry has successfully
steered through the challenges posed by the Covid-19 pandemic by promptly identify-
ing and addressing potential threats within its operational landscape. This proactive ap-
proach not only ensures the resilience of the organization but also fosters a culture of risk
awareness and responsiveness at all levels.

Mayberry’s Risk Management Framework

Mayberry’s Risk Management Framework serves as a cornerstone for the organization’s
strategic business execution, underscoring the integration of risk management practic-
es into every facet of its operations. This comprehensive framework encompasses the
identification, assessment, treatment, monitoring, and reporting of primary risks, thereby
facilitating risk-reward optimization across the Company’s diverse portfolio of assets and
securities.

Integral to the Risk Management Framework is the robust governance structure, under-
pinned by the principles of transparency, accountability, and consistency. Mayberry adopts
a three lines of defence approach, delineating clear roles and responsibilities among man-
agement of business lines, independent Compliance and Risk functions, and Internal Au-
dit. This collaborative governance model ensures effective risk oversight and mitigation
while aligning organizational objectives with stakeholder interests.
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Risk Management Governance

Mayberry’s risk management framework adopts a three lines of defence approach to gov-
erning risk, which promotes transparency, accountability, and consistency through the
clear identification and segregation of roles: (i) management of business lines, (ii) inde-
pendent Compliance and Risk functions, and (iii) Internal Audit. The three lines of defence
collaborate with each other in structured forums and processes to bring various perspec-
tives together and steer the organization towards outcomes that are in the clients’ best
interests and create economic value.

The first line of defence is made up of management of business lines. It is the responsi-
bility of first-line management to identify and manage risks. This involves, at an opera-
tional level, the day-to-day effective management of risks in accordance with agreed risk
policies, risk appetite, and controls, including primary responsibility for compliance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

The second line of defence involves the Compliance and Risk function, which provides
independent oversight and assurance to manage the market, credit, compliance, repu-
tational, and operational risks in @ manner consistent with the company’s risk appetite.
This establishes policies and guidelines for risk assessment and risk management, which
contributes to the controls and tools to manage, measure, and mitigate risks taken by the
organization, and monitors compliance. It is also responsible for producing independent
management information and risk management reporting for Senior Management, the
Board, and regulatory authorities. The Senior Risk Manager reports to the Chief Executive
Officer and the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) of the Board of Directors. The in-
cumbent has regular and unrestricted access to the ALCO Committee of the Board and
to the Board of Directors to address risks and issues identified through daily activities.

The third line of defence is the Internal Audit function, which provides independent and
objective assurance to the Board and Senior Management on the effectiveness of con-
trols across various functions and operations, including risk management and governance
practices.

All three levels report to the Board, either directly or through the Assets and Liabilities
Committee and Audit Committee.

Figure 1: Mayberry’s Three Lines of Defence Framework
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Strategic Alignment and Continuous iImprovement

Mayberry remains steadfast in its commitment to integrating risk management practices
seamlessly into its strategic decision-making processes. By analysing and assessing new
products and projects through the lens of enterprise risk management, the Company en-
sures that risk considerations are embedded within its innovation and growth initiatives.

Furthermore, Mayberry recognizes the evolving digital landscape and the associated
risks therein. As the Group continues to expand its digital footprint, particular emphasis
is placed on upholding exemplary standards of data protection and privacy. This proac-
tive approach underscores Mayberry’s dedication to maintaining trust and confidence,
both internally and externally.

Key Risks

Mayberry acknowledges the diverse array of risks inherent in its business model, ranging
from financial and operational risks to strategic and reputational concerns. To address
these risks effectively, the group employs an enterprise risk assessment mechanism, en-
abling timely identification and mitigation of emerging threats.

The key risks and risk management tools are summarized in the table shown below.
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Financial Risk is the potential loss of income for shareholders, investors or other finan-
cial stakeholders due to the company’s investment or financial activities. Risk is innate in
any business enterprise and good risk management is an essential aspect of running a
successful business. Financial risk is categorize into three broad categories: market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market Risk- Market risk refers to the uncertainty in market conditions, such as changes

in asset prices, interest rates, or currency exchange rates. The Risk Department has taken

FINANCIAL a practical approach in collaborating with the Markets & Trading and the Research De-

RISK partment in assessing market risk. MGL assesses market risk exposure through various
metrics and risk models such as Value at Risk (VaR), sensitivity analysis, among others.

Credit Risk- Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty fails to meet their
financial obligations. MGL establishes counterparty limits to identify, monitor and assess
credit risk exposure. We also use the five C’s metric to evaluate creditworthiness of cli-
ents’ character, capacity, capital, collateral and the current conditions.

Liquidity Risk- Liquidity risk is the potential loss from the company’s inability to meet
short-term obligations when due. This risk is managed by asset-liability management,
cash management and the monitoring of the companies Liquidity Coverage Ratio.

Mayberry’s strategic risks are those associated with changes in the economic and reg-
ulatory environment that have the potential to disrupt the company’s ability to achieve
STRATEGIC its strategic goals and objectives. As the company continues to face emerging strategic
RISK risks, the risk management team will ensure that it protects shareholder value through
continuous environmental scanning and by making risk a key component of the compa-

ny’s strategic planning activities.

Mayberry’s operational risk are those associated with the loss arising from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people, systems, or external events. At Mayberry, we maintain a
OPERATIONAL system of company-wide policies and procedures, clear lines of accountability and sepa-
RISK ration of duties. We also implement an effective internal audit and control mechanism to
deter or reduce risks identified.

Mayberry’s privacy risk refers to the potential harm or negative impact that can result

from the unauthorized or inappropriate use, disclosure, or collection of personal informa-

PRIVACY tion. At Mayberry we mantain a Privacy Risk Register and ensure that all Privacy Risks

RISK faced are properly addressed with appropriate controls put in place. All our staff mem-
bers are also trained in data protection and privacy.

Mayberry considers Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) factors in their in-
ESG vestment decisions to mitigate risks and promote sustainable practices. They manage
ESG risks by conducting thorough due diligence on potential investments. This approach

FACTORS helps Mayberry to achieve both financial returns and positive societal impact.

In conclusion, Mayberry’s proactive approach to risk management, coupled with its ro-
bust Risk Management Framework and governance structure, positions the Group well to
navigate uncertainties and capitalize on opportunities in an ever-changing business land-
scape. By integrating risk management into its strategic objectives and fostering a culture
of risk awareness, Mayberry reaffirms its commitment to safeguarding shareholder value
and sustaining long-term success.
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DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS - 2023 YEAR IN REVIEW
SALES DEPARTMENT

The year 2023 presented a set of unique challenges for the Sales Department at May-
berry Group Limited (MGL). Amidst economic uncertainties and a downturn in the
Jamaican equity market, our department navigated through a year that tested our
resilience and adaptability. The high interest rates and market volatility significantly
impacted the overall performance of the market.

We began the year with a team of 34 advisors and strategically streamlined to a core
group of 20 high-performing individuals. This transition was crucial to maintaining a
focus on quality and efficiency. Although we faced challenges in expanding our client
base significantly, we believe the groundwork laid this year will yield positive results in
the future.

The sales department recorded a total revenue of $244.5 million, which was below the
previous year’s figures. This outcome, while reflective of the challenging market condi-
tions, also sets a realistic foundation for our future strategies. Notably, one of our ad-
visors achieved remarkable success by exceeding their revenue target, with individual
performances ranging from $11.2 million to $45.6 million. This achievement demon-
strates the potential and capability within our team. These results have provided us
with valuable insights and learnings that we are actively incorporating into our future
strategies.

As we look towards 2024, our focus is on leveraging the opportunities that lie ahead.
With plans to increase our sales staff, we are poised to enhance our market presence
and client engagement significantly. The comprehensive training provided through
Mayberry Corporate University will be instrumental in equipping our new hires to meet
the challenges and targets of the coming year.

The increase in the number of advisors is a strategic move to capitalise on emerging
market opportunities. We are optimistic that with a larger, well-trained, and technologi-
cally equipped team, we will be better positioned to navigate the market dynamics and
achieve our objectives.

The year 2023 was indeed challenging, but it was also a year of learning and strategic
realignment. The sales department remains committed to excellence and is focused on
adapting to the changing market environment. With our increased advisor capacity
and the insights gained from this year, we are looking forward to a more fruitful 2024,
marked by growth and enhanced client service.

@
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ASSET MANAGEMENT

Income from asset management fees saw a slight decline in year-over-year performance,
mainly due to the prevailing poor performance of the stock market throughout FY 2023.
However, there was a notable enhancement in the management and performance of
pensions, which significantly mitigated the impact of the overall market downturn for
the year. We are confident that our managed portfolios present a substantial opportu-
nity for performance improvement, playing a crucial role in bolstering the Group’s future
performance.

INVESTMENT BANKING

In 2023, the Investment Banking department remained committed to providing en-
hanced financial solutions to our clients. We devised several financial market solutions
for our clients, assisting them with debt and equity capital raises. Furthermore, we have
advanced numerous financial advisory transactions for the benefit of our clients, which
will result in successful capital raises in the near future.

Our strategic goals remain centred around our core business, while placing a renewed
emphasis on process modernization. We will be able to expand our brokerage and finan-
cial advisory services in the future thanks to these initiatives.

In a bid to combat inflation, central banks around the world maintained relatively high
policy rates. A high interest rate environment is usually an indicator of poor stock market
performance. However, the Jamaica Stock Exchange showed resilience, with the Main
Market Index declining just by 0.03% while the Junior Market Index declined by 0.01%.

The debt market was very fervent due to the high interest rate environment. We suc-
cessfully closed a first-of-its kind public bond offering for J$6.3 billion in January 2023,
issued by Mayberry Investments Limited. We were also able to raise approximately
J$12.05 billion in private debt placements for new and existing clients. The department
also continued to provide quality advisory services to new and existing clients, whom we
guided to higher levels of growth and development.

In general, the department hopes to make a lasting impression in 2024 by continuing
to be a major force in the financial markets and providing suitable financial solutions to
help our clients choose wisely when they make investments. Thanks to technological
advancements, we have also discovered novel approaches to connecting with new cus-
tomers both domestically and abroad.

We remain optimistic that our strategic growth plans will be a success as we continue to
execute these initiatives and ensure that our clients remain our first priority. Accordingly,
we expect to see a significant uptick in capital market transactions in 2024.
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TREASURY & TRADING

Overview of Financial Year 2023

During the financial year 2023, several factors impacted the economic environment, influ-
encing both the domestic and global financial markets. Chief among these factors were
inflationary pressures across the globe, and central banks, in response to these pressures,
implemented policies that led to an increase in interest rates, which may have significantly
impacted investment opportunities for both businesses and consumers. Heightened po-
litical and military tensions in the Middle East and Europe also played a critical role during
the financial year, which created uncertainty across the global economy.

Global Bonds Performance

Throughout the year, the Federal Reserve Bank (Fed) continued to increase interest rates,
although at a slower pace than in 2022. Cumulatively, the Federal Reserve Bank raised
rates by 225 basis points during the year 2023. Emerging market bond prices declined as
a result of continual inflationary pressures, geopolitical tensions, and volatility in the US
banking sector. Price declines were seen in the most liquid Jamaican, Barbados, Bermuda,
and Trinidad bonds. However, the positive rating affirmations for Bermuda and positive
changes in outlook for Jamaica, Barbados, and Trinidad mitigated the impact of the rising
interest rate on bond prices.

Treasury and Trading

The Treasury and Trading Department manages liquidity and trading activities for May-
berry Group Limited (MGL), encompassing cambio trading, fixed income trading, and
equity trading. Monetary policy by the Bank of Jamaica continued to impact liquidity,
resulting in continued tightening of liquidity in the money market while high interest rates
impacted funding costs. Our funding portfolio is made up of short- and long-term bor-
rowing arrangements under repurchase agreements, lines of credit, and bond raises.

Net Interest Income

The performance in net interest income was influenced by the high interest rate environ-
ment, which led to margin compression due to the higher cost of funding experienced
during the financial year. Interest income for 2023 was $2.1 billion against $1.2 billion for
2022, an increase of 75%. Drivers for the growth in interest income were a 61% increase in
income on client debit balances, increased bond income, and loans. Interest expense for
2023 was $1.7 billion, representing an increase of 173% over 2022 interest expense of $645
million. The increase in expenses was driven primarily by increased bond expenses, client
debit balances, and higher rates on repurchase agreements. As a result of the significant
increase in interest expense, net interest income decreased to $302 million, representing
a 45% decline over the previous year’s $547 million.
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Cambio Trading

Net foreign exchange gains for the Group recorded a 65% increase from $110 million to
$181 million, a growth of $71 million during the year. Trading revenue for the Cambio unit
was $257 million, a 16.3% increase in revenue over the prior-year figure of $221 million
as a result of increased trading volumes across the USD, GBP, CAD, and Euro currencies
despite contractions in spread.

Equity Trading

High interest rates, constrained liquidity conditions, and low investor confidence result-
ed in low trading activity on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE). Stock market activities
remained bearish as the high interest rate environment reduced the attractiveness of
stocks relative to lower-risk money market instruments. This is evident in only four (4)
public equity issuances on the Jamaica Stock Exchange for FY2023. Equity revenue for
the department was $45 million versus $40 million in the prior year, an increase of 12.5%.

ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE

2023 saw the Finance and Accounts Department supporting major company initiatives,
including the group reorganisation and the MIL 2.0 digitization programme. Mayberry
Group Limited is now the holding group for the Mayberry Group of companies, effective
December 2023, and the new regulatory and financial reporting requirements resulting
from these changes were successfully met during the period in preparation for the new
structure.

The MIL 2.0 back office financial management system continues to be an organisation
effort, and further implementations of the new system occurred during the period, with
many changes for financial reporting and more to come in 2024.

The department maintained its high compliance rate with regulatory compliance report-
ing during the period, and the team remains committed to continuously improving work
methods and output to improve the information available for decision-making.

OPERATIONS

We completed the Bondberry Initial Public Offer in January 2023 and then migrated the
data for the Bondberry portfolios to the new wealth management platform.

After successfully completing the Bondberry data transfer, the team continued to pro-
vide support for the migration of multiple product lines to the new wealth management
platform. As is to be expected, some teething pains were evident. However, the team
continued to work closely with the vendor to address these issues.

The Group is committed to providing first-world technology to meet the needs of its

clients in a secure environment.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

In 2023, our HR initiatives, which catered to the unique needs and culture of the or-
ganisation, achieved significant milestones. This included top-tier talent acquisitions
secured through successful recruitment efforts, training and development initiatives
that further enhanced employee skills and knowledge, contributing to improved over-
all performance, and employee engagement programmes that have helped to foster
a more positive work environment. Of particular note were our new employee safety
programmes, which educated employees on safety protocols and best practices. Our
employee safety training programmes included emergency response training, which
provided guidance on responding to emergencies, including fire drills, evacuation pro-
cedures, and first aid training. These programmes are essential for maintaining a safe
work environment, preventing accidents, and fostering a culture of awareness and re-
sponsibility among employees.

These endeavours collectively contributed to a positive and productive workplace by
fostering employee growth and aligning the workforce with organisational goals and
values. Despite challenges in addressing turnover rates and balancing well-being with
business objectives, HR demonstrated resilience by implementing strategies for sus-
tained organisational growth.

Heading into 2024, our focus will shift towards HR technology integration, incorporat-
ing streamlined solutions for improved processes. Additionally, we will prioritise mental
health support for our team, offering programmes and resources to enhance overall
well-being.

MARKETING

In 2023, the Marketing Department at Mayberry continued to enhance our brand’s vis-
ibility and engagement across digital platforms, further establishing our authority in
the financial sector. Despite the evolving market conditions, we remained committed to
delivering innovative and effective marketing strategies that resonated with our target
audiences.

Building on the momentum of previous years, our digital marketing strategy in 2023
focused on expanding our reach, increasing audience engagement, and optimising the
user experience across all digital channels.

Key highlights include:

Mayberry Virtual Investor Forum: The forum maintained its position as a cornerstone
of our digital strategy, achieving significant growth in viewership and engagement. We
successfully hosted numerous sessions, resulting in a YouTube viewership of 356,032
and a 37% rise in YouTube subscribers compared to the previous year.
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Social Media Growth: Our consistent and targeted social media campaigns have led to a
remarkable increase in our online community, with a 237.4% growth in followers across
platforms like Facebook, Instagram, and LinkedIn. Our content strategy, focused on pro-
viding value and promoting interaction, has significantly boosted our brand’s online
presence.

Content Marketing: We have intensified our efforts in content marketing, producing a
wide range of materials such as articles, infographics, and videos that underline May-
berry’s thought leadership in the financial industry. This content has not only attracted
new followers but also deepened engagement with our existing audience.

In 2023, the Marketing Department continued to strengthen Mayberry’s brand identity
and corporate social responsibility. The Mayberry Foundation expanded its outreach
and support to the community, focusing on education, sports, health, community, and
youth development.

Customer Experience and Satisfaction: We have launched several initiatives aimed at
refining the customer journey and enhancing satisfaction levels. Feedback mechanisms
and customer engagement strategies were implemented to gather insights and foster a
more personalised relationship with our clientele.

As we move into 2024, the Marketing Department is poised to continue our path of in-
novation and excellence. We plan to explore new digital platforms, leverage data analyt-
ics more effectively, and further personalise our customer engagement strategies. The
year 2023 was a period of significant growth and achievement for Mayberry’s Marketing
Department. By staying ahead of industry trends and maintaining a clear focus on our
brand values and objectives, we have successfully enhanced our market position and set
the stage for future successes.

RESEARCH

The research team’s purpose is to inform and educate our external clients while also
assisting the Group’s revenue-generating areas. To reach our goal, the department pro-
vided timely reports to our external customers, as well as the best advice to assist them
in making investment decisions. These efforts are assisted by our valuation and techni-
cal models and reports, such as Daily Recommendations and Daily Picks, which provide
information and synopses of a wide range of financial assets.

We also keep our internal clientele informed by sharing reviews and other publications.
The department continues to examine various routes and methods that can help create
value in the capital markets.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

2023 Summary

The Information Technology (IT) Department focused on Mayberry Group Limited’s dig-
itization and cyber security initiatives for 2023. We introduced live Cambio Trading to
our client portals and enhancements to improve efficiency and customer satisfaction.
We also made significant improvements to our cybersecurity posture to protect our
data and assets from cyber threats.

Cyber Security Achievements

We contracted the services of highly experienced cyber security consultants to provide
24/7 monitoring via our Security Operations Centre. This enables the detection of any
signs of malicious activity, using advanced tools and techniques to detect and respond
to cyber attacks.

Digitization Achievements

During 2023, we enhanced our client-facing platforms to allow Mayberry clients to con-
duct live Cambio trading online. This resulted in a more user-friendly and streamlined
process that fully automates the workflow and eliminates any prior bottlenecks in this
process.

Several other internal processes were migrated from our legacy platforms to our current
cloud-based platform to significantly aid in the efficiency of legacy processes. Enhance-
ments were also made to client statements to enhance their security and provide an
audit trail of statement generation.

Our Data Team continued to grow our online reporting systems, using data available in
our Data Warehouse, to empower decision-makers with concise and useful data.

Conclusion

There was a significant increase in cyber threat activity within the Caribbean region in
2023. While this was a cause for concern, we used it as a trigger to enhance our cyber
security posture to minimise the likelihood of any present or future attack on our sys-
tems.

Transitioning into 2024, we continue to emphasise our attention on the migration to
cloud-based technologies and the digitization of our remaining manual processes.

2023 Annual Report @




RISK MANAGEMENT

The Risk Department at Mayberry Investments Limited (MIL) has played a pivotal role
in overseeing and managing the various risks inherent in our operations throughout the
reporting period. The department’s primary responsibility involves identifying, analyz-
ing, and managing risks that could potentially impact the operations, finances, or repu-
tation of Mayberry Investment Limited.

Specifically, the risk department has been actively engaged in identifying potential risks
that the organization may face. This includes analyzing the potential impact and likeli-
hood of each risk, working closely with other departments in the organization to devel-
op and implement strategies for managing risks, and providing regular reports to senior
management and the board on the organization’s risk exposure.

 During the 2023 financial year, the risk department completed a range of critical
tasks:

« Conducted a comprehensive Fraud risk assessment.

e Successfully completed regulatory semi-annual stress tests and quarterly duration
tests, all of which met regulatory requirements.

« Updated and completed the Anti-Money Laundering/Counter-Terrorist Financing
(AML/CTF) risk assessment methodology and report.

 Reviewed the Group’s Enterprise Risk Assessment and Key Risks.
 Conducted risk reviews on prospective third-party vendors.

* Provided valuable assistance with the annual audit, including the provision of Value-
At-Risk and other financial note-related support.

 Produced reports for the Board as necessary to facilitate risk-based decision mak-
ing.

* Collaborated with industry peers and participated in industry forums to stay abreast
of emerging risks.

Throughout the reporting period, the Risk Department at Mayberry Investments Limit-
ed played a critical role in maintaining a robust risk management framework. Our pro-
active approach to risk identification, assessment, and mitigation aligns with our com-
mitment to safeguarding the interests of our stakeholders. As we look ahead, we remain
dedicated to adapting and enhancing our risk management strategies to address the
evolving risk landscape and support the long-term sustainability of MIL.

@ 2023 Annual Report



COMPLIANCE & CLIENT ONBOARDING

The Compliance Department plays a critical role in overseeing the Group’s compliance
risk, which involves the potential for legal or regulatory penalties, financial setbacks, or
damage to reputation arising from non-compliance with applicable laws, regulations,
codes of conduct, and standards of good practice. Aligned with the strategic goals of
Mayberry Investments Limited, the Compliance Department is dedicated to ensuring
strict adherence to relevant regulations and policies, striving for a comprehensive 100%
compliance rate across the entire enterprise.

The department’s mission is to safeguard the Group, its Board, senior management, staff,
and all stakeholders from Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and regulatory risks. This is
achieved by establishing and implementing adequate controls and policies while foster-
ing a culture of compliance throughout the organization. The core values upheld by the
Unit include integrity, reliability, ethical conduct, high expectations, and accountability.

In the 2023 financial year, the department’s strategic objectives were grouped into
four broad categories: Financial, Customer, Internal Business Processes, and Learning,
Growth, and Development. Key accomplishments during this period include ongoing
enhancements to the internal AML/CFT (Combating the Financing of Terrorism) train-
ing program. This resulted in all new hires receiving training within their first two weeks
and a 95% participation rate from staff and a 100% participation rate from the Board of
Directors in the annual AML/CFT training.

Efficiency improvements were realized in client onboarding, client relationship manage-
ment, and transaction monitoring through the strategic use of technology, resulting in a
positive impact on the Know Your Customer (KYC) compliance rate.

Notably, there were no adverse AML/CFT findings resulting from regulatory examina-
tions conducted throughout the year, reflecting the department’s successful efforts in
maintaining a robust compliance framework.

DATA PROTECTION

The Office of the Data Protection Officer (DPQO) at Mayberry Investments Limited (MIL),
established in 2022, demonstrated notable progress in 2023. Key accomplishments in-
cluded the allocation and monitoring of data protection nonconformities. The office
completed extensive training for managers and the soft implementation of key policies
such as Third-Party Management, Incident Management, and Privacy Notice. The office
successfully assessed two virtual data protection training platforms, having chosen De-
sign Privacy for future use, and conducted foundational data protection training across
various staff groups. Additionally, the office responded effectively to a data breach in
July 2023, managing Data Subject Access Requests (DSARs) related to the incident. The
DPO attended several data protection seminars to keep abreast of current requirements
in the regulatory environment and achieved the ISO 27001:2022 Information Security
Management Systems certification.
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In its role, the DPQO’s Office ensures MIL’s compliance with the Data Protection Act, 2020,
acting as a liaison with the Information Commissioner and a contact point for data sub-
jects. Key initiatives included preparing for registration with the Information Commis-
sioner, implementing compliance frameworks, and fostering a robust privacy culture.
This included the completion of a Record of Processing Assessment (RoPA) for several
key units, aided by legal advisors, to enhance privacy and data protection practices
across the organization.

Only those-who will risk going too far can
possibly findout how far one can go:
- T. S. Eliot

2023 Annual Report
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RESPONSIBILITY

FridRYy
e fTuture
of the

wherever s

Every citizen has the potential to impact Jamaican society as a whole
Whather their contribution is positive or negative, and whether they
have the opportunity to realize their potential for geod will depend
heavily upon their envircnment Understanding the wvalue of
indepandancs as a wihole, tha Mayberry Foundation remains focused
on doing 1t part in creating an eérviranment that encourages the

Kayree Berry- Teape, development of Jamaican citizens no matter their origin of journey In
CEQ, life. Wa are striving towards sesing a Jamaica where all citizens are
Mayberry Foundation equipped to achieve thair independence and individuality on a path to

prosperity. To that end, we continue to champion all ouwr stakeholdars
no matter thair socio-economic, religious ar ethnic backgrounds, this
goes for our valued customers and the general public, Together, we
will conbinue -.'.'Enl":-ill'lq tovwiards onga tll'lg an anvironment conducie to
the progression of the Jamaican people.

Our C5R goals include:

wl Rainforcing our cors valuas

o Roalising ocur mission

of Ensuring that Mayberry Investments Limited is driven by long-lerm
succass while providing benefits for stakeholders; our emplovess,

i customaers, suppliors, shareholders, and our communitios
of Parlorming competitively (and prafitably) while adhering to athical
'\ business practices
‘ f-' o Striving towards sustainakility, emphazizing economic, social,
— j environmental, and ethical goals i our business activities
7/

For more than 35 years, our Corporate Social
Responsibility extends to health, education, youth,
coammunity development and financial literacy.




WINSOME WISHES FOR KIDS -
“THE BEST OF ME” STUDENT-CENTRED
MENTAL HEALTH WORKSHOPS

& Far Ki
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hallenges Tsced b shaddirg light on the
Eg twal are Avsilable Lo evhEancs the lebFming #xparans
childram with spacial learming challamges.

BERRY BROTHERS
GIVE BACK

Mayberry Foundation s prowd o
o tha 5t Goorge's Collage
1ip Fund! Wa




THE SALVATION
ARMY- EASTERN
DIVISION

WWK KIDS READ
ACROSS JAMAICA

Th Fayitaimy Foundaisn s phensod

to have partnered with Winsome
wWishes (WW) s to sponsor “The

Wiliids Raead Aomoss  Jamaica ,

Wook” and the rosulls  wano . “ ] [ I
incredible! Brght smdes wore ledt % "-' e
brighter, and hagey children wera ' " g l‘:r:;-j.::’ n
made ewven happesr i l

Caphrod ragrg e Tearpalfine Fead- WA

Suwtin Wiallama- W Wid

Inipl  Samoma s
I : 0 o SR
il Ami Baerotls Cebufy Hesd Boy
Rifgnkon Coliegs

PROJECT HOSANA -
A F1 W1 REPUBLIC

Haybarry Inweitmenis Limited i3 pleased 19 join the
Advacates Metwork in champloning cilizen pasticipation
far Jamalca's Repubdic, We bre proud T fuppart the "A Fi
Wi Republic®™ campalgn, wikich alms 0 Emipossar
Jamakcans bo ghape the future of our cowniny,

Putwed M e Bayred Berry-Tespe, CEQL Maynerry Fousdation,
Fedalss Hamifof Co-CRaFman, Advofaied Nelwork, Shamar Bren
‘Penaith Anbdddddod & Director, Adwiddbid Nitwiork, Norah Blike, Bobir]
Shephena, Donne Mafli, Charkea Fhyatt and Oaniedle Archey- Direcios
dghvocaber Mobwors, Dr Opal Adgiue Paimer- GEWVCRiK  Abuwss
Comrgnaion By Jaben Downsr Misn of God dgainig Viokenos & Sbase,
Mirriee Grent s GEVACHILD A (oaim, and D5, &fed Pering: Co-Chal
of Harida® Righli




BACK TO SCHOOL
SPONSORSHIP

This \ = fation partmered with the W

MIL FOUNDATION
DONATES $15 MILLION
TO THE SUNSHINE GIRLS

Tha Mayl=arry Foundatien and Supreame Yanl
Fiufdatic hands to hohaur LA femi
Eundane Girls &L thae F
Cup, Thae branre madalist players sach
| e S L i BCCOURTE 1
Inveilmants Lid valued a1 51 Mil
ck lor thelr extraordinasy per

MIL FOUNDATION
DONATES TO FOOD
FOR THE POOR

The Mayberry Foundation's generous donation
of servers and computers 1o Food for The Poor
Jamalta marks a prvotal sfep in supporting our
|8l and-wide progects

Durifey 4 fecend philo op, Sedicaled rofmriiEnah from
Food For The Foor Jlemasica, incheding Manihs
Burenl-Eopr, Harketing and Develiopment Hssages, Craks
Mosg-Solomos, Execuisss Dinecior oo of), Flisnoy
WL 1T Mansge: meddh Tinked, Harkebng &ssEasl,
Hayriw Derry-Tespa, CED Maybamry Fosndstion and aHd
Dimiras ‘Whaaler, Terior Markifisg Officer of Maybary
Irreepimeniy Lid, cames logether o rymbolire caxr phoaesd
oTHTiRNNE b making & lasting  npECt  on o
DTUTASIlEE DRSO kS A, A%
e el




MIL FOUNDATION
SUPPORTS STGC
ATHLETES

MEBEriy Investmenis Limled proudly
supparied the St, George™s Collegs Track and
Fleld Taam e ard il PRI, whare
oulslanding athletes were honaured for thsie
Imcredible  aAchieversonmts  EHhroughowt Bhe
ST Py Thégd madals fEpradent L1177
marcl-Pfought wickories at the Champs games
and alker aporling avenls

MIL DONATES TO
MEDICAL STUDENT

Captsired in thepe hearifelt moments ara
Deacon Byan Peraflo, oar compassicnate
fearm, MIL Foundaiion CED Kayree
Barry-Teape, Desires Whesler, Senior
Markeling Officer, and the inspiring
Donnovan Sparks, s dedicated Medical
Siudent at U'WI. Theaugh this donation,
Donnovan is set to embark on & journey
fillad with opporiunities, making strices f
n his medical studies and schiaving
ramarkable milegbonas

=—=MIL, SVL, STEWARTS
L AND WISYNCO
SUPPORT CAFFE

Mayberry  Investments  Limited teamed wp  with
Suprerme  VeEntures Limited, Stewarl's Adltomalive
Group, and WISYHCO in endorsing Citizens Action For
Fraa find Fadi (CAFFE) and theld ubwavering
cormumilbmient to: &nswremg L integiriby af oidr makional
e

mairman of Campkoen Colege, ChivitoDrer Bermy, Exscuckiss CRaiman of PayTansy isasrmgny L iminsd, Gracs
Jireg CHiechie Oof Shrwarli Automalive Oroups, Peier MOCoener, Harepng

Dareclor of Tru Juss Willlam Hahfcod, CThalma® of Wnpnoo Grod




STGC MONSIGNOR
GLADSTONE AWARD

HATE OFF 1 oaur incréglible Execulive Chalrman,
Chrrilopher  Berry!l He meceived he presbigious
Maagigner Gladstone Wilkén Awardi Tam ki alma
matar, St, Gearge’s Colleges, alangiide ki Eeers Deacan
Oawiald Tal and Herman Athisd, whaé "have all given
il seevice o thi STOGCOBEA snd LR wedir sacialy
im thie elds of Banking, budinesd, and linance,”

MAYBERRY SUPPORT
JCF NETBALL TEAM

l|||!|','I:.rlrr'|.' InveitmeEnls Limited wai & proud
spanior of the Jamaica Constabulary Force's
Palice Sports Council, helping the Metball

team shaot far the skars in fhe United Statei: a
danalisn meant 16 hilp them scare big tifme
an the glabal slage

NURSES ASSOCIATION
OF JAMAICA

Mayberry Foundation CEQ Kayree Berry-Teape
joimed guests at the Murses Assockation of
Jamnpica Christmas Lencheon to spread holiday
cheer and goodwill. The Fowndatbion was thrilled
to support with a $150,000 donation, helping to
make the event a success, Im honour of owr
retired nmurses who've given their all o
healthcars



FINANCIAL
LITERACY

The journey to hnancal independence demands of us all areat
dedication, focus and discipline, among other virtues we hope to
st n ourselves and the l;ir"l'.'.-'ltll‘r' \'_"l"_'lr"l'lr"l'l'_lr"llty'. The team at
Maybarey fedls Dlessed 1o be allowed to use our resources lor the
financial betterment of our stakeholders whether they be
customers or mambers of the general publie

Qur team has proven themselves to be inncvators, -EGI“-."-[-:'EI'I[-'_-.'
rpdelining the landscape of the hnancial world through ouwr
efforts to connect with the Jamaican people through digital
chanmnets.,

Mast r‘n‘.‘nlﬁ'nl_-,r our Investor Forum, now a nyrid event, continues
o engage Investors i person and across e internet, dalivering
valuable insights and hard-hitting facts abouwt the local and
global markets, equipping mvestors with the knowledge needed
to make mlormed decisions

With the considerable growth of our onling platlorm and the
increasing authority of our brand within the financial space, we
are more optimistic than ever that Mayberry is on track to guide
the everyday Jamaican to a state of financial independence and
general wellnass,

Cheers to the future and the blessings to comal
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HIGHLIGHTS
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HARCH

Jamaica Producers
Group
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FEBRLUARY
German Ship Repair

Colorel Martin E Rickman, CEQ, and Charbes Johnston, ::
Ceputy Chalrman German Ship Repalr Jamaica LEd,
jolmed the panel in February amd spoke on the 4
development project which s expected to make o
statement in the private sector.

Maybesry Investments Limited's Virtual Investor Update Sories
lands &5 & hallmark for investor education in Jemaica. Hoited
by induitry experts led by Dan Theoc, SVP of investment
Banking, the defled oMfars waskly rivives of companbai Filed
N the Jamaica Stock Exchange, providing crucial insights inta
thelr performancs. Through this platform, Maybery keeps
invastors informaed aboul market trends, acansmic highlights,
ardd top invesEment appartunitios, The virtual fermal endunes
convenint adceds o digestinde infermation, promoting
investor aducation and fostering a deaper undarstanding of
the financial market. By angaging with axpert panelists,
viewars receive guidance, cladty, and debunking of myths
associaled with imvesting, thus empowering tham o make
informed financial decisions. Ultimataly, Maybarry™s alm s to
positively  tramifiorm  lives  through  lasting  relationships,
gubding imvestors ke paronts in thir journey towands financial
growth and sucooss

Jil N RY
Ministry of Finance

Ow. the Honowrakbie Nigel Clarke, Minister of Fimance and Public
Bervice was an estesmed guest on our Investor Forum where
he shared inzights into how the Jamalcan economy recoversd
against all odds following the COVID-19 pandemic

J

HMARCH )
Jamaica Broiler Group

Group  President snd CEQ of Jamaica Broiler Group,
Christopher Levy, shares bens with SVPE, investment Banking,
Bian Theoo [left], and Executive Chalrman, Christopher Berry
[right]l afer discussing JBG'S performance in both reglonal
and international markets,

7. 0.01 ¥ Lofl WED. MAR. 15, 2023 | 6:00PM (DB YouTube
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JUNE

D Project Star

(Fram ledl i right) Parris Lyow ayee Jr, Vios Presidant of tha
Private Sector Organisatisn of Jamaica (PSSO, alongtide
Christopheér Berry, Execulive Chairman of Mayberry
IPveiirmants Lamited; Keith Duncan, Co-Chaifman of Project
STAR; and Gary Peart, CEQ, Mayberry Investments Limited,
hare bens as Mayberry pledges their support with & contribution
of 40 millicn 1S Progict STAR,

Aleo, Ma. Saffery Brown, Project STAR's esteemed dinecior was
thrilled (S ghare their progress through o dedicated focus an
gconamic  developmentl, they have achieved semaskable
sufficiency through trading and employment opportunitios.
With a strong emphasis on privale secbor-led employment,
Project STAR has conducted nemarous training sessions in
parinership with HEART, ompowering community memibsers
with efsentlal intordew skills and resume-writing exparise.
Thay provide invaluable support with documentation ard mone.

JUNE
Caribbean
Producers
Jamaica

Mlark Hartk Executive Chairman
mned Tam Tilar, Executive
Co-Chaimman has announced that
CPJs salesforce has experienced
a remarkable surge of A0%! CPJ
has be=en diligently working on
introducing new producis and
expanding its product limes, and
one particular product has been
gensrating & significant amouwnt
af buzrr ‘Eireball® Thi=
captivatimg cinmamon whiskey s
poised to make & fiery impact on
the market!




Blue
Power

SGEOUS LIMITED

FORUHgg WED. JULY 5, 2023 | 6:00PM D YouTube

JULY
Blue Power
Group

; HOST
Gary Peart Solomon Sharpe Christopher Berry Dan Theoc
eegwiise Chsmar, Chpiran of faprarng e Evpraifes Chadrman ENT . jmspnimae Baniing
SabFETE YRR R LT HBere e Drnenarerees) mhen (REETL HEpL4eTF P LIIFEen) e e Hgy ey WreElonam Lerdied

Gary Peart, Executive Chairman of Supreme Venture Limited, spoke on the company”s
revenues increasing by $2.4 billion compared to last year. According to Peart, sports betting
played a major role, with the 2023 FIFA Waorld Cup accounting for most bets!



William Makfecd [lelt]), Chairman and Andrew Mahlood
[right]. CEQ, Wiiynes, frame Dan Theos in thizs pholo taken
after an ingightTul discussion during Delober's Foram,

OCTOBER
Dolla Financial

Hanrcy Fearr, CEQ, and Trevens McKenzie, Group TFD,
Ciallas Firancial shans lens with SVE Irvesiment Banbong,
Dad Thaoe, mormants after sharing the latet updates on
the Cormpany.

Richard Pandohie, CEQ, Seprod Group and A% Brydens & Sons
helped us close the wear strong by sharing Ensights Into
Saprod's 2023 performance with our lowal viewers.



MAY BERRY
FOUNDATION

IN THE
COMMUNITY

INVESTING
IN OUR YOUTH

"Community building has been a top priority of
Mayberry Investmeants Limited for decades, Our work
in 2023 is a testament to the fact that we have no
plans of changing course any time soon. We proudly
imvast our faith and resources Into inltlabives that
bettar our children, athletes, and other members of
the wider community; the very pillars of our island
homea,” -

- Gary Peart, CEO

|
|
|
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MAYBERRY
INVESTMENTS
LIMITED'S ALL ISLAND
SWIM MEET

W are thrilled to be back for this, our 25th staging of
the Mayberry All Island Swim Meet. This has grown to
be the largest swim meet across Jamaica and shows
the prominence of the event, and how successful |t
has been In changing lives.

Maybarry has always champloned the development of
sports in Jamaica, and we have always sought ways to
astablish and support sporting alliances across the
Island. This maet |5 & testament to our commitmant to
bettering lives through sports. We can't thank our
sponsors enough: First Rock Group, Iron Rock
Jamalca, Lasco ICool and Pure Country for their
contributions.
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CB UWI 5K AND CARIBBEAN
PASSION KIDS K /

We were proud to partner with The University Of The West Indies in
The CB Group UWI 5K and Caribbean Passion Kids . Qur Senior
Marketing Officer, Desiree Wheeler, is pictured here with Mrs,
Elizabeth Buchanan-Hind, Executive Director, The University OF The
Whest Indies

3

SUPERSTARS OF PORT
ANTONIO MARLIN
TOURNAMENT (SOPA)

Team Safe Passage made a splash with
their amazing performance! A huge
shoutout to all cur fin-tastic sponsors,
boat teams, and anglers who
contributed to making this event a ‘real’
success! Big congratulations to tha
2023 Superstars Champions - Brac
Rebel from the Cayman Islands!

&) MAavBERRY
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INTERNATIONAL
MUSIC CONFERENCE

Chief Executive Officer, Gary Peart hosted an
informative discussion an "Money
Management, Investment and Insurance™ at
the Island Music Conference.

Panelists Included Jermaine Deans, Hugh
Reid, Orville Burrell (Shaggy) IMC Chairman

_:_-:l?'i:: .
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TRU-JUICE 5K

COur incredible team at the Truluice 5k, on June
04, 2023, At Mayberry Investments Ltd, we
always participate to show our dedication to
improwving society’'s well-being,

As our esteemed Gary Peart, Chief Executive
Officer of Mayberry Inwvestments Ltd.,
expressed, "Partnering with Tru=-Juice and
Trade Winds Citrus, we zestfully support
healthcare in Jamaica, revitalizing the Linstead
Hospital and nurturing our community’s
wall-baing. It's a partnership that invigorates
us, allowing us te sgueeze out a positive
impact one stride at a tima.”

Together, let's blend financial support with the
juice of determination, stirring a recipe for
succass and sweet rewards that banafit us all.
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BUDDING FARMER'S
SUMMER GROW CAMP

We were thrilled to be part of the Budding Farmers Grow Club's
Summer Grow Camp at Mayberry Investments Limited! Interacting
with the children, animals, and plants was an absolute blast!

A5 an organization committed to supporting education and
caommunity initiatives, this event brought us immense joy.
Murturing a love for agriculture and sustainable practices among
children remains a top priority for Mayberry Investments Limited!

'
Py,

Our team had a blast stimulating the young minds -of he fulure st thea

Burmmdr Grow Camp in partnership walh the Minetiry of Agriculture

LR Hensha Chambers, Inwestiment Advidor, Bran Munme, Investment
Avieor and Desires ‘Wiheeler, Semntor Marketing Oficer

NATIONAL SENIOR
CHAMPIONSHIPS AND
EXPO - JABBFA

The 2023 Mayberry Jabbfa Mational Senior
Champicnships held at the AC Hotel was a
night of sheer dedication and unwavering
passion from athletes who left it all on the
stage. We can't forget the incredible
performances of our athletes; each moment
was a testament to the power of perseverance
and hard work.
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While prize-winning horses blazed on the track, guests at

the 2023 Mouttet Mile brought the heat to the runway with
ritzy, royal garb fit for Kings and Queens! We eagerly
anticipate what next year has to offer, and we will support
this special occasion where our exceptionalism illuminates
every stride.

O

We were thrilled to announce our partnership
with the Jamaica Olympic Association for the
2023 Pan-American Gymnastics Tournament!
Mayberry is keen on supporting youth and
sports development, as we alm to nurture the
skills and discipline of our young, dynamic
athletes.

Photographed here along with the Mayberry Team are Nicole Grant, President,
Jamaica Amateur Gymnastics Association, Beriah Boothe, Sponsorship and
Logistics, and the Pan-American Youth Tournament Organising Committee.
Alongside Junior Roberts, Investment Advisor, Desiree Wheeler, Senior Marketing
Officer, Stephanie Harrison, VP-Marketing and Rayon Wright Senior Investment
Advisor.

At Mayberry, we're not just flipping coins; we're flipping the script! Turn*nn our
investments into impactful cartwheels and handstands!
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SW ISAAC TRACK MEET

Congratulations to all the athletes who competed at
the SW Isaac-Henry Track Meet! We are always in awe
of the excellence displayed by the youngsters who
participate In these meets! "

5. W. I5AAC-HENRY

Track amnd Fleld Invitaglenal
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ﬂ Address
11/2 Oxford Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica

a Phone
E75, 929, 1908-9

® Email

sales@mayberryinv.cam

@ instagram
Mayberrylnv.la

ﬂ- Facebook
Mayberrylnvia

Q) vinkedin
Mayberrylnvestmentsl imited




MILESTONES FOR 2023
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MIL Contributes $10 Million to Project STAR

(from left to right) Parris Lyew Ayee Jr.,, Vice President of the Private Sector

Organisation of Jamaica (PSQOJ), stands alongside Christopher Berry, Executive

Chairman of Mayberry Investments Limited; Keith Duncan, Co-Chairman of Proj-

ect STAR; and Gary Peart, CEO of Mayberry Investments Limited, during this mo-
mentous signing ceremony.

Project STAR (Social Transformation and Renewal), a joint endeavour by the Pri-

vate Sector Organisation of Jamaica (PSOJ) and the Jamaica Constabulary Force

(JCF), aims to bring about change. Focusing on underserved Jamaican regions,
Star aims for a comprehensive shift in both social and economic dimensions.

In our endeavours, Mayberry finds inspiration in a heartfelt concern for the well-be-
ing of youth, with a special focus on the challenges faced by young women. This
concern is rooted in the observation of eroding moral values coupled with un-
favourable environmental conditions. With a deep sense of purpose, the Foun-
dation embarked on a mission to instigate change, valuing every opportunity to
make a positive impact, even if it meant touching the life of just one individual.

Structured sessions and curated programmes have addressed these challenges

successfully. Shared aspiration for positive change fuels our unwavering commit-

ment to collaborate with vital stakeholders: children, parents, and various com-
munity groups.
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MIL’s Bond Listing Ceremony

“The Mayberry team is always working to find new ways to help investors grow

their money. We are immensely appreciative of the support received on this

Bond IPO, and it is our priority to ensure that your investment remains safe and
secure and that it maximizes its growth potential”

- Gary Peart- CEO of Mayberry Investments Limited.

Cheers to another transaction milestone achieved successfully! The Mayberry

Bond is officially listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. By listing on the Jamai-

ca Stock Exchange, investors (accredited as well as non accredited) can buy
and increase their holdings or sell and reap their investment!

Thanks again to our investors and new Mayberry clients, who have joined the
family. To our dedicated and hardworking team at Mayberry, we couldn’t have
done this without you!
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Independent auditor’s report

To tha Members of Mayberry Investments Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements

Our opinion

In our opindon, the consolidatled lnancial stalemeants and the stand-alone financial statemants give a true
and fair vie'w of the consolidated financial position of Maybemy Investments Limited (the Company) and its
subsidiaries (logether ‘the Group’) and the stand-alone inancial position of the Company as at

31 December 2023, and of their consolidaled and stand-alone linancial performance and their
consolidated and stand-alone cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act.

What we have audited
The Group's consolidated and stand-alone financial sialements comprise:

the consolidated statermnent of financial position as al 31 December 2023;

the consolidaled statlement of proll or loss for the year then ended:

the consolidated statement of comprehensive ncome for the yoar then endod;
the consolidaled staloment of changes in oquity for the yoar then endod;

tho consolidated statement of cash fows for the year then endod;

the company statemant of linancial position as al 31 December 2023;

the company slatement of profit or ioss for the yoar then ended;

the company siatement of comprehensive income for the year then ended:
the company siatement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the company statement of cash Mows for the year then endad. and

= the noles o the financial statements, comprising material accountng policy information and other

PricewaterhouwseCoopers, Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street. Box 772, Kingston, Jamakca
T: (876) g2z 6230, F: B76) g2 TEHI, wis'w, pwe.com jm
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audil in accordance with Internatonal Standards on Audiing (15488 ). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Audifor's responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated and stand-alone financial stalements section of ouwr reporl

Wae believe that the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropriate o provide a basis fior
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International independence Standards) issued by the Intemational Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements

Management! is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and stand-alone Anancial statements
that give a true and [air view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and with the requirements of
the Jamaican Companies Act, and for such inlermal confrol a5 managemen] delermines is necessary lo
enabla the preparabon of consolidated and sland-alona financial stalements thal areé frea from malésial
misstalement, whether due o fraud or ermor.

In preparing the consolidated and stand-alons financial stalements, managemant is responsible for
assessing the Group's abdity to continue as a going concemn, disciosing, as applicable, matters relaled o
going concern and using the going concerm basks of accounting unless management either inlends o
liquidale the Group or io coase operalions. of has no realistic allernative but 1o do s0.

Those charged with governance ane responsible for overseeng the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone
financial statements

Qwr cbjectives are to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidaled and stand-akone
financial stalements as a whole are free from material misstalement, whether due to fraud or error, and o
Issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guaraniee that an audt conducted in accordance with ISAs will abvays delect a material
misstalement whaen il exists. Misstaloments can arfise rom fraud or error and ane considered material i,
individually or in the aggregate. they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated and stand-alone financial sialemoents.

2023 Annual Report @
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As parl of an audll in accordance with 15As, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepbcism throughout the audil. We also:

Idontify and assess the risks of materal misstatement of the consolidated and stand-alone Gnancial
statomants, whother duo 1o fraud or ermor, design and porform audit procedures responsie 1o those
risks, and oblain audil evidence that is sufficient and appropriate Io provide a basis for OUr OpIMDN.

hmﬂmmmlmlthmmmrmﬂuﬁMMmhqmmh{wm

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 1o the awdit in order to design audil procedures
that are approgriale in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on e
oeffeclivensass of the Group's internal control,

Evaluale the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
ostimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriatenass of managemeont's use of the going concern basi of accounting and.
based on the audit evidence oblained, whother a material uncertainly exists related o events or
conditons that may casl significant doubl on the Group's ability Io continue as a going concarm. If we
conchude that a material uncertainty exists, we are requined to draw attention in our auditor's report to
the related disclosures in the consolidaled and stand-alone financial stalements or, if such disclosures
ane inadequale, o modify our opinkon. Our conclusions are based on the audil evidence oblained up
to the date of our auditor's reporl. However, fulure events or condiions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concerm.

Evaluale the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and stand-alone fnancial
statoments, including the disclosures. and whother the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements represent the underlying ransactions and events in a manner thal achieves fair

preseniabon.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supenvision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significan! deficiencies in internal
control thal we identify during our audit,
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have oblained all the information and

axplanations which, to the besl of our knowledge and belel, were necessary for the purposes of
oL audit,

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kepl, so lar as appears from our examination of
those records, and the accompanying consolidated and stand-alone lnancial stalomenis ane in agresment
therewith and give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Acl in the mannor 5o required.

Q.‘[Er nu.:i{-a tu'wb{ﬁ'lja.._}

Charterad Accountants
Kingston, Jamaica
31 May 2024
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Fage 1
Mayberry Investments Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicaled)
2023 2022
Note $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Cash rescurces 13 3,604 504 2.732.187
investmeont securies 14 3,662 388 9,548,026
Investment in associalos 21 - 18.011.477
Investment in joint ventures 22 - 1.964.454
Roversa repurchase agroemonts 15 3615228 5,303,950
Promissory noles 16 6.455.155 4 255 247
Loans and other receivables 17 10,133 864 6.405,384
Due from related companies M B.050,147 =
Investmenl properties 19 2113472 2027738
Property, plant and equipment 18 168,763 174,239
Right of use assels 20{a) 53,118 70,074
Taxation recoverable 194 434 198,601
Daferred lax assal 27 1.148 464 387,764
Iniangible assel 23 1,242 262 a78,201
Total Assets 40,441,800 52 057,342
LIABILITIES
Bank overdrall 13 094,193 50,337
Securies sold under repurchase agreaments 7,006,504 4 BED.2T4
Loans F. .1 14,251 269 9,407 BG8
Accounts payable 28 11,535,534 11,045,972
Lease labdites 20(b) 89.787 B1.645
Total Liabilities 33,857 287 25 457,006
EQUITY
Share capital 29 1.582 382 1,582,382
Fair value reserves 30 A27.663 558 85T
Translation resere - 85.800
Other resorves 31 77.929 77.939
Retained earmings az 4.596.529 14,490,088
Equity Attributable to Sharcholders of the Parent 6.584 513 16,795,106
Mon-Controliing Interes! 36 - 9.805.140
Total Equity 6,584 513 26,600,246
Total Equity and Liabilities 40,441,800 52.057.342

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on May 30, 2024 and signed on its bahalf by:

PRI e ey

(B>
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 2

Het Interest Income and Other Revenues
Irfenesl NCome
Interest axpense
Met inferes] income
Consulting fees and commissions
Dividend income
Net lrading gains
Met unrealsed gaing on financial assets measured al Tair value

through profit or loss
MNet unrealised (losses)/gains on investment in associales

measured al fair value through profit or loss
Met foreign exchange gains
Net unrealised gains/(losses) on investment properties
Other income

Operating Exponses
Salaries, stalutory contributions and other staff costs
Provision for credit losses
DOther operaling axpenses

Operating (loss)/profit

Share of profit of joint venture
[Loss)/Profit bofore taxation
Taxalion credil

Mot (Loss)/Profit for the Year

Attributable to:

Stockholders of the parent
Mon-controling inferest

EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT - BASIC AND DILUTED

Mot

=] Bk bk k

8
1411617

10
1

12{a)

2023 2022
§'000 5000
1,587 993 1,118,845
{1,914 208) (808 402}
(326.215) 310,443
521,203 508 857
611,036 567,826
111,097 116,082
170,948 90,097
(2,235 227) 5232017
207.093 87,271
85734 (22,065)
10,577 60,601
(B43,758) 6.061.829
B0B,. 338 TE1.476
(589,669) 128,708
45,130 53,669
1,209,945 1,302,802
2,003,744 2,248,655
{2,847 500) 4,715,174
B33.575 21,440
{2,013.925) 4,736,614
593632 1016
(1.420,293) 4 T37.630
(207.887) 2,218,806
(1.212,356) 2.518.824
(1.420.283) 4,737,630
$ 5
{0.17) 1.85
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Consoclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2023

(expressad in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 3

Met [Loss)/Profit for the Year
Other Comprehensive Income Met of Taxation:
tems that will nat be reclassified o profl or loss

MNet urrealksed gains/{losses) on linancial instruments — fair value
through other comprehensive income

item that may be reclassified fo profit or loss

Foreign currency ranstation adustments
Other comprehenshe income, net of taxes

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year

Total Comprehensive Income Altributable to:

Stockholders of the parent
Mon—controfling intanes!

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME PER STOCK UMNIT - BASIC AND DILUTED

@ 2023 Annual Report
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2023 2022
$'000 $'000
{1,420,293) 4,737 630
36,518 (131,465)
43,290 (33.736)
79.808 (165.201)
(1.340485) _ 4.572.420
(153,16T) 2154126
{1,187 318} 2418 303
(1,340 485) 4 572429
$ $
(0.13) 1.79
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 5

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
{Loss)Profit before taxation
Adusiments for
items not affecting cash:
Adjustments o reconcie nel profil 1o nel cash provided by 23
operating activites.
inlares] recensesd
Interes! paid
Taxation paid
Cash used in operating activites

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Nel purchase of inlangible assel
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investment propertios
Dividends received from joint venlure

Cash relieved on disposal of subsidiaries 4
Cash (used in)provided by investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Loans received
Loans repaid
Froceeds from pariial disposal of subsidiary
Dividend payment
Leaso payment 20
Cash provided by financing activities
Net i{Decrease)increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Exchange gaini{loss) on foreign cash balances
Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 12

@ 2023 Annual Report

2073 2022
$'000 $'000
(2013.925) 4.736.614
(2.456.603) (6.432.228)
1465931 1,151,634
(1.823.828) (859, 192)
- (70,146)
(4828515) (1.473.318)
(269,529)  (304,251)
(17.231) (65,762)

. 92,310

. 670,239
(223,030) -
(508, 780) J92. 538
783446 4,150,677
(3.228.195) (2.708.805)
- 1,047.436
(402033)  (372,056)
(13.858) (19.466)
4239360 _2.106.786
(1,098.945) 1,026,003
23,758 (23.970)

4 682618 3,680 584
3607431 4682618
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Page 6
Mayberry Investments Limited
Company Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
2023 2022
MNote $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Cash resourcos 13 3,604 504 2417235
Investmeni securitios 14 3.662.388 3,168,325
Reversa repurchase agreaments 15 3615228 5,303,950
Promissory noltes 16 6,455,155 5,255 24T
Due from related companies 34 8,050,147 1,654 B63
Loans and other receivables 17 10,133,864 6,201,802
Property, plant and equipment 18 168,763 174 230
Investment properties 19 2113472 2027738
Right of use assels 20{a) 53,118 T0.074
invesiments in subsidianes 24 = 1.092.779
intangibles 33 1.242 262 a78 .20
Taxation recoverable 194, 434 194,434
Deferred tax asset 27 1,148 464 387 TG4
Total Assets 40,441,800 28.016.651
LIABILITIES
Bank overdrafl 13 904,193 50337
Securites sold under repurchase agreements 7.006 504 4 B89 274
Loans 26 14,251,269 7.209.240
Accounls payable 28 11.535.534 10,759,530
Lease labiibes 20(b) 60,787 83,645
Total Liabilitles 23,857 287 22872 026
EQUITY
Share capital 29 1.582.382 1.582 282
Fair value reserves a0 327,663 B 423
Other reserves 3 77.939 77.939
Relained earmings a2 4,596,529 4,035 881
Total Equity 6.584.513 6,044 625
Total Equity and Liabilities 40441800 20,018 651
Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on May 30, 2024 and signed on its behalf by:
=== Dusudignacl iry Dusuiignad by
B> ==
TP o, T RET S 2 - - i
Chrislophar Berry Chairman Gary Peart Chiel Executive Officer / Director
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Page T
Mayberry Investments Limited
Company Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2023 2022
Noto $'000 $°000
Net interest income and Other Revonues
Interes! income 2.062.748 1,192,332
Interes! expense {1.740.279) {645.324)
Met merest income 4 322469 547,008
Consulting fees and commissions 5 521,203 BOB 65T
Dividend incomea i B48. 142 55,063
Net trading gains T 96,945 1.005.621
Met unrealised gains/{losses) on nvestment revalualion 13.830 (24, 562)
Net foreign exchange gains 202.234 110,120
Unrealised gains/(losses) on investment properties B5.734 (22.,085)
Other income 63,736 631,747
2,154,293 2.241.,589
Operating Expenses
Salaries. stalutory contributions and other staff costs 8 800,581 753,770
Provision for credit losses (59,669) 128.708
Depreciation and amortisation 45,130 52101
Other operating expenses 1,047,592 891,400
9 1.833.634 1.825.979
Profit before Taxation 320,659 417,610
Taxation credil 593,632 1.016
Net Profit for the Year 914,291 418,626

@ 2023 Annual Report




Page B
Mayberry Investments Limited
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2023 2022
5000 $'000
Mot Profit for the Year 914,201 418,625
Other Comprehensive Income Net of Taxation:
Item that will not be reclassified o profit or loss
MNel unreaksed (losses )'gains on inancial instrumants — lair
value through other comprehensive income {14,058) 71,281
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 800,232 489,907

2023 Annual Report @
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Company Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

Fage 10

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Prolfit before taxation
Adjustments for.
Hems not affecting cash:
Adjustments lo reconcie nel profil lo nel cash provided by
operating activities
Tax paid
Intarest recahed
Interest paid
Cash used in operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activitios
Additions 1o intangible assels
Additions lo property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of invesiment properties
Proceeds from partial dsposal of subsidiary
Cash (used in)provided by investing activibes
Cash Flows from Financing Activitios
Dividend payment
Leasa principal payment
Loans mcaned
Loans repaid
Cash provided by linancing activilies
Naot (Decrease)increaso in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Exchange gan/{ioss) on foreign cash balancos
Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

18

24

=R

13

2023 2022
$'000 $'000
320,659 417,610
(7576,128)  (1.754,833)
E {69.697)
1940,843  1,147.807
(1.655.115)  (586,602)
(6.969.742) _ (845.715)
(260,529)  (304.251)
(17.231) (65,762)
- 92.310
- 1047438
(286,760) 769.733
(360,344)  (336.322)
{13.858) (19,466)
7883446  4,159676
(1,028,195)  (2.708.805)
B.AB1.040 1,005.083
(775.453) 1,019,101
15,218 {18,117)
4367666 3366682
3607431 4,367,668
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Page 11
Mayberry Investments Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless oltherwise indicated)

1. ldentification and Principal Activities

(a) Mayberry Investments Limiled ("the Company”™) is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in
Jamaica. The registered office of the Company & localed ot 1 % Oodord Road, Kingston 5. The Company s a
liconsoed securities dealer and i a member of the Jamaica Slock Exchange. The Company has primary dealer
status from the Bank of Jamaica.

The principal activities of the Company comprise dealing in securites, portiolic managemenl, invesiment
advisory services, operating a foreign exchange cambed, managing funds on behall of clients and administrative

and irvestment management services lor ponskon plans.

The principal acthvities of ils subsidiares, assocaled compames and joind venture operation comprise the
irvesting and trading of Jamaican equity securilies, the investing in unquoled secunties, Money Services,
general insurance business, the distribution of food and beverages and gaming and lotlery operations.

The Company fis subsidianes, associates and joint veniune operations are colectively refermed to as “the Group”™.

(b} Hungamnhnnﬂu-muwhunyﬁanpuﬂmwns

Al an extraordinary General Meeting heid on July 26, 2023, the stockholders of Mayberry Invesiments Limited
[ﬂ]WMmrﬂﬁ:ulhw&mpdﬂmwmaﬁdmdel
The Scheme of Arangement was then approved by the Supreme Court of Jamaica in Seplember 2023 in
accordance with the Jamaica Companies Acl. In December 2023, the new holding company, mmﬁmp
Limited (MGL ) was listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange and al the same time MIL was delisted. The existing
shareholders of MIL exchanged their shares for MGL shares of equal value. Al December 31, 2023, MIL also
transfemred ownership of all its subsidiaries directly to MGL.

The consideralion for the ransfer of ownership of the subsidiares from MIL 1o MGL was eflected by interest
bearing promissory noles.
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies appled in the preparation of these financial stalements are sel oul below. These
policies have been consistently appled for all the years presented unless otherwise staled.

{a) Basis of preparation

These financial slatements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) and IFRS Inferpretations Commitlee (IFRS IC) interpretations
applicable to companies reporling under IFRS Accounting Standards. The linancial stalements have been
propared under the historical cost comvention, as modified by the revaluation of invesiment securibes at fair
value through other comprehensive incoma ("FVYTOCT), imvesiments in associates al fair valuo through profit
of loss "FVTPLT), imvestment properties and cerain financial assets al FVTPL. The Group has determined
that one of its subsidiaries i a similar entity to an imvestment entity as defined in IFRS 10 and thal il continues
to meet this definition (see nolte 2 (c)). These financial statements are also prepared in accordance with

requirements of the Jamaican Companies Acl.

The financial stalements comprisa the statement of profit and loss and statement of comprehensive income
shown as two slatements, the stalemenl of financial position, the siatement of changes in equity, the
stalement of cash Nows and the nolios,
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Motes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

2. Matorial Accounting Policies (Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation [continued)

The preparation of financial stalements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires managemant
o make estimales and assumptions thal affect the reporied amounts of assels and liabiliies, conbingant
assels and conlingent liabilties al the end of the reporting period and the total comprehenshe inoomes during

the reporling period. The Group makes estmales and assumplions concerming the fulure. The resulting
accounting estimates will seldom aqual the relaled actual results. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis and any adjustmanis thal may be necessary would be reflacted in the year
in which actual resulls are known. The areas involving more judgement and complaxity or aneas whene
assumplions or eslimales are significant to the financial stalements are disclosed in note 3.

Mow, rovised and amended standards and interpretations that becamo effective during the yoear

Cerlain new standards, inlerprelations and amendments o existing standands have been published that
bacame effective during the current financial year.

# MNarmow scops amandments o IAS 1, Practice stalement 2 and [AS B
«  Amendmeni lo lAS 12 = Daferred fax relaled lo assels and Nabiities arizing from a single fransacton
«  Amendmeni lo IAS 12 - Inférnabional tax reform

The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, inlerpretations and amendments and has
concluded that they did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are nol expecied
to significantly affect the current or fulure periods.

Hew, revised and amoended standards and interpretations not yet effective and not early adopted by
the Company

Cerlain amendments o accounting standands have been published thal are nol mandalory for
31 December 2023 reporting periods and have nol been early adopled by the group.

Amendment 1o IFRS 16 - Leasas on sale and laaseback
Amendment fo IAS T - Non-curreni liabiities with covenants
Amendmeni fo IAS T and IFRS 7 - Supplier finance
Amendments fo IAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability

These amendments are nol expecied to have a material impact on the enltity in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future ransactions.
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Mayberry Investments Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies [Continued)
(b) Basis of consolidation

A subsiciary is an enlity which is confrolled by the Group. Conltrol exists when the Group has the power o
govem the finandal and operating policies of an entity lo obtain benefits from s activiies. In assassing conlrol,
potential voting rights thal presently are exercisable are considered. The consolidated financial stalements
comprise thosae of the Company and s NIL% (2022- 53.8% ) owned subsidiary, Mayberry Jamaican Equities
Limited (MJE] and its NIL% (2022 - 100%) owned subsidiary, Widebase Lid., presenied as a single economic
entity. During the year, MIL transfemed ownership of all iis subsidianes direclly o Mayberry Group Limited as
part of the Groups reorganisation. Inbra-group transactions, balances and urrealired gains and lbsses are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated fnancal statements. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have boen
changed where necessary 1o ensure consistency with the policies adopled by the Group

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the dale on which control is ransfermed o the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date thal control ceases.

On consolidation, transactions with non-controlling interests that do not resull in loss of control ane accounted
for as equity mnsactions - that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carmying value of net
assats of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or loasos on disposals o non-controlling interesis are
akso recorded in equity. Al the company level, the gains of losses are recorded in the profit or loss accounl.

VWhen the Group ceases o have control any retained interes! in the entity is re-measured o iis fair value al
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
is the initial camying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the relained interes! as an
essociale, joinl venlure or financial assel. In addiion, any amounis previously recognised in ofher
comprehensive income in respect of thal entity are accounted for as if the Group had direclly disposed of the
related assols or Labilities. This may maan thal amounis previously recognised in other comprebonsio
income are reclassified to profil o loss. The Company's subsikdiares as December 31, 2022, were as follows:

Proportion of

Proportion of ordinary shares

Country of ordinary shares held by non-

incorporation held by the controlling

and place of parent company intorosts

Entity business Principal Activities % e
Maybarry Jamaican Investing in Jamaican

Equities Limited St Lucia oquities 50.42 49.58
Investing in unquoted

Widebase Limited St Lucia equities 100 -
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressad in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(€} Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures

Associales are all entities over which the Group has significant influence bl nol conlrol, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voling rights. Jaint ventures are enlities over
which the Group has joint conlrol and has rights 1o the nel assels of the invesimenlL The Group has
determined that its subsidiary Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited (MJE) business model and operations
are similar 1o that of an “investiment enlity” as defined by IFRS 10.

An entity thal meets the IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements definition ol an invesiment entity is
required lo measure s investments al FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. This is
because using lair value resulls in more relevant information than, for example, consolidation for subsidiaries
of the use of the equity method for inleresls in associales or joind venlures,

An imvestment enlity is an enlity that oblains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing
tham with nvesiment managemen! servicos, commils (o its imvestors thal s business purposa s to inves!
funds solaly for returns from capital apprecialion, imsestment income, of both, and measures and evaluatos
the performance of substantially all of its imvestments on a fair value basis. MJE has met and continues lo
meel the substantive definilion of an investment entity and is therelore considered similar ko this type of
enlity, as #is stralegic objective of investing in Jamaican equities and providing nvestmenl management
services 1o inveslors for the purpose of generaling returns in the form of long lerm capital appreciation,
remains unchanged.,

As MJE is deemed o have a similar business model o an imvestiment enlity as defined by IFRS 10, the
Group has elected the exemption from applying the equity method in LAS 2B for s invesiments in associales
and accounts for its investments in associates al FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Insiruments.

The Group’s investmenl in joinl venlures is accounted for using the equity method of accounling and are
initially recognised at cosl. Undor the equily method, the invesimenl is initially recognised at cost, and the
carmying amount s increased or decreased lo recognise the invesiee’s share of profil or loss and olhor
comprehensive income after the date of acquisition. IAS 28 requires investmenl in joint ventures 1o include
goodwill identied on acquisibon, nel of any actumulated impairment loss whero present.

if the cwnership interest in a joinl venture is reduced but significant influence or joint control ks retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
io profil of loss where appropriate.
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Mayberry Investments Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
{c) Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures (continued)

The Group's share of its joint venture’s post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the statement of profit
of loss, and its share ol post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income are recognised in other
amount of the investmenl. When the Group's share of loss in a joinl veniure equal or excesds its inlerest in
the joint venture, including amy other unsecured receivables, the Group does nol recognise further losses,
unless il has incurred obligations or made payments on behall of the joind veniure,

The Group determines al sach reporting date whether there i any objective evidence thal invesiments in
join ventures are impaired. If this is the case, the Group recognises an impairment charge in the stalement
of profit or loss for the difference bebtween the recoverable amount of the joint venture and i£'s camying value.
The Company's associates and joinl venlture operations are as follows:

The Company’s
Proportion of
Mature of ordinary
Accounting Relationship  shares held
Namea of Entity Year-amnd Mature of Business 2023 H{:!I
“Cherry Hills Development Limited  31December  Real Estate Development  Joint Venture = =l
Lasco Financal Sendces Lid 31 March Money Sarvices Associabe - 21
Canbbean Producers | Jamasca) 30 Juna Food trading ASSOCIADS
Lirutesd - 20
Iron Rock Insurance Limited 3 Decomber  Ganaral msurancs ASSCCIab = 18
Suphisma Ventunss Limited M December  Befling. gaming &nd ASSOCIAbE
lottery . 18
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Mayberry Investments Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

ems included in the fnancial statements of sach of the Group’s enlies ame measumed using the cumency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operales (“the funclional currency”). The consolidaled
financial stalements are presenied in Jamaican dollars, which is the Company's funciional and presentaBon
currency, unless olhanvise stabed

Transaction and balances

Foreign cumency Wansactions are accounted for al the exchange rales poevailing al the dales of the
transactions. Al the date of the stalement of financial position, monetary assets and Eabiities denominaled in
foreign currencies ane ranslated using the closing exchange rale at the dale.

Exchange differences resulting from the seftlement of ransactions at rates different from those al the dates of
the ransachions, and unrealized Toneign exchange differences on unseifled foreign cumency monelary assels
and labdities are recognized in the stalement of profit or loss and other comprehansive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary linancial assels are a component of the change in ther Tair vale.
Depending on the dassification of a non-monetary fnancial assel, exchange differences are either
recognized n the stalement of profit or loss (appiicable for inancial assels al (air value through prolft or loss),
of within other comprehensive income § non-monetary financial assets ane equity instruments which are

The results and inancial position of foreign operabions thal have a funchional curmency different from the
presentation curmency are translaled into the presentation currency as follows:

= Assets and liabdities for each stalement of financial position presented are transiated at the closing
rate ai the date of that balance shael.

& |ncome and expanses for each siatement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive income
are ransiated al average exchange rales (unless this 5 nol a reasonable approximabion of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on lransaction dales, in which case income and axpenses
are translated al the dates of the ransactions) and;

+ Al resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.

{e) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Assets that have an indefinile useful ife are nol subject to amortisation and are tested annualy for impaimment.
Assets thal are subject lo amorlisation are reviewed for imparment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate thal the carmying amount may nol be recoverabls. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the assel’s cammying amouni exceeds ils recoverable amount The recoverable
amount is the higher of an assel's fair value less costs to seil and value in use.

il Intangible assets

Computer software

Acquired computer software icenses and proprietary developed systems are capitalised on the basis of costs
incurred lo acquire and bring to use the specilic software. These costs ane amorlised over the estimated usolul
life of the software, which ranges from 5 o 10 years.
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Mayberry Investments Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Matorial Accounting Policies (Continuaed)
igl Revenus recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration recetved or receivable for services provided in the
ordinary course of the Group's business and is recognised 1o the extent that it is probable thal the economic
benafils will fiow o the Group and the revenue can be rellably measured, regardless of whan the payment
is made. Revenus i measured taking into account contractually defined terms of paymant.

Consulting fess and commission income:

Consulting fees and commission income are recognized on an accrual basis when the performance obligations
are salished, thal is over time o at a point in ime. YWhane a customer conltracl conlains milliphs

oblgations, the transaction prce s allocated o each disinct performance obligation based on the relative
stand-alone selling prices of the goods or senvices being provided o the cusiomer,

Consulting fees and commission ansing from negoliating or participating in the negotiation of a ransaction for
a third party are recognized on complelion of the underdying transaction, Portlolio and olher management
advisory and senvice lees are recognized based on the apphcable service confracts. Assel managemenl lees
retated 1o investment funds are recognized over the peniod the sendce is provided. Performance Enked lees or
fee components are recognized when the performance crileria arg fulfiled,

The Group recognizes contract labiities in respect of contracts with customers for consikderation received
belore the Group ransfers the service 1o the cusiomer.
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Mayberry Investments Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(h) Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements o repurchase (repurchase agreements), and securibes purchased under
agreements 1o resed (reverse repurchase agreements). are trealed as collateralzed financing ransactions.
The difference between the sale/purchase and repurchase/resale price is troated as inberest and accrued over

the lives of the agreements using the effective yield method.
(i) Loansand receivables and provisions for credit losses

The Group recognizes loss allowances for expecied credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instrumants:
loans and other receiables promissory noles, debl instruments carmed al amortsed cosl, and debl
instruments carried al FVTOCL Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are inftially
recorded al cosl, which is the cash given 1o originate the kban including any transaction costs, and subsequenily
measured at amortized cos! using the effective interest rate method.

The Group applies the “three stage model under IFRS 9 in measuring the ECL on loans and receivables,
and makes estimations aboul likelihood of defaulls occurring, associaled loss ralios, changes in market
conditions, and expecied future cash fiows. This is measured using the Probability of Delault (PD), Exposure
al Defaults (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD) for a portiolio of assels.

» Probability of Dafaull - This: reprosents the Ikelihood of a bormower defaulting on its financial obligaton
aither over the naxt 12 months [12-month PD). or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetme PD) of the obligation.

» Exposure al Defaull - This represents the expecied balance at defaull, taking into account the repayment
of principal and interest from the stalement of financial position date 1o the defaull event logether with any
axpected drawdowns of committied faclithes.

#» Loss Given Delaull = The LGD represents expecied losses on the EAD given the avent of defaull, laking
inlo account the mitgating effect of collateral value at the ime it is expected 1o be reaksad and also the
time value of money.

The ‘three stage” model is used lo calegorise financial assets according to credit quality as follows:

lﬁm1—mrmhuﬁtnnﬂdﬂhﬂuﬂmﬂﬁﬂmmbﬂu1mmdmrﬁbmm
credit risk. These assets generally abide by the contractual credil terms. The ECL is measured using a
12-month PD, which represents the probabiity thal the financial assel will defaull within the next
12 months. Stage 2 - financial assets with a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition,
but are not credit impaired. The ECL is measured using a lifetime PD.

= Slage 3 - credil impaired financial assets. The ECL is measured using a ifetime PD,

Transier betwoen stages

Financial assets can be ransferred between the different calegories depending on their relalive ncrease in
credil risk since initial recognilion. Financial instruments are ransferred oul of stage 2 if their credit risk B no
longer considerad 1o be significantly increased since nitial recognition. Financial instruments are ransfemed
oul of stage 3 when they no longer exhibil any evidence of credl impairment. This assessment is done on a
caso-by-case basks.
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2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(i) Loans and receivables and provisions for credit losses (continued)
The Group considers forward-looking information in determining the PDs of financial assets.
Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR)

The assessment of SICR is performed for individual loans, taking into consideration the seclor grouping of
the individual exposures, and incorporates forward-looking information. It also considers qualitative crileria
specilic lo the borrower's risk rating. early signs of cash fMowliquidity problems and expecied significant
adverse change in the financial condition of the borrower. However, this assessment will differ for different
types of lending arrangements.

Backslop

irrespective of the above qualitative assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recogniion when conlractual payments are more than 30 days pas!
due. The Group has monitoring procedures in place lo assess whether the criteria used o identify SICR
continue to be appropriate.

The ECL is delermined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD, which are multiplied together and discounted
back lo the reparting date. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interesl rale
o an approximation thereol.

A loan is classified as impaired when, in management’s opinion there has been deterioration in credil quality
o the extent that there B no longer reasonable assurance of imely collection of the full amount of principal
and inleres!.

Wrile offs are made when the Group delermines thal there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Write offs are
charged against previously established provisions for credil lossoes. Recovenes in parl or in full of amounis
previously writlen off are credited 1o provision for credd losses in the stalement of profit or loss.
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31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

} Financial assets
i. Initial recognition and moasurement
Financial assols are recognised when the Group becomes a party 1o the contractual provisions of the
instrumenl. This includes regular way purchases ol financial assets and labikties thal requite delivery of
assels within the ime frame generally establishad by regulabion of commntion in the market place.

The dassification of financial instruments at initial recogniion depands on their contractual lerms and
the business model for managing the nstruments. Financial instruments ane nitially measured at their
fair value, plus or minus directly attributable transaction costs for all instruments except in the case of
financial assels recorded at FVTPL. For financial instruments measuned al FYTPL transaction cosls ane
expensed in the stalement of profit and loss.

ii. Classification and subsequent measurement
The Group classifies all of its inancial assels based on the business model for managing the assels and
the assets conbractual lerms. The following measurement calegories ane used in accordance with the
requirements of IFRS &
* those to be measured al fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCH)
+ Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), and
¢ those o be measured al amortised cosl

iii. Businoss model assessment
IFRS 9 roquines an assossment of tha nature of the Group’s business model al a level that best reflecls
how R manages portfolios of financial azsels. The business model reflects how the Company manages
the assels in order o generale cash flow; this is, wheother the Company’s objective is solely 1o collect
the contractual cash fows from the assets or i o collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows
arsing from the sale of assets. If neither of thesa is applicable (9.g.. inancial assets ane held for trading
purposes), then the financial assets are classified as “Other” business model and measuned at FVTPL.

Faclors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a Group of assets include:
1. How the assel's performance is evaluated and reporied o key management personnel;
2. How risks are assessed and managed, and

3. How managers are compensaled.

The Group has determined that it has three business modeis:

* Hold-to-collect (HTC) business model: This comprises, cash and cash equivalents debl securities,
promissory notes, loans and other receivables, reverse repurchase agreements and
accounts receivables, These financial assels are held o collec! contractual cash fiows.

+ Hold-lo-colleci-and-sell (HTCS): where both collecting and contractual cash Miows and cash flows
arising from the sale of assels are the objective of the business model.

+ Other business model: This comprises equity investments. These financial assets are managed and
thedr performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis.

Solely paymenis of principal and inferest (SPPI) assessment.

instruments hedd within HTC or HTCS business model are assessed lo evaluate if their contractual
cash fows are SPPL. SPPI payments are those which would typically be expected from basis lending
arrangements. Principal amounts include par repayments from lending and financing arrangements.,
and interes! primarily relates lo basic lending returns, including compensaltion for credil risk and the
lime value of money associaled with the principal amount outstanding over a period of time. Interest
can also include other basic lending risks and costs (for example, hquidity risk, servicing or
administralive cosls) associaled with holding the financial assel for a period of ime, and a profit

Freargin.
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(i} Financial assets [continued)
iv. Debt Instruments

Deabt instruments include cash and bank balances, loans and other receivables, investmant securities,
guaraniees and other assels. Classiicabon and subseqguent measurement of debl instruments
depend on the Group's business model for managing the assel and the cash flow characteristics of
the assel

Debl instruments are measured at amortised cost if they are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent SPPIL. Interes! income from these financial assels is ncluded
in interest income using the effective interest method. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition is
recognized directly in profit or loss together with foreign exchange gains or losses. Impairment losses
are presenied as a separale line item in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group's financial assels measured al amoriised cost comprise cash resources, rade receiables,
irvestment securities for which the objective is o hold thess investment securities in order to collect
contractual cash flows and the coniractual cash flows are SPPI, reverse repurchase agreements,
promissory noles, other receivables and amounts due from relaled companies in the stalement of
financial postion.

Debl instruments are measured at FVTOCH if they are held lor collection of contractual cash fiows and
for seling the financial assels, where the inancial assels’ cash flows represent payments of principal
and inleresl. Movements in the carrying amount ane taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains and losses, inferest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognized in profit or loss. When the financial assel is derecognired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognizred in OCI is reclassified from equity o profil or loss and recognired in
(losses)gains on investment activities. Interest income from these financial assets is recognized in
inleres! income using the effective inlerest rale method. Foreign exchange gains or losses are
presented in gains in foreign exchange translation and trading and impairment losses are presenied
as a separate line item in the statement of profil or loss.

Debl instruments are measured at FVTPL are those which were either acquired for generating a profit
from short term fluctuations in price or dealers’ margin, or are securities included in a portfolio in which
a pafttern of shorl term profit laking exists or which fail the SPP1 tesl.

The Group reciassifies debl instruments when and only when its business moded for managing those
nssots changes. The reclassification takes place from the stan of the first reporting period following

the change. Such changes are expecled o be very infrequent, and none oocurmed during the period.
¥, Equity Instruments

Financial assels measued al FYTOC!

Whee the Group has made an imevocable slection o dassily equity investments al fair value through
other comprehenshie ncoma, they ane camiad at fair value with changes in fair value recognisad n other
comprebensive income and accumulated in the related fair value reserve. There is no subsequent
reciassification of fair value gains and losses o profit o loss following the derecognition of the
irvestmenl. these realised gains are reclassified directly 1o retained eamings.

Financial assals measued af FVPL

This calegory comprises financial instruments which ane carmied in the stalement of financial position al
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the “financial
instruments — FVPL" line. The Group has equily investments held for trading which it has classified as

being al fair value through profit and loss.
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31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)

vi. Impairment
Credit loss allowance are measured on each reporting date according o a three-stage expected credit
loss impairment model. Changes in the required credil loss allowance are reconded in profit or koss for
the period al each reporting date.

Expected credit losses (ECL) are estabished for all financial assets, axcepl for financial assels classified
of designated as FVPL and equity securities designated as FVOCI, which are nol subject to impainment
assessmenl. Financial assels subject lo impairmenl assessment include loans and advances, debl
securibes, promissory noles and other assels. Loans, promissory nobes and debl securitkes camied al
amorlised cost ane presented nel of ECL on the sialement of inancial position. ECL on debl securities
measured al FVOCI is recognised in profil or loss with a cormesponding entry in OCL

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the ECL associated with its linancial assets classified
al amortised cost and FVOCH. The estimation of credil exposure for risk management purposes requires
the u=o of complax models, as the exposuno vanes with changes in markel condiions, expecied cash
fows and the passage of ime. The assessment of credil risk of a portfolio of assels entads furthar
estimabons as 1o the likekhood of defaults occurming, of the associaled loss ratios and of defaulls
cormelations between counterpartes. The Group measures risk using Probability of Default (PD),
Exposure al Defaull (EAD) and Loss Given Defaull (LGD).

The methodology used to delerming the amount of the provision is based on whether thore has been a
significant increase in credil risk since iniial recognition of the financial assel. For those where the credil
risk has nol been increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset, twelve month ECLs
along with gross inleres! income are recognised. For those for which credit risk has increased
significantly, fetime ECLs along with interes! income on a nel basis are recognised. The Group assumes
thal the credit risk on a financial assel has increased significantly i it is more than 30 days pasl due.
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2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(il Financial assets {continued)

vil. De-recognition

The Group derecognizes a linancial assel when the contraciual rights to the cash liows from the financial
assel have expired, or when it ransfers the inancial assel in a ransaction in which substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assel are ransferred,. or in which the Group neilher
transfors nor retaens subsiantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does nol retain control of
the financial assel. Any inlerest in transfermed financial assets thal qualdly for de-recognition that is
created or relained by the Group is rnecognized as a separate assal or liability in the stalement of inancial
position. On de-recognition of a financial asset, the difference between the camying amount of the assol
{or carrying amouni allocated (o the portions of the assel translermed), and the sum of (i) the consideration
received (ncluding any new assets oblained less any new lability assumed) and (i) any cumulative
gainioss recognized in OCI in respect of equity investment securities but transferred from OCl 1o retained
earnings on disposal.

vilL Revenue
Interes! income and cxpense are recognised i amiving at not profil or loss for all interesi-boaring
instruments on the accrual basis using the offective yield method based on the actual purchase price.
Interest income ncludes coupons samings on fooed Income investiments and accrued discounts of
premiums on instruments.

The effective inlenesi method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of alocating the interest income or inlerest expenses over the relevant period. The effective
interest rale is the rale that exaclly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financal instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net camying amount of
the financial assel or financial Kabdity,

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering the contractual
terms of the financial instrument bul does not consider fulure credit losses. The calculation indudes all fees
and points pakd or received between parties (o the contract that are an integral part of the effective intores!
rale, ransaction costs and all other premiums and descounts.

When a loan is classified as impaired il is writhen down lo its recoverable amouni and interest income on the
loans is therealer recognized based on the rale of inlerest thal was used o discount the fulure cash lows

for measuring the recoverable amounl.
Dividend income is recognized when the stockholder's righl to receive payment is established.
{k) Financial liabilities

Financial Habiles are inflialy recognised al fair value, being their issue proceoeds, nel of ransaction cosls
dectly attributable to the issue of the instrument. Bomowngs are subsequently camod al amortised cost
using the effective inlerest rale method, which ensures thal any inleres! cxpense over the perod o
repayment is a constant rate on the balance of the lability carried in the statement of financial position.

The Group's financial Eabities comprise primarily amounts due 1o banks, repurchase agreements, accounts
payabla, debl security in issue and amounts due (o relaled companies.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligabons are discharged, cancelled or
expired.
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2. Matorial Accounting Policies (Continued)

(h  Property, plant and equipment
All propery, plant and equipment ane stated al historical cost less accumulated depreciation.

Subsequent costs are included in the assel's camying amounl or recognised as a separale assel, as
appropriale, only when i is probable that fulure economic benefits associaled with the Aem will low to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured refiably. The camying amount of any replaced part s
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance ane charged o profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurmed.

Depreciabion is calculated on the straighl-ine basis al annual rates estimated o wrile off the cost of the assets
ower their expecied useful ves as lollows:

Furniture, fctures and fittings 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipmeni 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 years
Leasehold improvements 30 yoars

Depreciation methods, useful lives and camying values ane reassessed ol the reporting date.

Proporty, plant and equipmenl are reviewad for impairmeanl whenover avents or changes in circumsiances
indicalio thal the carrying amount may nol be recoverable. Where the camying amount of an assel is groater
than its eslmated recoverable amount, it s writlen down immedialely o s recoverable amounl The
recoverable amount is the higher of the assel's fair value less costs 1o sell and value in use.

Gains or losses on desposal of property, plant and equipment ane delerminad by reference o their camying
amounts and are aken into acoount in determining profil of loss.

{m) Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising land and buidings from foreclosed assels, are held for capital
appreciation and saks and are lreated as long-lerm investments. They ane measured initially ai cost, including
related transacticn costs and are subsequently carried al fair value with changes in the carrying amount
recognised in profil or loss. The carrying amount includes the cost of the investiment property at the time that
cosl s incumed only when it is probable thal fulure economic benelits associaled with the item will fiow o
the Group and the cost of the ilem can be measured relably. All other repairs and mainienance costs ane
charged lo income during the financial perod in which they are incurmed.

Capilal gains on dsposals of imesiment properties are calculaled by comparison with thedr latost market value
recorded in the dosing statement of financial posibon for the previous. yoar.

Fair vadue is determined periodically by an indepandent registened valuer. Fair value is based on curment
prices in an acthve markel for similar properties in the same locabton and condition.

Some of these properties ane used as collateral for the Group’s corporate paper (nole 26)
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2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(n) Investments in subsidiaries
Investments by the Company in its subsidiaries are staled al cos! less impairment loss.
(o) Borrowings
Borrowings including those arising under securitization arrangements are recognized initially at cost, being their
issue proceeds, nel of ransaction costs incurred.  Subsequently, borrowings are stated al amortised cos! and

any difference between net proceeds and the redemplion value is recognized in the staterment of profit or loss
over the perkod of the borrowings using the effective yield mathod.

ip} Share capital
Ordinany shares ane dassified as equity when them & no obiigabion to transfer cash or olher assels.

Preference share capilal is classified as equity excepl where it is redeemable on a specific or determinable
date or at the oplion of the sharehoiders and/or f dnvidend payments are nol discrelionary, in which case it is
classified as a lablity,

{q) Employee benefits
(i} Peonsion schame cosis
The Group operales a defined contrbubion pension scheme [nobe 40), the assels of which are held na
separale trusiee administered fund. Conlributions 1o the scheme are fixed and are made on the basis

provided for in the rules. Conlributions are charged o the statermant of profil or loss when due. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligation beyond paying these conlributions.

(i) Profit-sharing and bonus plan

mmmnmwmm for bonuses and profil-sharing based on a formuda that
takes nlo considerabion the profil altributable to the Company’s slockholders aller cerain adjusiments.

The Company recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where there ks a pasl practice that
has crealad a consiructive oblqgation.

(i) Other employee benefits:

entilement o annual keave and other benafits ane recognized when ey accrus o employses
A provision s made for the estimaled labilty for annual leave and other benoBls as a resull of services
rendered by employees up o the end of the reporting period.
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2. Material Accounting Policies (Continuad)
ir} Leases

The Group leases varous offices, and vehickes. Rental contracts ane typically made for fixed pariods of 1 1o
25 years bul may have extension oplions as described below. Lease lerms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

All leases are accounied for by recognising a right-ol-use assel and a lease labdity for all leases with a lem
greater than 12 months.

Lease kabilities are measured al the present value of the contractual payments due o the lessor over the
lease term, with the discount rale determined by reference lo the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is
typicaily the case) this is not readily determinable, in which case the Company's incremental borrowing rate
on commencement of the lease is used. Variable lease payments are only included in the measurement of
the lease labdity if they depend on an index o rate, in such cases, the initial measurement of the lease
liabdity assumes the varable element will remain unchanged throughout the lease term. Other variable lease
payments are expensed in the period o which thay relale.

On initial recognifion, the carmying value of the lease lability also includes amounts expecied to be payable
under any residual value guaraniee, the exercise price of any purchase option granied in favour of the
Company # it is reasonably certain to exercise that option. any penalties payable for lerminating the lease,
if the lerm of the lease has been estimated on the basis of lermination oplion being exercsed.

Right-of-use assels are initially measured at the amount of the lease labikty, reduced for any lease incentives
received, and increased for lease payments made al or before commencement of the lease, initial direct

cosls incurred and the amount of any provision recognised where the Company is contractually required o
dismanile, remove or restore the leased assel.

&mmlmmmmuwmmamﬂhmwuawm
on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right-ol-use assels are amortised
on a strasghl-Ene basis over the remaining term of the lease or over the remaining economic [fe of the assel,
whichever i shorter.

When the Group revises ils estimale of the lerm of any lease (because, for example, il re-assesses the
probability of a lessee axiension of lerminalion oplion being exercised), it adjusts the camying amount of the
lease liability to reflect the payments lo make over the revised term, which are discounled at the same
discount rate thal applied on lease commencement. The carrying value of lease liabllibes is similarly revised
when the varable element of fufure paymenis dependent on a rate of index is revised. In both cases an
equivalenl adjustimenlt is made o the carying value of the right-of-use assel, with the revised carrying
amount being amortised over the remaining lease berm.
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2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(s) Taxation

Taxation axpense in the staterment of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive INCoMe CoMprses curment
and deferred tax charges.

Current laxalion charge is the expecled taxabion payable on the laxable income for the year, using tax rales
enacied at the reporting date and any adjustment o tax payable and tax losses in resped of previous years.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the Eability method, on temporary differences arising between the
lax bases of assets and liabilities and their carmying amounts in the financial statements. Currently enacled tax
rales are used in the delerminalion of defermed income Lax. Delerred lax assels and kablites are measured at
the lax rates thal are expected o apply in the period in which the assel will be realized or the kabilty will be
selted based on enacled rales.

Delerred lax assels are recognised lo the extent thal it is probable that fulure taxable profit will be available
against which the lemporary differences can be utilised.

Managemenl has reviewed [he investmen! portfolo and concluded that none of the Company’s immestmant
properies are held under a business model whose objective is o consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the investmen! properties over lime, rather than entirely through sale, As a result the
Company has nol recognized any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment properties as the
Company s nol subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the imesiment properties on
disposal.

Current and defemed Lax assets and Eablitios are offsel when they arise from the same Laxable entity and relate
io the same Tax Authority and when the legal right of offset exdsts. Deferred tax s charged or crediled in the
staternent of profil or loss excepl where i relales lo ilems charged o credited 1o equity, in which case deferred
iax is also accounted for in equity. The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, revaluation of certain financial assels and lax losses camed forward.

{t} Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past evenis, it
is probable thal an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 1o sefile the obligation,
and a refiable estimale of the amounl of the obligation can be made.

(u) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, and highly lquid financial assets with onginal maturities of
less than three months, which are subject o insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and are used by the
Group in the management of its short-lerm commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carmied at amortised
cosi in the sialement of Inancal position.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement. cash and cash equivalenls comprise balances with original
maturites of less than three months from the dale of acquisition, induding cash resources and bank overdrafl.
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2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(v} Funds under managemant

The Company accepts funds from ndividuals and nsBtubons 1o manage with complate discretion and without
reference to the account holders, in accordance with the relevant guidenes issued by the Financial Services
Commission, taking into account the mvestrment objective and risk profile of the account holder. The Company
also acts in other fiduciary capaciies thal result in hoiding or placing of assets on behall of individuals and
institutions. These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial stalements, as they
are nol assets of the Company.

(w) Dividends

Dividends are recognired when they become legally payable. In the case of inlerim dividends o equity
shareholdars, these are payable when declared by the dfeciors. In the case of final dhvidends, these are
payable when approved by sharsholders al the Annual Genaral Mealting.

(x) Segment reporting

An operating segment s a componen! of the Group thal engages in business aclivities from which i may
gam revenues and incur expenses; whose operating resulls are regularly reviewed by the entity’s Cheel
Oparating Decision Maker (CODM) to make decisions aboul resources 1o be aliscated o the segment and
assoss ils performanca; and for which discrete financial information is avadable.

Based on the information presenied o and reviewed by the CODM, the entire operations of the Group are
considered as one oparating segment.

(y) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and [abiktes are offsal and the net amount reporied in the stalement of inancial position
whan there is an unconditional and legally enforcsable right 1o offsel the recognised amounts and there is
an intantion o settle on a not basis, or realse the assols and seltle the iabikbes simultaneoushy.

3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

(a) Critical judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policy

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of accounting estmales which, by defimBion, wil
seldom equal the actual results, Managemen! also noeds (o exorcse judgement in applying Ihe Company’s
accounting policies. The Group makes estimales and assumplions that affect the reporied amounts of assels
and kabiiies within the next inancial year. This nole provides an overview of the aneas thal irvolve a highor
degree of judgement or complexity, and major sources of estimalion uncertainty thal have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year. Estimales and judgements are continually
evalualed and are based on historical experience and other faclors, including expectations of fulure events
that are believed lo be reasonable under the circumsiances. Deladed information aboul each of these
eslimates and judgements is included in the relaled noles logether with information about the basis of
calculation for sach affecied ling item in the financial statements.
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3. Critical Accounting Judgemants and Estimates (Continuod)
{a) Critical judgements in applying the Company's accounting policy (continued)

I Invesimenl Entity Business Model
The Group has delermined thal the business model of its subsidiary MJE is, and always has been, similar
io that of an “irvestment enlity” as defined in IFRS 10 having consideration o the following key matiers

amongsl olher facts:

L MJE provides investmen! managemen! services o mullipke investors who have invested in the
Company via the JSE 1o take advantage of the management of a portfolio of Jamaican equities on
their behall,

i MJE’s principal objective is solely o inves! in Jamaican equities for returns from capilal appreciation

and imsestmant income.
ii. MJE manages and evaluales performance on the Jamaican equiies on a fair value basis. A Nel

Assel Value (NAV) is tracked daily and communicated 1o the Company’s investors and polential
investors via the JSE and MJE's website. Additionally, MJE's Investment Manager is compansaled
based on the fair value appreciation of the porifolio over ime [nole 34)

The purpose and design of the Company is therefore similar o that of an investment enlity par IFRS 10,
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3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (Continued)

{a) Critical judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policy (continued)

iL Investiments in associated companies

During 2022, the Group revieaed the accounting principles for accounting for equity invesiments held by
its subsidiary MJE. It included a review of the requirements of I1AS 28 - Investments in associales and
joinl venlures which expound on the accounting regurements for entities thal while nol controlled or
joinily controlled by the reporting enlity, are subject lo significant influence by it and are deemed
associales. The standard indicates thal a holding of 20% or mare of the voling power of the investes is
presumed lo give rise o significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is in fact not
the case, Conversely, a holding of less than 20% of the voling power is presumed nol 1o give rise o
significant influence, unless it can be cearly demonsirated thal there is in fact significant influenca. The
Group has four investments which meel the criteria of having influence based on managemenl's
fapresantation on the Board of Directors which places il in a position 1o conlribute to policy formation and
participale in decisions aboul dividends and other distributions.

Some of the directors of the Group ane members of the Board of Directors of Lascelles Financial Senvices
Limited, Caribbean Producers Group Lid, Supreme YVentures Limited and lron Rock Insurance Limited
and are able to participate in all significant financial and operating decisions. Based on the foregoing,
the Group has delermined that it has significant influence over these entities though some shareholdings
ane below 20%.

The Group also has shareholdings of 20% in Blue Power Limited, however the Group has never sal on
the Board of Direclors, nor any key operational commiliess and Managemenl is nol of the view they
exercise any significant influence over this enlity’s activiies. This enlity has therefore bean accounted
for as a inancial investment.

The Group elecled the IAS 28 exemplion from applying the equity method of accounting to measure its
irvestments in associates and instead measure them at FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9. Management
is of the view thal fair value measurement provides more uselul information for users of the financial
slatements. This eleclion is consisient with the delermination by Management that MJE is an enlity of
simiar type to an investment entity defined in IFRS 10 as discussed above.

Though MJE's business model had been clearly arficulaled in the financial statemant in previous years,

i had nol applied the provisions of relevani accounting standards (IFRS 10 and 1AS 28) and
the slections based on s business model.
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3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (Continued)
(b) Key Sources of estimation uncertainty

(i} Impairment losses on loans, invesiments and recelvables

The Group reviews s loan and investment portfolios 10 assess impairment at leas! on a quarberly basis.
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of income, the Group
makes judgomants as o whether there are any observable data indicating thal there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the loans resulting from adverse change in the payment
status of the bomower or national and economic conditions thal correlate with defaults on loans and
imvestments in the Company. Managemen! uses estimales based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characternstlics and objective evidence of impairment siméar o those in the portfolio
when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumplions used for estimating both the
amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly 1o reduce any differences between loss
estimates and aclual koss experience,

fii} Income taxes

There are cerain ransactons and caloulations for which the ultimale tax determination & uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for actual and anticipated tax audit issues
based on estmales of whether additional tlaxes will be duo. In delermining these estimales. Management
considers the merit of any Lax audil issues raised, based on their interpretation of the Woation aws, and
their knowledge of any precedents established by the taxation authorities. VWhene the final lax outcome of
thesa matbers is different from the amounts thal wene infially recorded, such differences could materially
impact the current tax and defemed tax provisions in the period in which such delermination s made, The
Group also recognises deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward where it anticipales making future
taxable income lo offsel these losses.
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3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (Continued)
(b) Key Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i) Fair value of financial assets
A significant amount of inancial assets and Rabilites included in the Group’s financial statements requine
measurament al, and'or deciosure of fair value. Managoement uses its judgment in salecting appropriate

valuation [echniques supported by appropriate assumplons o delermine far valuve of imeesiment
socunibes (nole 39).

Fair value is the price thal would be recelved 1o sell an assel or paid 1o transfer a labiity in an onderly
transaction batween markel participants at the measurement date. Marke! price is used lo delermine Kair
value of a financial instrument. For financial instruments where no markel price s available, the fair
values presented have been estimaled using present value or other estimation and valuation lechniques
based on markel conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

The values derived from applying these techniques are signibcantly affected by the underying
assumplions used concerning both the amounts and ming of fulure cash fliows and the discounl rales.
The inliowing methods and assumplions have been used:

i} investmenl securities classified as fair value through profil or loss and fair valse through other
comprehensive income afe measured at fair value by reference o quoled markel prices when
available, If quoled market prices are nol available, then fair values are estimated on the basis of
pricing modeds or discounted cash flows or other recognized valuation techniques.

The fair values of liquid assels and other maturing within one year are assumed (o approximale their
carrying amount. The assumplion is applied o ligud assets and short term elements of all financial

assels and liabilities,
(i} The faér values of varable rale financial instruments are assumed to approximale ther camying
amounts.

The Group uses the lollowing hierarchy in delermining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments
by valuation technique:

Level 1 guoled prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 olher techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded lair value is observable, either directly or indirecthy,

Level 3 lechniques which use inputs which have a significan] effect on the recorded
fair value that are nol based on cbservable market dala.

Transfers of items between lovels are recognised in the period they occur.
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4. MNaet Interest Incoma

Tha Group Tha Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Interest income -
invesimenl securities measured at FVTPL 123,681 152 533 123,861 152,533
investments, loans and promissory notes
al amorissed cosl 1,464 002 B6E 312 1.938 77 1,035 7559
1,587,983 1,118 B45 2062 748 1,182 332
Interest expanse -
Margin loans with brokers ar.sa4 72971 37544 T287T1
Securites 20id under repurchases
agreements 401,210 247,336 418,701 247 335
Corporale papers and noles 1,219,425 431,088 1,044,072 268,009
Othar 256 029 57,009 238 962 57,009
1,914,208 B08 402 1,740,279 845,324
(326.215) 310,443 322 469 54T 008
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5. Consulting Fees and Commissions

2023 2022
5000 $'000
Sorvices transformed at a point in time -
Brokerage fees and commissions 321,554 314 B36
Structured financing fees 90,690 68,155
412,244 382 581
Services transferred over time -
Portiolic management 108,959 125.668
521,203 508,657
&. Dividend Income
The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Subsidiaries - - B42 391 36,335
Invesimenis in associales measured al FVTPL 472148 451,400 = =
Equity securites measuned al FVTPL 82,773 81,31 3B 2089
Equity securies measured al FVYTOCI 76,115 35.055 5.713 18.519
611.036 557826 B8 142 55.063
7. Net Trading Gains
The Group The Company
2023 2022 203 2022
$'000 5000 $'000 $'000
Gains on partial disposal of subsidiary - - - 810,214
Gains on dsposal of invesiment
securitios measured at FVTPL 75341 146 578 61,189 125,903
Gains on disposal of invesiment
securities measured al amortised cost 35,756 1.683 35,756 1.693
Loss on disposal of investment
SRt . {32 189) - (32,189}
111,087 116.082 896,945 1,005,621
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8. Salaries, Statutory Contributions and Staff Costs

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Wages and salaries 694,408 699,896 688,651 692,190
Profit share and bonus - (54.150) - (54,158)
Statutory contributions 71,871 71,605 71,871 71,605
Pension conlribuions 15,301 14,016 15,301 14.016
Training and development 15,272 14,512 15272 14,512
Stafl weltare 11.486 15.606 11.488 15.606
808,338 761.476 800,581 753.770

The number of employees al year-end was 108 (2022 - 134).
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9. Expenses by Mature

TheGroup ___ The Company ___

2023 2022 2023 2022

$'000 $'000 $'000_ $000

Sales, marketing, and pubbc relations 116,295 143,845 105.550 136,597
Auditors’ remuneration 23,09 14,827 17.845 10.249
Computer axpenses 102,689 74,105 99,168 73734
Depreciation (Note 18) 22,707 28,838 22,707 28828
Amortisation of intangibles (Note 33) 5468 6.327 5468 4,759
Amortization - righl-of-use assets (Mote 20) 16,955 18,504 16.955 18.504
Prevision lor credil losses (59, 669) 128,708 (59,689) 128,708
Insurance 35734 23678 35734 23678
Licansing feas 103,021 91,141 103,021 291,141
Short lanm lease axpanss 11,1684 6.974 11,164 6,974
Legal and professional fees 222098 152,031 216,129 143,064
Registrar and broker fees 23,007 18,754 15,120 9.663
Directors’ foes 34,761 34 872 29,456 29,311
Bank charges 22285 24 462 21811 23657
Repairs and mainlenance 19,043 15414 19,043 15414
Investment, incenlive and management fea 118,479 J54 874 - -
costs (Nole B) 808,338 TE1ATE BDO0, 581 783770
Security 33,358 18,756 33,358 18,756
Travelling and molor vehicles expenses 2B 956 64,219 28,956 B4 210
Assels lax 57,916 48 507 57.916 48 507
Operational losses 120 43 88.883 120491 £8.883
Utilises 56428 85,857 56,428 65,857
Oither operating expenses 80,029 81,603 76,402 41,696

2,003,744 2,246,655 1,833,634 1,825,979
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10. Taxation
{a} Taxation is basad on the operating results for the year, adjusted for taxation purposes, and is made up as
lollows:
Thia Group Thia Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current year income lax at 33 13% / 30% - - - -
Deferred tax chargel/{credit) (Note 27) (593.632) {1.016) (583.632) (1.018)
Taxation charge/{credt) 15893.632) {1.018) (553,832) {1.016)
(b) Reconciliation of theoretical tax charge thal would arise on profil bafore Laxalion using applicable Lax rate 1o
actual tax charge.
The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 000 $'000 $'000
{Loss)yProfit before laxation (2,013.925) 4 736,614 320,659 417,610
Tax calculated al a tax rate 33 13%30% !IIIE,??EI 1411 884 106, 885 138 202
Adjustments for the effects of: - -
Expenses nol deductible for Lax 258717 156,943 25877 156,943
Income not subject 1o tax (340,.389) (1,618,077) (788,046) (345.415)
Other adjustments 81.552 48 254 61,552 48 254
Taxation charge/(credit) (593,632) {1,0186) (593,632) {1,018)

(c) Subject o agreement with Tax Administration Jamaica, the MIL lax losses ol approxdimately
$3.083 millon (2022 - 51397 milion) avadable for sel-off against future taxable profils. The Group's
subsidiaries have lax losses of USSNIL (2022 = US51,.992 573) available for sel-off agains! fulure laxable

profits.
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10. Taxation (Continued)
(d) Tax change relating 1o components of other comprehensive ncome s as follows:

The Group
2023 2022
£'000 $°000
Before  Tax credit/ Balome Tax After
tax (charge)] After tax tax charge tax
et unrealsed losses on
financial instruments -
FVaCH {130,550 167 .068 36.518 (301.283) 169828 ([131.465)
Foreign curmency transiathon
adjustments 43 260 - 43 780 (33.736) - [33.738)
Dther Comprehensive
Income for the Year (BT 260) 167,068 79,808 (335.029) 169828 (165201}
Defarmed taxation (Mole 27) 167 068 168 828

The Company
2023 2022
_ $'000 $'000
Tax Aftar Bafora Tax Aftar
tax  charge tax tax  charge tax
ltam that will nol ba
redassified o profil or loss
Met unrealised losses on
financial insiruments -
FVOCI (181.127) 167.068 (14.059) (98.547) 160.828 7T1.281
Other Comprahensive
Income for the Year (181,127} 167.068 (14.0589) (98.547) 160828 71281
Deferred taxation (Mote 27) 167,068 1608 828
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11. Met Profit
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Daall with in the Ginancial statemeants of:
The Company 814,281 418,626
Subsidiares (1.492,193) 5,285,553
(577.2902) 5,684,179
Dévidends received from subsidiares (Note §) (B42,391) (36.335)
Gains on partial disposal of subsidiary mcluded in oquity on
consoldation (Mole T) = (910.214)
51.4.20-293; 4,737 630
Alfribulable lo:
Stockholders of the parent {207,897 2.218,806
Naon-controlling interest (1,212,396) 2518824
(1.420.203) 4,737 530
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12. Financial Ratios
(a) Eamings per slock unit:

Eamings-per-siock unit is calculaled by dividing the net profit atiributable 1o slockholders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary slock unils in issue during the year, There are no dilutive poleniial
instrumenis.

2023 2022
Net profit attributable to stockholders of the parent ($7000) (207.807) 2,218,806
Mumber of ordinary stock units in issue [000) 1,201,148 1201149
Eamings per slock unit - basic and fully diluted ($0.17) $1.85

(b) Comprehensive incoma per stock unil:

Comprehensive income per slock unit is calculaled by dividing the comprehensive income attributable 1o
stockholders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary stock unils in issue during the year.

2023 2022
Comprehensive income attributable o slockholders
of the parent (5'000) (153,167) 2,154,126
Number of ordinary stock wnits in issue (000) 1,201,149 1,201,149
Comprahensive income per stock unil — basic and fully diluted ($0.13) $1.79

(c) Nel book value per siock unil:

Nel book value per slock unil is caloulated by dividing the stockholder's equity attributable 1o the owners of
the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the year.

2023 2022

Stockholders” equily attributable to stockholders of
the parent ($'000) 6.584.513 16,795,106
Number of ordinary stock wnits in issue ("000) 1,201,148 1,201,149
Mol book value per stock unil 5548 51388

(d) Market value of ordinary stock units:

Market value of ordinary stock units is calculated by multiplying the closing bid price per slock unil as quoted
on the Jamaica Stock Exchange by the weighled average number of ordinary stock units in ssue during the

year,
2023 2022
Closing bid price per stock unit as at 31 December £B.45 £8.12
Number of ordinary stock units in issue ("000) 1.201.149 1.201.149
Markel value of ordinary stock units ($000) 10,148,712 9,753,322
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13. Cash Resources

TheGroup The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 £°000 £'000 5000
Current accounts - Jamaican dollar 779.202 801,222 Tre.202 894 237
Current accounts - Foreign currencies 2823756 1.820.243 2,823,756 1,521,276
Daposils - Jamaican dollar 1.488 1.488 1488 1.488
Cash in hand 58 234 58 234
3,604 504 2,732 187 3,604 504 2417,235

—_—,———— _ ————————— —_———

For the purposes of cash Row stalement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Cash resources 3,604,504 2,732 187 3,604 504 2417235
Investment securities with 80-day
maturity 997,120 2,000,768 297,120 2.000.762
Bank overdraft (994.193) (50.337) {994.193) {50.337)
3,607 431 4,682,618 3,607 401 4,367 666

The bank overdrafl resulled from un-presented cheques al year-end. National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited (NCB)
holds as security, Governmenl of Jamaikca Gilobal Bond with a nominal wvalue of USSZ19,000
(2022 - US5219,000), to cover its overdrafl facility of 5300,000,000. NCB also holds as security Government of Jamaica
Benchmark Notes with a nominal value of 518,400 000 (2022 - $11.800.,000) and a en over idle cash balances 1o cover
10% of the un-cleared effects limit of 560,000,000 i.e. 56.000,000.

A revolving credit line facility of 5575,000.000 was granted in February 2020, by Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limiled o

assist with the working capital requirements of MIL. This cverdraft facility is unsecured al a curment effective inlorost
rale of 9% per annum. The faclity s reviewed on an annual basis.
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14. Investment Socurities

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 5'000 $°000
Investment securities at FVTPL -
Debl securites
Government of Jamaica bonds 16,404 15316 16,404 15318
Corporate bonds T3.256 164,372 T3.256 164,372
Equitios 37978 1.454 501 AT ara 36418
Tolal FVTPL 142,829 1.648 989 142 829 230,908
Investment securities at FVTOCI -

Equities 425 812 5588 024 475812 (o T
Total FVTOCH 425812 5588 024 425812 626 406
Investment securities al amortised
cost, net of ECL -

Debl securites

Governmant of Jamaica bonds 1.555.204 50,546 1.555 204 50.546
Foreign govemmaent bonds 201 196 201 196
Corporate bonds 1,442,789 2262 97T 1,442 TED 2262977

Less ECL {8.997) (37.724) ___ (8997) __ (37.724)

Total investmen! securntes at

amortised cost. net of ECL 2.880.197 2275995 2.989.197 2275995
3.557 838 8,513,008 3.557 B38 3,133,307
Accrued interesi 104 550 35,018 104,550 35018
Total investmenl securibes 3,662,388 0548 026 3662388 3. 168,325

The Governmenl and Cormporate bonds are used as collateral for the Group’s demand koans recedved from,
Oppenheimer and Co. Inc., Raymond James and Morgan Stanley (Nole 26).

The movement in the ECL delermined under the requiremaents of IFRS is as lollows:

2013 202
5'000 $'000
Balance at beginning of year Ir.724 15352
Net (decreasejincrease included in provision for credil losses {2B.727) 22 372
Balance at end of yoar 8,597 AT 724

The current portion of investment securities is 51,661 .23 milkon (2022 - $617.2 million).
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15. Reverse Repurchase Agreomants

The Company enlers inlo repurchase and reverse repurchase agreoments colateraksed by Government of
Jamaica debl securibes. These agreements may resull in credil exposure in the event thal the counterparty o the
transaction is unable to fulfi its contractual obligations.

The Group and Company
2023 2022
5'000 5'000
Reverse repurchase agreements 3,526,965 5218312
Interes! recedvable B8 263 85,638

3615228 5.303,950
| == ] | e =]

Included in reverse repurchase agreomaonts is 53,526 965 000 (2022: 55 218,312 .000) which matures within the
next 12 months, of which $997,120,000 (2022: $2,000,768,000) with original maturities of 90 days or less, are
regardad as cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statoment of cash flows.

16. Promissory Notes

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
5000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(Gross inans G.628.28T 4 501,659 G628 28T 5,501,659
Less: Alowance for credit losses (228.680) (252.211) (228.680) (252,211)
inleres! receable 55.548 5,799 55.548 5799

6.455.155 4.255.247 6.455.155 5.255.247
. B |

This represents Jamaican and United Slates dollar promissory notes from customers. These are hypothecaled
againsl balances hield for the customers, registenad morigages and other proporthes.

The current porton of promissony notes i 51,9492 million (2022 - $575.1 million).

The movement in the ECL delermined under the requirements of IFR'S is as follows:

2023 2022

$'000 $'000
Balance al beginning of year 252211 274,160
Nel decrease included in provision for credd losses 23.531) (21.949)
Balance al end of year 228 680 252.211
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17. Loans and other Recoivables

The Group The Company

2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Clienl margins 4 838121 3,818,358 4 B3B8 121 3818358
Client receivablos 4,197 386 1,646 547 4,197 386 1,648 547
Due from broker 63,284 144 563 63284 144 563
Current account with joinl ventune 222 3TT 276,741 222377 222 3TT
Withholding lax recoverabla 214 BE8 180 557 214 865 180 55T
GCT recoverabla = 21,343 L 21343
Prepaymenis 103,214 T0 587 103,214 62313
Oither recaivables 745 639 545 165 T45 639 484 F21
10,384 830 6,703,861 10,384 820 6.590.2T9

Less: Allowance lof credil lossas (251,026) (208 47T) (251,.026) (208 ATT)
10,133,864 6,405,384 10,133, 884 6,291 802

Client margins are secured against thedr equity porticlios held at the Jamaica Central Securities Deposilory.

The movement in the ECL delermined under the requirements of IFRS s as follows:

2023 2022
3°000 $'000
Balance al baginning of yoar 208,477 170,192
Write clfs {40.040) -
Mel (decrease Vincrease included min provision for credit lossos (T.411) 128 285
Balance at end of yoar 251,026 298477
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1B. Property, Plant and Equipment

Furniture,
Leasehold Computer Office  Fixtures & Motor
improvements Equipment  Equipment Fittings Vehicles CWIP Total
§ 000 $00d 5000 $'000 5000 §'000
Cost -
Al 1 January 2022 T8, 836 250 857 35826 63,551 28 244 = A5E 314
Addibons 2675 13,987 1.308 Fi:] 4T 626 65,762
Transfers . 225 . - 26485 28T10
Al 31 Decamiber 2022 B2511 267 0E9 ot | 63,87 /24 TN SE2.TES
ASHBONS - 10.606 3716 - - 2008 1123
ALY Decemiber 2023 g2511 27T 6T5 40 840 63 62T 28244 TTO20 STO0MT
Accumulated Depreciation -
AL 1 January 2022 20.267 211470 23,085 STee2 22025 - 349,709
Charge for the year 1777 16.301 2.344 2488 5048 28838
Al 31 Decomber 2023 31,044 247,171 31420 G330  ITET = JTE54T
Charge fior the yad 1.813 16206 2 561 1.835 271 = ra.rar
Al 31 December 2023 32,857 243 997 33,680 62, 166 28 244 - 401 254
et Book Value -
31 December 2023 4 7 1 881 T 1887
31 DeSimbeer 2022 51467 3808 5.0 ST 271 rLIT 1T4338
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19. Investment Properties

The Group and Company
2023
$°000 $'000
Balance al beginning of year 2027738 2174302
Disposais - (124.450)
Nel gain/floss) from fair value adjustment 85.734 (22.065)
Balance al end of yoar 2113472 2,027,738
Amounts recognised in profil or loss for investment propertes
The Group and Company
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Direct oparating axpeanses from propay thal did not generale
rental income - -
Fair value (loss)gain recognised in other income 85.734 (22.065)

85,724 (22.063)
Some of these properties are used as collateral for the Company's corporale paper (nole 28)

The properties held are stated al fair markel value as appraised by professional independent valuers. The
valualion is done on the basis of market value as defined by the RICS Valuation Global Standard as:

The estimaled amounl for which an asset or kability should exchange on the valuation date botweon a willing
buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing and where the parties had each

Valuations have been performed using a comparable sales approach incorporating a review of sales with similar

highest and besl use using public and private data sources. There has been no change in the valuation technigue
during the year,
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20. Leases
{a) Righi-ol-use assels

Land & Motor
Building Vehicles Total
$'000 5000 §'000
As al December 2021 o, 564 12.983 108,557
Addition 13,523 - 13523
Amortization (13.307) (5.197) (18,504)
Adjustments (34.502) - (34.502)
As al Decomber 2022 62,278 7.706 T0.074
Amostization {11.758) {5,187) {16.955)
Al 31 December 2023 50,520 2,999 53,118
{b) Leass liabilities
Land & Maotor
Building Vehicles Total
000 £'000 $'000
As al 31 Decembear 2021 106,845 15245 124,090
Interes! expense €.935 1,237 8172
Lease payments {18,086) {9.552) (27 638)
Addition 13.523 . 13523
Adjustments {34.502) . {24,502)
A= al 31 Decambear 2022 6. s 6,930 B3 645
Interes! axpeanse T, 654 656 8310
Lease payments {17,328) (4,840) (22, 168)
Al M December 2023 B7.041 2. 746 89,787
{c) Amount recognised in the income stalement
i 2022
— §000 _____ $000
Amaortization charge of righl-of-use assels 16.955 18,504
inlerest axpanse 8,310 B 172
Short term lease expense 11,164 6,974
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21, Invastment in Associatos
Details of sach of the Group's malerial associales al FVYTPL al the end of the reporting perod ane as follows:

2023 2022

$'000 $'000

Supreme Venlures Limited - 14,569,117
Carnbbean Producars Jamaica Limited - 2,500 460
Lasco Financial Services Limiled - 756517
Ironrock Insurance Company Limited - 895 383
- 18011477

22, Investment in Joint Venture

i} Details of the Group's material joinl venture accounted for using the equity method al the end of the

reporling period are as follows:
2023 2022
£'000 _§'000
Cherry Hills Development Limited:
Balance al 1 January 1,864 454 2 554 808
mﬂ"‘lh . EB.H‘E‘
Share of alter lax eamings 833,575 (66, B45)
Dividend - (861.286)
Trarslaton adjusiments 44 524 (50,508)
Rebeved on disposal of subsidiaries (2,842 953) -
Balanco al 31 Decembeor - 1,564 454

i) Summatised financial informabon for joint veniure.
The tables below provide summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s investment in joint
venture. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial stalements of the joint
veniure in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and nol the Company’s share of those amounis.

Summansed statement of iinancial position

2023 2022

$'000 $000
Current Assets - 124 371
Mor-ciurren] Assets . 6.387.659
Total Assols . 6.532.030
Current Liabdities - 754,193
Mon-ciuerend Liabiibes - 1.878 985
Total Liabilities - 2633178
Mot Assals - 3,898 852
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22, Investment in Joint Venture (Continued)
ill) Summarisaed linancial Information for jpint ventune (continued)

Staterment of profil of loss and olher comprehensive income

2023 2022

$'000 $'000
Revanua - 26260
Inferes! axpensas - (136.896)
Other expanses - (75442}
Loss belore income Lax - (116.078)
Taxaltion cradil -
Loss afier tax and Total comprahensive incoma - {116.078)
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1. Cash Flows

Adjustments 1o reconcile net profit 1o net cash provided by operating activites.

@ 2023 Annual Report

Tha Group The Company
MNote 2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 $'000 5000 $'000
Adustmeants lof non-cash ilams:
Provision for credit losses (59.669) 128,708 (59,669) 128,708
Intangible assal — amortization 5468 4 758 5468 4,758
Dapracialion 18 22,707 30,408 Z2 roT 28,838
Right-of-use assals - amortizalion 19 16,955 18,504 16,955 18,504
Inferes! incoma 4 [1.,587,993) {1,118,B45) (2,062, T48) (1,192 332)
Interest expanse 4 1914208 BO8. 402 1,740,279 645,324
Interesl axpanse — right-ol-use
assals 8.310 B.172 8.310 B172
Realized gains on trading (111,087) (116.082) (26, 045) (1.005,621)
Unrealksad fair value gains
on Invesiment in associales 2235237 (5.232 91T) & =
Unrealised fair value (gains)liossos
on financial instruments - FVTPL (170, 846) (80.09T) (13.830) 24 562
Unrealisad foreign axchangs gains (207,083) (9T.271) (202 .234) (110.120)
Share of profits in joinl veniure (B33.575) [21.440) - =
Unrealsed fEir value losses{gans)
on imestmeant propares (85,734) 22 065 (B5.734) 22 085
1,146,768 (5.655,636) (T27.441) (1.427.141)
Changes in operaling assels and
liahilties:
Loans and othar receivables i(3.813,705) (1.234,022) (3.834.851) (1,253, 58T7)
Investments (1,834 265) (40.648) (273, 140) 966,138
Promissory nobles (33.849) (1.384,1589) (33, 849) (1.364.1593)
Reverse repurchase agreemaents 532,099 (2374 B57T) 687,659 (2,374 BET)
Invesimenl in associates (1.312,364) (26,141) - =
Accounts payable 662, 204 2 988 B55 776,003 2900179
Due from relaled parties (34.205) - (6,395 284) (S00.787T)
Demand loans 135426 1.275,055 135426 1,275,056
Securnties sold under repurchass
agreements 2,095,108 4 335 2 095 108 4,335
{2, 456,693) (6,432 228) (7.576,129) {1.754,.833)
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24. Investmaents in subsidiarios

2023 2022
$'000 $'000

Balance al beginning of the year 1,092,779 1,230,001
9.4% disposal through trade over the Jamaica Stock Exchange . (137.222)
Relieved on disposal of Mayberry Jamaican Equities (1.0892.654) .
Relieved on disposal of Widebase Limited {125) .

- 1.082.779

During 2018, the Company disposed of 20% of its ownership in its subsidiary, MayhquanﬂmEmmmm
through a 10% dividend in spacie o its shareholders and an initial public of 10% of its

MJEL. A further 5% was transferred (o a related party which is o be placed in a & Incantive Plan, Aa-pﬂ‘lull'
thie divestment armangement, the Company received a Special reference Share in the subsidiary which gave it
special rights as sel oul in seclion 10A of the amended Asticles of Association of that subsidiary and require the
consent in writing of the holder of the Special Share lo vary some provisions of the Articles.

Consequent on the reorganisation of the Maybemy Group of Companies, at December 31, 2023, MIL transferred
ownership of all its subsidiaries directly to MGL. The consideration for the transfer of ownership of the subsidianes
from MIL 1o MGL was effected by interest bearing promissory noles,

Mayberry
Jamaican
Equities Widebase
Limited Limited Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
Carrying value as at 31 December 2023 17 297 566 2 068 428 15,365,064
Transler price to Mayberry Group Limiled (1.092.654) (125) (1.002.779)
Redieved on disposal of subsidiarios 16.204.912 2068303 18273215
————————1 [————————] [0 z—=———r———m]
25. Pladgod Assals
The carrying amounts of assels pledged as sacurity for curment and non—curment bormowings ane:
_TheGroup The Company ___
2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 $'000 5000 $'000
Restricted Deposi - 42,959 - -
Irmvestment securities al FVTOCI - 1,136,117 - -
Investment securities at FVTPL 59,117 246.629 58,117 236 541
Investment securities at amorsed cost 159 220 288953 159220 288 853
Investments in associates al FVTPL . 17.452 322 - =
Loans and receivables 6.500.800 - 8,509 800 -
Investmenl property at FVTPL 1,446,108 1,300,181 1,446,108 1,300,181
Imvesiment in subsidiaries - = - 107360
Tolal assels piedged as collateral B.174.245 20 467,161 8.174.245 1.933.035
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26. Loans
The Group The Company
2023 2022 203 2022
— 5000 _____ $000 ____ 3000 _____ §000
Demand loans (i) -
Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. 2238548 1423314 2,238,548 1,423 314
Morgan Stanley 139,679 331,466 139,679 331,466
Raymond James - 488.021 - 488.021
Term loans —
Corporate paper (unsecured) (ii) 1,006, 540 1,860,782 1,906,540 1,860,782
Corporate paper (secured) (ii) 967,000 643,850 967,000 643,850
Corporate bond (iif) - 2,200,000 . .
Revolving ine of credit (iv) 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000
Development Bank of Jamaica 2,154,225 1.957.745 2,154 225 1,957,745
Bonds -
Bondberry bond (i) 6.393.365 - 6,393,365
14,200 357 9,405,178 14,290 357 7.205,178
Unamaortised Transaction Fees (50.755) [2/683) (50,755) -
interest Payable 2667 5373 26687 4 062
14,251 269 0.407 868 14,251 269 7.208.240

(i} The demand loans atiract interest al 6.19% (2022 - 2 5%) per annum - Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., 5.86%
(2022 - 2.15%) par annum - Morgan Stankey and B.7% (2022 - 3 48%) per annum — Raymond James.
The collalerals for the demand bans are invesiment securities which were purchasaed with the proceeds
of the loans received from Margan Stanley, Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. and Raymond James (Note 14).

(i) The Unsecured Corporate Paper altracts inlerest al 10% per annum (2022 - 5.5%) and matures January
14, 2026. The previous paper matured Novemnber 19, 2023,

A Secured Corporale Paper i backed by real estale and altracts a woighled average rale of inlerest al
10.47% por annum (2022 - 7.5%) with oulslanding Tranches maluring between February 9, 2024 and
Februany 23, 2025.

A Secured Corporate Paper is backed by secured loans and altracts an inlerest rale of 11% per annum
(2022 - 7.5%) and matures November 30, 2025. The previous paper matured November 2023,
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26. Loans (continued)

{iE) On 24 Seplember 2018 the Company's subsidiary, Mayberry Jamaican Equibes Limited, completed a
secured corporate bond issue amounting to $2.2 bikon. The bond maltured in 2023. and was at a fixed
interest rabe of 7_25% per annum pakd quarerly. The bond was amanged by Sagicor Investments Jamaica
Limited and registered with JCSD Truslee Services Limited.

The bond was secured by some of the Group's quoled equily investments in various enlities thal are
being traded on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. These shares wene required Lo have a fair value coverage
of 1.5 times the principal amount and a mainlenance margin of 1.5 imes. The company complied with
these covenants.

On January 20, 2023, the Company's sub-subsidiary, MIL, completed a secured corporale bond issue
amounting o 56.3 billon, The bonds are in four Tranches and are repayable between 2024 and 2026,
Thae fixed rale noles altracl interes! between 9.25% and 12% with interes! pald quarierly. The bonds are
secured by a charge over the Secured Loan Portfolo of MIL included in note 16 and note 17.

(v} On June 16, 2022, the Company's sub-subsidiary, MIL, enlered into a revolving line of credil facility
amounting o 53500 milion aftracting inlerest al 12% (2022-9.75%) per annum with monthly inberes!
payments. The effective inleres! ralo & subject o change based on prevailing markel condiions and the
facity matres in 36 months. The loan is secured by some of the Group's shares in Maybermry Jamaican
Equities Limited.

The foliowing financial covenants ane required 1o be mainiained:
L Interes! coverage ratio must be al least 1.5
i Tolal debl lo equily ratio musl nol exceed 40%
. Camying value of the guoled equily investments must be al least 2X the outstanding principal
balance of the credit facility.
Al year end MIL had complied with these covenants.

{¥] The loans from Development Bank of Jamaica are granted in Jamaican dollars and are utiized by the Group
io finance cusiomers with projects in vanous seclors of the economy. Thesa loans are for lerms up to 10
years and al rates ranging from 5.75% - 9%.
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27. Deferred Taxation

Deferred income taxes ane calculated on all temporary diferences under the Eabilty method using a tax rate of
33 173% for the Company and 1% for its subsidiaries. The movoement in the nel defermed income tax balance i as

loliows:
The Group and Company
2023 2022
$'000 £'000
Met balance al beginning of year 387,764 216,920
Deferred tax credil (Nole 10) 593632 1.016
Defermed tax charge on invesiment
sacurities (OCl1) 167,068 169,828
Metl balance at end of year 1.148 464 387,764
Met deferred income laxation is due to the following items:
Tha and
2023 2022
$'000 5000
Deforred incoma Lax assels:
Interest payable 46,539 31,609
Property, plant and equipment 7.992 5.907
Provisions 162,901 200913
Tax losses carried forward 1,027,698 351,841
Unrealised foreign exchange loss 33,066 33,066
Other 12.330 11.030
1.290,535 G624 366
Deferred income tax kabilibes:
Property, plant and equipment 32,900 A3.651
Intlangibles 21,575 i
invesimeanl securites:
- Trading (3.412) (3.412)
= Other comprehansive income T.143 174211
Interast rocehvabie E3.B65 42 152
142,071 246 602
Net deferred lax assel 1,148 464 387 T4

Deferred income taxes are recognized for lax losses carmed forward only to the extent thal realization of the
refated tax benefit is probabde (Mote 10).
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27. Deferred Taxation (Continued)

The gross amounts shown in the above tables include the following:-

Daferrad incoms Lix assols:

Daferrad tax assals o be recovenad after more than

12 monihs

Deferred tax assels to be recovered within 12 months

Defermed income lax kabiibes:

Daferred [ax assels o be sellled after more than 12

months

Defermed tax assets to be settled within 12 months

Delerred tax assel, nel

28, Accounts Payable

Accounts payable

D lo brokers

Managemen! and incentive fee
payable

Client payables

29. Share Capital

Authorized — 2,120,000,000 Ordinary Shares

= 380,000,000 Redesmable Cumulathve Preference Shares

Issued and fully paid -

The Group and Eﬂrm_
2023

5'000 :'m

1,210,831 569 691

79,604 64,675

1,290,535 634 366

54 475 33,651

ar.596 2128951

142071 248 02

1.148 464 BT . TE4

The Group The Company
2023 Doz2 2023 2022
£'000 $'000 £'000 $'000
813,715 433 2086 813,715 418,157
1464 38,780 1.464 28,790
- 271,393 = -
10,920 355 10,302 583 10,820 355 10,302 583
11.535,534 11045972 11.535.534 10.758.530
EEE————— e ———————— | — ———— |
The Group and The
Company

2023 L0232
$'000 $'000

1.201,149.291 Ordinary Shares

@ 2023 Annual Report




Page 58
Mayberry Investments Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

30. Fair Value Reserves
These represent nel unrealised gains on the revaluation of equity securities. These vnreaksed gains are
transferred 1o retained earnings on disposal of the equities. The fair value through ofher comprehansiae income
secufiies are based on short term fluctuations in markel prices.

J1. Other Reserves

2023 2022
$'000 5'000
Capital redemplion resarve fund 51,2343 51.343
Slock opon resene 26506 26, 506
77.939 77538
32. Retained Earnings

2023 2022
5°000 £'000

Raflectad in the financial statements of
The Compary 4 596 529 4,035,881
Subsid@arnes - 10,454 207
4 556 520 14,450 088
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33. Intangible Asset

At Cost=
1 January 2022
Additions
Translers
Adjusiments
Al 31 December 2022
Additions
Translers
Disposed on recrganisation
Al 31 December 2023
Amortisation =
1 January 2022
Charge lor the year
31 December 2022
Charge for the year
31 Decembear 2023
Met book value -
31 December 2023
31 Decamber 2022

The Group
Computer Work in

Software progress Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
6,720 TOT 419 714,139

- 304 251 304,251

27.343 [27.343) -
34,083 955 61T 989,680

- 269,529 269,529
996,980 (996,980 5
{6.720) - (6.720)
1,024,323 228166 1.252 489
5,152 - 5152
6,327 - 6.327
11,479 - 11479
5,468 - 5,468
(6.720) (6.720)
10227 - 10,227
1,014,006 228.166 1,242 262
22.584 955,617 278201

Work in progress represents the development of a new inlegrated clien] service, cusiomer management,
ocperations managemenl and back office financial management sysiem 1o digitise the Group's operations

At Cost =

1 January 2022
Additions
Transbers oul

Al 31 December 2022
il

Transiers oul

Al 31 Decembar 2023

Amortisaton -

1 January 2022

Al 31 December 2022
Charge lor the yoar
Al 31 December 2023

MNel book value -

31 December 2023
31 December 2022

34. Related Party Transactions and Balances
@ 2023 Annual Report

- The Company
Computer Work in

Software progress Total
§'000 $'000 §'000
- TO0T 418 TOT.418
27,343 S04 251 331,504

. (56.053) (56.053)
Zr.343 855617 982,860

- 268,529 269,529

996,280 (96.980) .

1.024.323 228.166 1.252.480
4.750 . 4.759
4,759 = 4,759
5.468 - 5.468
10,227 - 10.227
1,014,096 228166 1.242 262
22 584 955,617 878 2
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Parties are considensd 1o be related if one party has the ablity lo conlrol or axercise significant influence ower ha
othas party in making fiinancial o oparational decsions.

(i} The lollowing are the balances with relaled parties:

The Group Tha C
2023 2022 2023 2022
£°000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Due from othor group companios:
Mayberry Jamakcan Equites Limited 6,044 514 - 6,044 514 1,006,373
Widebasa Limitad 1.991 341 - 1,991,341 558,490
Mayberry Group Limibed 14 292 - 14,292 -
8,050,147 - B.050 147 1,654 863
Loans and other receivables:
Joir venture 27T 813 276,741 277,913 278,741
Companies controlied by direclors 349237 271.892 349,237 271,892
Directors and key management
personnel 358,116 307,743 356,116 307, T43
Promissory Mot
Mayberry Jamacan Equibies Limiled 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000
Cherry Hill Developments 66 949 366.049 E
Maybarry Group Limited 1.082.7M8 - 1,082,779 -
Accounts payabsle:
Management fees payable (Mayberry
Assel Managers Limited) = 271,383 - 453
Compames controlled by direciors 206,622 181,848 206 623 181,848

Diectors and key management personnel 219.352 141,732 219.352 141,732

(¥) The following are ransactions with relaled

Dividend Income B42.3M 451,400 84230 36,335
Interest ncoma 445729 - 445 729 94,616
Other income earned 63,093 - 63,003 65,060
Investmen] management and incentive

fees 118478 A5, B4 118,479 -
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34, Rolated Party Transactions and Balances (Continued)

—_The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 £'000 $'000 $'000
Koy management compensation
Salares and other shorl term  employee benefits 188,030 195,808 188,030 188,102
Pension conlributions 4,626 4129 4,628 4,129
Direclors” emoluments:-
Foos 60,382 61,513 60,382 56,337
Executive direciors’ remuneration 75915 B2.240 75,915 B2.240
Pension contributions 3.166 3475 3.166 3,475

On 15 February 2017, the Company’s subsidiary, Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limiled, enlered inlo an agreement
with Mayberry Assel Managers Limiled, a company incorporaled in 5t Lucdia thal is jointly controlled with the
Company by Chrislopher Berry and K. Mark Berry, The sald agreement ratifies and confirms a course of conducl
that had been enlened inlo by Mayberry West Indies Limiled whereby the principals of Mayberry Assel Managers
Limiled had previously performed investmenl managemenl services. The new agreemen! provides for the
following feos lo be paid o Mayberry Assel Managers Limited as compensation for the services rendered, and
expenses bormne by il, calkculated as follows:

(i) A managemon! fee calculated as 0.50% of the nel assel value; and
(H) An incentve fee calculated as B.0D% of the increase in the comprehensive income.

The managemen! fee is accrued and charged quarerly in amears. The amount charged for the vear was
£110,479,000 (2022 - $113,331,000).

The incentive lee is accrued and charged on the last day ol sach calendar year with reference lo the lolal
comprehensive income eamed for the calendar vear in guesbon. Mo incentive fee & pavable if the nel book value
per share falls below previous levels attained (“hurdle per share”) until and unless thase previous levels are
regained and surpassad. The amount charged for the year was Snil (2022 - $241,543,000)

35. Dividends
— TheGroup
2023 2022
$'000 £°000
Final dividend Lo ordinary shareholders =28 cenls per shane
(2022 —- 32 cenls per share) 350,344 336,322
Paymenl o minority shareholders 41 BAG 35 734
402,033 a72.056

A dividond of 5030 was approved and paid in June 2023 o those shareholders on record as al 12 July 2023,

A dividend of $0.28 was approved and paid in Seplember 2022 o those shareholders on record as al
29 June 2022

@ 2023 Annual Report
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36. Non-Controlling Intersst

The table below shows the summarised financial information for Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited thal has
non-controlling inlerest and s malerial o the Group:

2023 2022

$'000 5'000
Summarized statement of financial position
Tolal assels - 24,355,036
Total kabsilties (4.578.635)
Mol aassls - 19.776.401
Alfributable to non-controlling interes! = 8,805,140
Summarized statement of comprehensive income
Revenue {1.586.367) 5.812.480
Profit for the period {2.445,333) 5,080.322
Diher comprebensive income 20,577 (202 T4B)
Tolal comprehensive income (2,384, T56) 4 87T 576
Profil allocaled o non-controlling interes! (1.212,396) 2518824
Other comprahensive income allocated to non-controlling interest 25,078 {100.521)
Adtributable to non-controliing interest {1,187,318) 2418303
Summarized statement of cash fMlows
Cash flows from operaling activities 2,976 467 348 397
Interesl recoived 10,988 3,165
interes! paid (638,983) (272,590)
Income tax paid . -
Net cash from operaling activities 2348472 78.972
Cash flows used in financing activities (2.283.705) (72.089)
Mel ncrease/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalenis 64, TET 6,903
Cash and cash equivalents al the beginning of year 314 852 313,902
Exchange (losses)igains on cash and cash equivalents (170) {5,853}
Cash and cash equivalents at and of year A8, 5489 314 952
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37. Reconciliation of Liabilities arising from Financing Activities

The lable below detads the movement in debl for each of the pericds presenied. Finanding aclivities represent debl
socurity lssued and olther loans.

@ 2023 Annual Report

Tha
Loans Leasa liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022
—$'000 __ §'000 __ $'000 ___ $'000
As at 1 January 8.407 8GR 6.676.050 83.845 124,090
Interes! payable 5373 3.055 - .
8.402 495 6.672.991 B3.645 124.090
Changes related 1o Operating Activities
Loans receied B15.234 1,364 443 - -
Principal repayments {679 B08) {89,388) - -
MNet Changes related o Operating Activities 135,426 1,275,055 - -
Changes related 1o Financing Activities
Loan received T.B83.446 4158677 - .
Leass addiions . . - 13,58
Repayments (3,228,195) (2.708,805) (13.858) (19.466)
Adjustments - - . {34.502)
Amortization of borrowing costs 52,747 asmn - -
interest payable 2 667 5373 - -
Disposed on recrganisation 2 683 - - -
Net Changes relaled Financing Activities 4,713,348 1,459 822 {13.858) {40,445)
As ot 31 Decembsar 14,251,269 9.407 868 69,787 83,645
_ _—— _ =
The Company _
Loar Loase liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
As al 1 January T.208 240 44789 251 83,645 124,090
Interest payabile {4,062) - - -
7.205.1T8 4,479,251 83645  124.090
Changes related to Operating Activities
Loans recoied 815234 1,364 444 . .
Principal repayments (679.808) (89.388) = =
MNet Changes relaled o Operating Activities 135426 1.275.056 = =
Changes related o Financing Activities
Loan received T.BB3 446 4,159 676 - -
Laasa addibtons - - - 13,523
Repayments {1.028,185) (2,708,805) (13.858) (19.466)
Adjustments - - - (34.502)
Amoriization of borrowing costs 52,747 . - ;
inlerest payable 2687 ‘_m_' = iy
Mel Changes relaled Financing Activities 6.910.665 1.454.933 (13.858) (40.445)
Az 8t 31 Decomber 14_261_260 7.209.240 69, 78T B3 645




Page 64
Mayberry Investments Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38. Financial Risk Managomeant
Risk Managemant Framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework. The Board has established the Assels and Liabilites Commities (ALCO) which is responsible for
developing and monitoring the Group's risk management policies in their specified areas.

ALCO places trading limits on the level of exposure thal can be laken and monitors risks and adherence o limits.
The Group, theough its training and management standards and procedures, aims 0 develop disciplined and
constructive control environment, 0 which all employoss understand thor roles and oblgations. This is
supplemented by the Compliance Committee which was established in 2020, o specifically monilor regulatory
MBasunes.

The Audit Commitlee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Group's risk management policies and
procedures and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management ramework in relation (o the risks faced by the
Group. The Audit Commitios 5 assisied in these functions by both the Compliance Unit and Inlernal Audid. Tha
Compliance Uril and Internal Audit underake both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk managemonl controls and
procedures, the resulls of which are reporied o the Board of Directors and the Audit Committes, respoctively.

By its nature, the Group's activilies are principally refaled o the use of financial instruments. The Company
accepts funds from customers at both fived and floating rates and for various periods and seeks lo sam above
average interest margins by investing these funds in high quality assets. The Company seeks o increase these
margins by consolidating shorl-lerm funds and lending for longer periods al higher rales whie maintaining
sulficient liquidily to meel all claims that might Tall due.

The Company also seoks ko raise its inleres! margins by oblaining above average margins, nel of provisions, through
lending o commeercial and retail bormowers with a range of credit standing.

The Group akso trades in financial instruments where it takes positions to take advantage of shorf-lerm market
movements in equity and bond prices and in loreign exchange and interes! rales.
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38. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Risk Management Framework [continued)
(a) Liquidity risk

The Company is exposed lo daly calls on its available cash resources from maluring repurchase agreements
and loan draw downs. The Company does nol maintain cash resources o meel all of these needs as
axparience shows thal a minimum level of re-investment of maturing funds can be predicled with a high kevel
of certainty. The Company’s treasury and securities department seek to have available a minimum proportion
of maturing funds lo meel such calls. The Company’s policy is to hold a high proportion of liquid assels lo
cover withdrawals al unexpected levels of demand. Daily reports cover the liquidity position of the Company
a5 well 35 any exceplions and remedial actions taken,

The malching and controlled mismatching of the maturiies and inleres! rates of assels and labiites s

fundamantal o the management of the Company. Il B unusual for the Company ever 1o be comphatoely
malched since business transacted is often of uncertain larm and of different types. An unmalched position

potentially enhances profitabdity but can increase the risk of loss. The maturities of assels and liabiites and
the ability 1o replace, al an acceplable cost, inlerest-bearing liabdities as they mature, are important faclors
in assessing the liquidity of the Company and exposure to changes in inleres! rales and exchange rates.

The key measure used by the Company lor managing bguidity risk is the rato of Bquid assels o securites
sold under repurchase agreements and loans. For this purpose liquid assels are considered as including
cash and cash equivalents, investiment grade secunities, axcluding equites, for which there is an aclive and
ligquid markel and loans and olhor receivables.

The tables below presenl the undscounted cash flows [both interest and principal cash flows) 1o sotfe
financial liabikties, basad on contractual repayment obligations. However, the Group expects thal many
customers will nol requiest repayment on the earliest dale the Group could be required to pay.
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38, Financial Risk Managemaeont (Continued)
(a) Liguidity risk [continuod)

The Group and Company
2023
Within 1 1to3 Ito12 108 Over §
Maonth Maonths Maonths Yaars Yaars Total
£'000 5'000 000 £'000 5000 £'000
Financial Liabilities
Bank overdraft oa4 183 - - - = 904 193
Securibies sold under
repurchase agreements 2200011 2200461 2624645 = - Ti24N7
Loans 2808695 1288111 2587574 8260987 1,114,151 16,159,518
Lease habidibes 1.098 2216 10,310 20987 49,326 83,937
Accounis payable 11,535,534 - 2 . - 11535534
Total Habilities
(contractual maturity
dates) 17648531 3580788 5222520 82818974 1163477 35897200
This Group
2022 _
‘Within 1 E Ito12 1to 8 Over 5
Month Months Months Yoars Years Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial Liabilities
Bank overdraft 50,337 - - - - 50,337
Securilies sold under
ropurchase agreamants 1.520.233 2130756 1,283,060 - - 4 934 049
Loans 2,245 362 456,860 2850 T8 2382508 - 7.984 538
Lease liabiites 1,086 2,182 10,202 20,840 49,325 B1G45
Accounts payables 10,538,373 280,958 225,640 - = 11045872
Total liabilities
{contractual maturity
dates) 14356301 2870776 4.418.701  2.403.348 49325  24.008.541
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38. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(a) Liquidity risk [continued)

The Company
2022
Within 1 103 Je12 1ta s Over 5
Manth Months Manths Yoars Years Total
$'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Financial Liabilities
Bank overdraft 50,337 - - - - 50,337
Sacurities sold undas
repurchase agreements 1,520,233 2130756 1283080 - - 4,934 049
Loans 2,245 362 417,540 628,133 4 240253 - 7,631 288
Lease liabilibes 1.088 2,182 10,202 20,840 49,325 B3B45
Accounts payable 10,533,850 - 225 840 - - 10,759 530
Total liabilities (contractual
maturity dates) 14,350,908 2550488 2147035 4,361,093 40325 23458849
(b} Market risk

Markel risk is the risk that lhe value of a financial instrument will fuctuale as a resull of changes in markel
prices whelher those changes are caused by laclors specific io the indiidual security, s issuer or faclors
affecting all securities raded in the markel. The Group manages this risk through exiensive research and
monilors the price movemen! of securiies on the kbcal and intemational markets. The Group’s portfolio is
balanced with respact o the duration of the securibes included in order o minimize axposune o volalilRy,
based on projected marke! condiions.

Management of market risks

The Group separales its exposure lo markel risk bebween rading and non-lrading portfolios. The trading
porticlios are held by the Company and include positions arising from marke! making and proprietary position
laking. together with financial assels and kabilities that are managed on a fair value basis. The Group's
loreign exchange positions relating to Foreign Currency Trading are treated as part of the Group's trading
porticlios for risk manageameant purposes.

The Group's markel risk is monilored on a daly basis by s Compliance Unit, which is responsible for the

development of risk management policies (subjecl o review and approval by ALCO) and for the daily review
of their mplemeantation.
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Mayberry Investments Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 71

38, Financial Risk Managoment [Continued)
(€} Interest rate risk (continued)

Tha lable below simmarnses the effectve inleres! rate by major currencies for finandial instruments of the

Group and the Company.
JAS uss JA% uss

2023 2022

e e T %
Assols
Irvestiment securities 7.898 B.T3 4.43 516
Reverse repurchase agresments 2.03 5.38 8.18 3.96
Promissory noles 13.11 8.05 B8.75 4.05
Liabilitios
Securilies sold under repurchase agreements B.20 3.04 59 251
Loans 7.7T6 - - 4.29
Corporale papers 10.72 - B.57 -

The management of interesl rate risk is supplemented by moniloning the sensitivity of the Group's financial
assels o various standard and non-siandard inlerest rale scenaros. Slandard scenarnos that are considened
include a 25 basis point (bp) (2022 - 100 bp) parallel rise and a 25 bp (2022 - 50 bp) paraliel fall in the yield
curve applicable lo Government of Jamaica local instruments and a 25 bp (2022 - 100 bp) paraiel rise and a
25 bp (2022 = 50 bp) paralel fal in the yield curves applicable to Government of Jamaica global bonds and
other soversign bonds. An analysis of the Group’s sensilivity o an increase or decreasse in marke! interes!
rates and the likely impact on equity and statement of income (fair value through profil or loss account
instrumeants) is as lollows:

The Group and Company
Effect on Effecton
Change in Effect on othor Change in othar
basis points Met componants basis points Effect on components
JMD / USD Profit of equity JMD /USD MNet Profit of aquity
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
5000 $'000 $'000 $'000
-500-50 5.280 - -50/-50 1.432 -
+ 100/+ 100 (5.280) - +100/+100 (2.864) -
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Mayberry Investments Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

38. Financial Risk Management (Continuad)
(d) Currency risk

The Group lakes on exposure lo effects of fluctuation in the prevailing foneign currency exchange rales on its

Nel exposure is kepl o an acceplable level by malching foreign assels with liabilties as far as possible. The
following foreign currency balances are included in these financial slalements:

The Group and Company
2023
GBP Uss CANS EURD
J5'000 J5'000 JS'000 J§'000
Financial Assets
Cash resources 30,786 2, 73T 436 33,852 BAT
Investiment sacurities - 496,658 - -
Promissory noles - 1,490 541 - -
Roverse repurchase
Bgreament . 1,740,457 B =
Interest receivable . 120.858 - -
Due from subsidiaries - 541,562 - -
Loans and other receivables 2736 1,562,378 102 67 487
Total assets 33 522 8,689,891 33.954 68,304
Financial Liabilitios
Bank overdrafl . - = =
Secuntios sold under repurchase agroamonls 57.009 2439679 20213 =
Loans and other payables - 5374640 - -
Tolal abilities 57.009 7.814,319 20,213 3
Net position {23,487) 875,572 13.741 68,304
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Mayberry Investments Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38. Financial Risk Managemaont (Continuod)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

Tha Group
2032
GBP uss CANS EURD
JE000 J3'000 JE' 000 J§'000
Financial Assels
Cash resources 04,965 1,387 873 53,182 754
Investment securities . 1,410,645 i &
Promissory noles - 1,854 928 - -
Reverse repurchase
agreement - 2,333,826 - .
Interesi recenabla - 50,152 - -
Loans and other recaivables 2_239 240 TOE _ - EE.-!EE
Total assets 97.204 7.318.220 53.182 63218
Financial Liabilitios
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements - 1,011,118 - -
Loans and other payables 80,430 5,667 046 16,363 -
Oither - 121,423 - -
Total liabilibes B80.430 6,799,587 16,363 =
Mot position 16.774 518,633 36.829 83219
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38. Financial Risk Managemant (Continued)
(d} Curroncy risk [continuad)

The Company
2022
GBP uss CANS EURO
J5§'000 JE'000 J5'000 JE'000
Financial Assets
Cash resources o4.965 1,081,017 53,192 754
Invesimenl securities . 1,177,659 . -
Promissory noles - 1.894.528 - -
Reverse repurchase
agreament - 2303 780 * i
Intarest receivable - 50,152 - -
Due from subsidiares - 529,313 - o
Loans and other recefvables 2.238 170.173 - 62.465
Total assets a7.204 7.207.022 53.192 63.219
Financial Liabilities
Bank overdralt - 543 - -
Securities sold undar
repurchase agresments B0.430 1,011,118 - -
Loans and othar payables - 5667 048 16,353 -
Tolal liabilities B0.430 6.678.807 16,363 F
Mot position 16,774 528215 36820 £3.219
Sansilivity analysis

Changes in the exchange rates of the Jamaican dollar (JAS) to the following curmencies would have the offects
as described below:

______ The Group oo

Effact on Effect on

Change in Loss Change in Loss

Currency bafore Currency befora

Rate Taxation Rate Taxation

2023 2023 2022 2022

Y $'000 % $'000

Currency:

GBP -4 (939) -5 564
GBP +1 235 +1 (141}

uss - 20,555 -4 20,745
uss +1 {5.139) +1 (5.188)

CAMNS -4 550 -4 2,056
CANS +1 (137) +1 (514)

EURD -4 2,732 -4 2288

EURD +1 683 +1 547
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38. Financial Risk Management [Continued)

(d) Currency risk [continued)

The Company
Effect on Effect on
Change in Profit Change in Profit
Currency bafore Currency before
Rate Taxation Rate Taxation
2023 2023 2022 2022
% $'000 e $'000
Currency:
GBP -4 (940) -4 671
Gap +1 235 +1 (168)
uss - 13,279 -4 20,745
Uss +1 {3.320) +1 (5.186)
CANS -4 552 -4 1.473
CANS +1 {138) +1 (368)
EURD -4 2737 -4 2520
EURO +1 £84 +1 632

The analysis assumes thal all other variables, in paricular interest rales, remain constant. il s parformed on

the basks of 4% weakening and 1% strenglhaning (2022 - 4% weakening and 1% strenglhening ) in exchangs
rabas.

(e) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of fmancial loss 1o the Group i 0 customer or counlerparty 1o a financial instrument fals
o mool s contractual obligabons and arises principally from the Company's loans and advances o

cusiomers, promissory notes and imrvestment securites. For risk managemant reporting purposes, the Group
considers and consolidates all slements of credit nsk axposure (such as individual obligor detault risk, country
and sector risk).

For sk managemenl purposes, credil risk arising on trading securies 5 managed independently, but
reported as a component of marked risk exposure.

@ 2023 Annual Report

152



Mayberry Investments Limited
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31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(o) Crodit risk (continued)

The Board of Direclors has delegated responsibdity for the management of cradil risk o its ALCD and its
Risk Unit. The Risk Unil is responsible for oversighl of the Company's credit risk, including:

¢« Formulating credil polices in consultation wilh business unils, covering collaleral requiremants, credit
assessmenl, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with
reguiatory and siatulory requirements.

+ Establishing the authorization structure for the approval and renewal of credil faciliies. Authorisation
limits are alocaled lo business unil credit officers. Larger faciliies require approval by the Board of
Direclors as appropriale.

* Reviewing and assessing credit risk. The Risk Unil assesses all credit exposures in excess of
designated limils, prior to lacilities being commitied o cuslomers by the business unit concemed,
Renewals and reviews of lacililies are subject lo the same review process.

+ Limiting concentrations of exposure 10 counterparties. geographies and industries (for loans and
advances), and by issuer, credil rating band, markel Bquidity and country (for invesimenl securilies).

« Developing and maintaining the Group's risk grading in order 1o calegorise exposures according lo the
degree of risk of the financial loss faced and to focus management on the atlendant risks. The risk
grading sysiem is used in determining where impaimen! provisions may be required against specific
credit exposures. The current risk grading framework consists of six grades refllecting varying degrees
of risk of defaull and the availabdity of collaleral or olher credil risk miigation. The responsibdity for

solling risk grades lies with the final approving executive as appropriale.

+ Reviewing compliance of business units with agreed exposure mits, ncluding those for selecied
industries, couniry risk and product types. Regular reports are provided to the Board of Direclors on the
credit gualty of loan portfolos and appropriate cormective actions laken.

= Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units 1o promote bes! practice throughout the
Group in the management of credil risk.

Each business unil is required o implement credil policies and procedures, with credit approval authorities
delegated by the Board of Direclors. In addition, each business unil is responsible for the quality and
performance of its credil portiolio and for moniforing and controlling all credd risks in ils portolios.

Regular audits of business units and credit processes are undertaken by Internal Audit.
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38, Financial Rizk Managemant (Continuad)
(&) Credit risk [continued)

Exposure to credil risk is also managed in parl by obtaining collaleral, corporate and personal guarantees. It
is the policy of the Group o oblain or lake possession of or regisier ken against securilies. The Group
monitors the marke! value of the underlying securities which collaleralize the related receivable including
accrued inleros! and reques! additional collaleral wherne deemed appropriate.

An estimale of fair value of collateral held against defaulted promissory noles is $232 184,000 (2022 -
£233 934 000).

The Group monilors concenirations of credit risk by secior and geographic location. Other than exposure o
Government of Jamaica securilies, thero is no significant concentration of credit risk for the Group’s
invesimenl securies al amortised cosl. An analysis of concentrations of credil risk at the reporting dale for
promissory notes and loans and other receivables is shown below:

Group
Loans and Other
Promissory Notes Receivables
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 £'000 000 £000
Concentration by sector -
Corporale 6,294 810 3,810,842 372374 180,557
Ratail 160,345 444 405 8,761 490 6,111 245
Toltal carrying amount 6.455,155 4 255247 10,133,864 6,291,802
Company
Promi Notes I.ﬂ;n:l- and \‘I::ur
2023 2022 2023 2022
000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Concentralion by seclor -
Corporate 6254 810 4 810,842 372,374 180,557
Rl 160,345 444 405 89.761.490 6.111.245
Total carrying amount 6455 155 5255 247 10,133 864 6,291,802
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38. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(@) Credit risk (continued)
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year i summarized below:

The Group and Company
2023 2022
5'000 $'000
Promissory noles (23,531) (21.948)
Loans and other receivables (T.411) 128,284
Invastimant sacunbes — al amortised cosl (28,727) 22372

—_Geseo) __ioare

Loans and other receivables

The kbss allowance as at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2023 was delermined as follows for trade
and olthar recekables:

The Group
At 31 Decomber 2023 At 31 Decomber 2022
Gross Loss E:pn:tnd Gross Loss Expnctnd
Camrying Allowance Loss Carrying Allowance Loss
Amount Rate Amount Rate
$'000 §000 % $'000 $'000 Ve
Less than 1 month 6,615,731 767 0.01 4,502 803 6.889 0.15
Within 1 1o 3 months 3,172,996 697 0.02 490 024 2,111 043
Over 3 months 278.080 249 562 BO T4 1,438 547 289 47T 20.12
10,068 807 251,026 6.431.374 208,477
Tha Company
At 31 December 2023 At 31 December 2022
Gross Loss Expected Gross Loss Expected
Carrying Allowance Loss Carrying Allowance Loss
Amount Rate Amount Rate
$'000 $'000 " $'000 $'000 Ve
Less than 1 month 6615731 T67 0.01 4397 495 6,889 0.16
Within 1 to 3 months 3.172.9086 &aT 0.02 490 024 211 0.43
Over 3 months 278,080 249 562 B9.74 1,438,547 289477 20.12
10,066,807 251,026 6.326.066 208477
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38. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(e) Credit risk (continued)

Promissory noles
The expecied credil loss is summarised as follows:
The Group and Company
2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetima Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
§'000 $°000 $'000 §000
Standard risk 6,283,763 - - 6,283,763
Pas!l due risk - . - .
Credit impaired - . 400,072 400,072
Gross carrying amount 6.283,763 - 400,072 6683835
Loss allowance (28,108) . (200,572) (228,680)
Carrying amount 6,255,855 - 199,500 6455155
Tha Group
2022
Stage 1 Stage 2
12-menth Lifetime Stage 3
ECL ECL Lifetime ECL Total
$°000 5'000 $°000 $'000_
Standard risk 4083817 - - 4083817
Pas! due risk - 23,633 . 23633
Credt impaired - - 400,008 400,008
Gross carrying amount 4 0B3 BT 23833 400,008 4507458
Loss allowance (47,052) (259) (204,900) (252.211)
Carrying amount 4,036,765 23,374 195,108 4255247
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38. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(e) Credit risk (continued)

Promissory noles (continued )

The Company
2022
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
3000 $°000 $000 $°000
Standard risk 5083817 - - 5083817
Pasl due risk 23633 - 23633
Credit impaired - - 400,008 400,008
Gross carrying amount 5083817 231633 400,008 5507 458
Loss allowance (47.052) {259) (204.900) (252.211)
Carrying amount ~ 5,036,765 23374 195108 5255247
Movement in the madmum exposure 1o credil risk
The Group and Company
2023

Stage1  Stage2 = Staged
12-month  Lifetime  Lifetime

ECL ECL ECL Total

$000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
January 01, 2023 5,083,817 23,633 400,008 5507458
New financial assets onginated or purchased 2,861,950 - = 2.B61.950
Financial assels fully recognised during the
period (1042,336) (23.633) . (1.,065,969)
Changes in principal and inlerest (BaT S02) - - (B37.502)
Foreign exchange adjustments 17.834 - &4 17,208
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
December 31, 2023 6,283,763 - 400,072 6.683.835
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38. Financial Risk Managoemant (Continued)

{e) Credit risk ([continued)
Promissory notes (continued)
Movemeant in the maximum exposure o credil risk (conlinued)
The Group
2022
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
i2-month  Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
January 01, 2022 2 894,949 320,114 3215083
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 {T9.894) - 70,804 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (23.633) 23633 - -
MNew hnancial assaels onginaled of purchasad 1,443 2685 - - 1.443 265
Financial assets fully recognised during the
period (60.152) - . (80.152)
Changes in principal and interest (23.228) - - (23.228)
Foreign exchange adjusiments (67 .490) E - (67.490)
Maximum exposurs to credit risk as at
December 31, 2022 4 083817 23,633 400,008 4 507 458
The Company
2022
Stage1 Stage2 Stage 3
12-month  Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
§'000 §'000 §'000 $'000
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
January 01, 2022 3,898,861 r 320114 4218975
Tranafer from Stage 1 (o Stage 3 (79.804) . 79854 .
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (23.633) 23633 - .
Mew financial assals originated or purchased 1.443 265 - = 1443285
Financial assets fully recognised during the
period (80,152) - - (60,152)
Changes in principal and interest (23.228) - - (23,228)
Foreign exchange adjusiments (71.402) - - (71.402)
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
December 31, 2022 5.083.817 23,633 400008 5.507.458
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Page &2

38. Financial Risk Managomaent (Continuad)
[#) Crodit risk [continuad)
Promissory noles (contnwed)
Movement! in the loss allowance:

AL 1 January 2023
Movements with profit or loss impact:
MNow financial aasats ohganatod
Changos i PDe/LGD/EADs
Financsal assels derecogrised during
the pariod
Wite offs
Loss aliowance recognised in profit or koss
At 3 December 2023

At 1 January 2023

Movaments with profit or loss impact
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
MNow financial assets onginaled
Changes in PDeLGD/EADs
Financial assets derecognised during
the pearsod
Recovenes

Loss aliowance recognised in profit or loss

At 31 December 2023

The Group and Company
2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Litetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
$'000 $'000 £°000 $'000
47.052 259 204,000 252 211
12,384 - 12,384
(22.276) - (22.278)
(9.052) (259) . {8.311)
- {4,328) (4.328)
(18.044) (259) (4.328) {Z3.531)
28,108 200,572 228 680
The Group and Company
2032
12-month Litetime Lifetirme
ECL ECL ECL Total
5000 5000 $000 $000
63, 266 210, 864 274,160
(259) 259 £ -
(72.084) 72,084 -
12,989 - 12,980
43,53 . 43,53
(421) . (421)
- - (TE.048) (T8.048)
(16.244) 250 {5.964) {21.049)
47.052 250 204.900 252 211
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38, Financial Risk Management {Continued)

() Crodit risk (continued)
Debl securities

The expected credit loss s summartsed as follows:

The Group and Company
2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

12-month Lifetimo Litatime

ECL ECL ECL
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Standard risk 2988 154 - - 2,998 1954
Pasi due risk - = = -
Credil impaired - . 3 -
Gross carrying amount 2.008.194 . . 2.008.104

Loss alowancn (B.997) . & (8.997)
Carrying amount 2989197 . . 2 989197
The Group and Company
2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

12-month Lifetime L Hetime

ECL ECL ECL
$'000 §'000 £'000 $°000
Standard risk 2313718 - - 2313118
Pasi due risk - - - -
Credit impaired i - % ”
Gross carrying amount 2313.718 . - 2313,718

Loss alowancs (AT.724) - . (37.724)

Carrying amount 2275995 - . 2275995

@ 2023 Annual Report

©



Page 84
Mayberry Investments Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38. Financial Risk Managoment (Continuad)

(e} Credit risk (continued)
Debt securities (continued)
Movement in the maximum axposune bo credil nsk:

The Group and Company

2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month  Lifetime Lifetime

ECL ECL ECL Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
January 01, 2023 2313718 = - 2313718
New financial assels originaled or purchased 1,504 B58 - = 1,504 658
Financial assets fully recognised during the
period {826,298) - - (B26,298)
Foreign exchange adjustmants 6,116 - - 6,116
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
December 31, 2023 2,598 194 - = 2,988,184

The Group and Company
2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifatima Lifetima

ECL ECL ECL Total
$'000 $'000 000 $'000
Maximum exposure to crodit risk as at
January 01, 2022 3,196,032 = = 3,196.032
New financial assels originaled or purchased 78,957 = = 78,957
Financial assels fully recognised during the
period (955.807) - - (955.807)
Foreign exchange adjustments (5.463) . . {5.463)
Maximum axposure to credit risk as at
December 31, 2022 2313718 - - 2313719

The loss allowance recognised in profil or loss for debl secunties was 528,727,000 (2022 - (522 372,000).
There were no transfers between stages during the period.
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38. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

() Settlement risk

The Company's activities may give rise 1o risk al the time of setlement of transactions and irades. Seftlement
risk is the risk of loss due 1o the faibure of a company o honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or
other assels as contractually agreed.

For certain types ol ransactions, the Company mitigates this risk by conducting seffiements through a
setiement/clearing agenl o ensure thal a trade is setthed only when both parties have fulfiled their
contraciual setiemenl obligations.

(g} Regulatory capital managemeant

The Group's cbjectives when managing capital, which is a broader concep! than the "equily” on the face of
the statermnent of financial position, are:
#* To comply with the capital requirements sol by the regulators of the financial markets where tha
antities within the group operate;
#» To safeguard the Group’s ability 1o continue as a going concamn S0 thal il can continue 1o provide
returns for slockholder and banefits for other stakeholders; and
#» To maintain a strong and efficient capital base consistent with the Company's risk profile, siralegic
objectives o support the development of its business.

Mayberry is subject to regulatory capital standards issued by the Financial Services Commission (FSC)
which, are largely guided by inlernational criteria set by the Basel Commitiee on Banking Supervision
(BCBS). FSC.. The F5C requires the Company to hold a specified level of regulatory capital and to maintain
the following:

& @ minimum rato of lotal regulatory capital 1o total risk wesghted assets of 10%.

* and capital to total assets ratio of 6%.
Al year end, the Company’s was in compliance with all external externally mposed capital requirements o
whech il is axposad.

Through the capilal management framework, capital adequacy and regulatony capital ane monitored by tha
Company’s managemenl, employing lechniques based on the guidelnes dovoloped by the FSC.
The requined information including earty waming ratios is fked with the regulalor al the stipulated intervals.

in addition, the Company is subject 1o bi-annual Stress Testing by the Financial Services Commission o
delermine if capital i sufficient to absorb losses during economic and financial markel stress as wel as

effective capital planning processes.

The Company's capilal adequacy ratios have passed all individual and combined shocks applied o s
balance sheel dala in the bl-annual siress lests, Passing the bi-annual stress lests underscores the
Compamy's commitment to a sustained capital planning process thal satisfies the expectations of our
slakeholders,

The Company remains adequalely capitalized well in excess of the minimum regulalory capital adequacy
requirements which further underscores the sirength and resiience of the business and is a key component

of the Company's growth sirategy.
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38. Financial Risk Managemant (Continuead)

{g) Regulatory capital management (continued)

The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capilal base lo ensure inveslor, credilor and marke! confidence
and 1o susiain the fulure development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’
return is also recognised and the Company recognises the need o mainiain a balance between higher
returns that might be possible with greater leverage and the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position.

The Company has compliad with all regulalory capital requirements throughout the period. Thers have boon
no malerial changes in the managemant of capital during the perod.

Capital allocation

Although maximization of the return on risk-adjusted capial s the principal basis used in delermining how capital
is allocated within the Company 1o operations or activiies, il is not the sole basis used for decision making.
Account is also taken of synengses wilh olher operalions and activities, availability of managemenl and other
resources, and the il of he aclivity with the Company’s longer-lerm sirategic objectives. Capital managament
and allocation are reviewed regulary by the Board of Direclors,

39. Fair Values

Fair value is the price thal would be received lo sell an assel or paid 1o ransfer a Babiity in an onderly transaction
betwean markel participants at the measurement date. Markel price is used o determine the fair value of a
financial instrument. However, markel prices are not available for some of the lnancial assets held by the Group.
Thenefore, for financial instrumenis whare no markel price is available, the fair values presenied have been
estimaled using presanl value or other estimation and valuation techniques based on markel conditions existing
al the end of the reporting period.

The values derived from applying these techniques are significantly affected by the underlying assumpbons used
concerming both the amounts and timing of future cash Nows and the discount rales. The folliowing methods and
assumplions have beon used:

(i} Investment securities and investiment in associates classifed as FVTPL and investment securities FYTOC]
ane measured at far value by reference 1o quoled markel prices whon available. If quoled markel prices are
nol available, then fair values are estimated on the basis of pricing models or discounted cash fliows or other

recognized valuation lechniques.

(§) The fair values of liquid assels and other assals maturing within one year are assumed o approximate their
carmying amounl. This assumption is applied to liquid assets and short term elements of all financial assels
and financial liabilibes.

(E) The fair values of variable rale financial instruments are assumed o approximale their camying amounis.

2023 Annual Report @



Page &7
Mayberry Investments Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

39. Fair Values (Continued)

(W) Tha lair values ol fixed rate loans are estimaled by comparing marke! inleres! rales when the loans wera
granied with the curren! markel rate offered on simiar loans. Changes in the credit quality of loans within
the portiolio are not taken lo account in delermining gross far values as the impac! of credit risk s

recognized separalely by deducling the amount of the provisions for credil losses from both book and fair
values.

The Group uses the lollowing heerarchy in determining and disclosing the fair value of inancial instruments by
valuation lechnique:

¢+ Level 1: quoled prices in active markets for identical assels or liabdities.

¢ Level 2 other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly.

. MB:MHMMMMW%MBMMMNWHMMIMM
based on observable market dala,

A markel is regarded as aclive il quoled prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulalory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occyurring markel ransactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoled markel price used for financial assels and
invesiments in associales held by the Group when available i with reference lo the current bid, ask and brade
peicias.

The fair value of financial instruments thal are not traded in an active markel = determined by using valuation
techniqgues. These valuation lechniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as litbe as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inpuls required fo fair value an instrument
ane obsarvable, the instrument is incudad in level 2. This calegory includes governmen bonds, cerlificates of
deposil and corporate paper. Indicative prices or ywelds of these instruments ane oblained from regular, publicly
available quotes by reputable pricing services, dealers and brokers.
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39. Fair Values (Continued)

The lollowing table shows an analysis of assels measured at the date of the stalement of financial position thal,
subsequent lo initial recognition. are measured al fair value. The assels are grouped inlo levels of the fair value

hierarchy:
The Group and Company
2023
Lawal 1 Laval 2 Lawal 3 Total
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000
Financial assets -
Dabl securnbies
Governmen! of Jamaica - 168, 404 - 16,404
Foreign government - 15,191 - 15,191
Corporate bonds - 73.256 - 73256
Quoled equity securities 463,790 . - 453,700
Non Financial assots: = . = .
Investment Properties - 213472 - _2113472
463,790 2218323 - 2682113
Tha Group
2022
Lewel 1 Lewvel 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets -
Debt sscurities
Government of Jamaica - 15316 . 15,316
Foreign govermmant - 14,9386 . 14,936
Corporale bonds - 178,563 - 178,563
Equities
Ciusobad 6. 826 280 - - 6 826 280
Ungualad - - 216,245 216,245
Invesimant in associales 18,011 47T - - 18,011,477
Mon financial assels
Invesiment Properties - 2027738 - 2,027,738
24 B37.TS5T 2,236,553 218,245 27,290,555
j e rr—— e [ | e |
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39. Fair Values (Continued])

The Company
2022 _
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Financial assets -
Debl securibes
Governmen! of Jamaica - 15316 - 15316
Foreign govermment = 14,8386 = 14,536
Corporate bonds - 178,563 - 178,563
Quoted equity securities B62 824 - - 662 824
Mon Financial Assels:
Investment Properties . 2027738 = 2027, 738
BE2 B24 2,236,553 - 2,889 377

As al 31 December 2023, the fair value of the financial instruments valued al amortized cosl s detailed below;

The Group and Company
2023
Carrying Fair
Value Value
5000 $'000
Assals

Debt Securites 2,263,754 2.204 754
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 3,615,228 3,615,228
Promissory Noles 6,455,155 6,683 407
Loans and Advances 10,133,864 10.133.864

Liabilities
Securities purchased under resale agreements 7,006, 504 7006, 504
Loans 14,251,250 14 251 259
Accounts Payable 11,535,534 11.535,534
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39. Fair Values [Continued)

2022
Group Company
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Valua Yalusa Walua Value
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assols
Debl Securities 2263, 754 2,204 568 2263754 2.204 568
Reoverse Repurchase Agroements 5,303,950 5.303,950 5,303,951 5,303,951
Promissory Notes 4192813 4.318.999 5211144 5.230.126
Loans and Advances 9 250 435 9250 435 11014 447 11,014,447
Liabilities
Securiies purchased under resale
agreamants 4 869274 4 B69 274 4.869.274 4 B69.274
Loans 9,407 868 9,407,868 7.209.240 6.990.278
Accounts Payable 11,045 972 110458972 10,758,530 10,758,530
The tables below show a reconciliation of the movement in the assels measured al fair value, thal are classified
as lovel 3.
The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$°000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Opaning balance 216,245 139,233 - -
Additions - Tr.o1z - =
Rebeved on disposal of subsidiaries {216,245) - - -
Closing balance - 216,245 . -
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40. Pension Schema
The Company operates a defined contribution pension schema for employoes who have satsfied certasn minimum
sarvice roequremonts. The scheme is funded by oqual contributions of employer and employees of 5% of
pensicnable salaries and an oplion for employees lo contribule an addiional 10%. The Company’s contribulion
for the year amounted 1o $15,272 000 (2022: $14,016,000).

41. Funds Under Management

The Company provides cuslody, irvesiment managemsnt and advisory services for both ins@ubions and indhiduals
which invobve the Company making allocation and purchases and sales decisions in relation o quoled shanes and
government financial instruments on a non-necourss basis. Those assets thal are hoeld in a Aduciary capacity ar
not included in these financial statements.

42 Segment Information
The Company s a icensed Securiies Dealer (nole 1)

Based on the inflormation presenied o and reviewed by the CODM, the entire opoerations of the Group ane considerad
&3 ono oporaling segmant.

Financial information related to the operating segment resulls from confinueng operations for he two years ended
31 December 2023, can be found in the consolidaled statement of income. There are no differences in the
measurernaent of the reportable segment results and the Group's results.
Details of the segmenl assets and labilies for the two years ended 31 December 2023, can be fTound in the
conscidated statement of fnancial positon and related noles. There ane no differences in the measuremant of the
reportable segment assots and Eabilos and the Group's assels and kabdtes.
Entity-wide desclosure:
The revenue from operations can be found in the consolidated statement of income.

43. Capital Commitments

Significant capital expendilure contracted for the at the end of the reporting period but not recognized as labilites s

as follows:
The Group The Company
2022 2022 2023 2022
$000 $'000 $000 $'000
Intangbie assels 104,160 154.912 104,160 40,935

The above commitments relate lo the development of a new inlegraled client service, cusiomer managemant and
operations managemenl system supporting the Group's digitisation siralegy.

@ 2023 Annual Report

19



Page 92
Mayberry Investments Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

44, Reclassification

In price years the Group had loans with the Development Bank of Jamaica under its Approved Finandial Instilutions
program. These loans were classified as Accounts Payable in the Staternent of Financial Position. To improve the
presentation of the inancial staternents, thess loans have been reclassified from Accounts Payable 1o Bomowings in
the Stalement of Financial Posiion and comespondingly from Operaling ActiviBes 1o Financing Activites in the
Staternent of Cashfiow.
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